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(Millions of yen)

IFRS

Years ended / At March 31 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenue ¥3,952,437 ¥3,857,797 ¥3,589,702 ¥3,586,839 ¥3,713,767
Operating profit 130,227 211,483 266,324 219,201 335,614
Profit before income taxes 161,785 228,564 291,855 239,986 371,876
Profit for the year 110,718 160,326 213,523 213,141 244,865
Profit for the year attributable to owners  

of the parent 104,562 160,042 202,700 182,691 215,182
Total comprehensive income for the year 95,511 170,306 277,091 263,094 219,344
Total comprehensive income attributable to 

owners of the parent 89,311 171,361 264,945 231,311 188,329

Total equity ¥1,253,630 ¥1,348,435 ¥1,546,905 ¥�1,715,749 ¥ 1,736,823
Total assets 3,104,842 3,187,445 3,190,206 3,331,809 3,265,579
Equity per share attributable to owners  

of the parent (Yen) ¥� 5,585.35 ¥� 6,197.11 ¥� 7,287.15 ¥� 8,094.70 ¥ 8,425.37
Basic earnings per share (Yen) 512.50 791.20 1,013.78 924.21 1,107.63
Diluted earnings per share (Yen) 512.33 790.76 1,012.63 922.97 1,105.41

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent ¥1,132,055 ¥1,240,956 ¥1,450,139 ¥1,590,713 ¥1,586,835
Equity attributable to owners of the parent ratio 36.5% 38.9% 45.5% 47.7% 48.6%
Return on equity attributable to owners  

of the parent (ROE) 9.4% 13.5% 15.1% 12.0% 13.5%
Price earnings ratio 15.58 12.33 15.78 19.93 16.10

Cash flows from operating activities ¥� 99,416 ¥� 347,263 ¥� 307,947 ¥� 248,347 ¥ 220,329
Cash flows from investing activities 4,142 (114,206) (71,561) (59,267) (42,809)
Cash flows from financing activities (136,622) (193,164) (219,626) (193,685) (313,585)
Cash and cash equivalents 416,742 453,036 481,833 484,020 355,901

Number of employees 132,138 129,071 126,371 124,216 124,055
Average number of temporary personnel 13,707 12,876 12,327 12,674 11,738

Notes:�1. �The�Company�has�prepared�its�consolidated�financial�statements�in�accordance�with�International�Financial�Reporting�
 Standards (IFRS).

� 2. �Average�number�of�temporary�personnel�includes�contracted�employees,�part-time�workers,�and�others�but�excludes�tempo-
rary staff provided by agencies.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries
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MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
OPERATING RESULTS, AND STATUS OF CASH FLOWS

Overview of Status of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Operation

The�following�section,�Management’s�Discussion�and�Analysis�
of�Operations,�provides�an�overview�of�the�operating�results,�
financial�position,�and�status�of�cash�flows�of�the�Company�
and�its�consolidated�subsidiaries�and�equity�method�associ-
ates�(together,�the�“Group”),�along�with�management’s�
assessment,�analysis�and�discussion�of�the�status�of�the�
Group’s�operations.�Forward-looking�statements�in�this�sec-
tion�are�based�on�judgments�as�of�the�end�of�the�consoli-
dated�fiscal�year�under�review�(March�31,�2023).

In�this�section,�the�consolidated�fiscal�year�under�review�
and the previous consolidated fiscal year are referred to 
simply�as�the�“fiscal�year”�and�the�“previous�fiscal�year,”�
respectively.

1. Previous Medium-Term Management Plan
 Summary

Under�the�Previous�Medium-Term�Management�Plan,�the�
Group defined seven strategic priorities to engage with 
along two strategic pillars: customer value creation and 
internal transformation.

In�rebuilding�our�global�business,�we�started�providing�
Fujitsu�Uvance�with�globally�standardized�offerings,�achiev-
ing sales of ¥200.0 billion in the fiscal year. 

We�reskilled�8,000�of�our�11,000�global�sales�representa-
tives. At our Global Delivery Centers (GDCs) and Japan 
Global�Gateway�(JGG),�human�resources�were�boosted�to�
30,000�people,�strengthening�our�foundation�for�expansion�
of the global business.

We also established Ridgelinez Limited as a first step to 
strengthening our consulting services throughout the Group.

Previous Medium-Term Management Plan Performance Results Fiscal year ended March 31

* GDCs: Global Delivery Center
* JGG: Japan Global Gateway

Progressively improved profitability with record profit in 2023

Financial & Non-Financial Performance Results

Customer NPS*
* NPS: Net Promoter Score

– – – +2.3 +18.1

Employee 
Engagement

– 63 68 67 69

DX Promotion Index – 1.9 2.4 3.2 3.56

Summary: Activities and Results of the Seven Strategic Priorities

Rebuilding our 
global business 

strategy

Strengthen�data-driven�
management

Fujitsu Uvance

OneCRM

Revenue

¥200
billion

Operational in

31 countries
20,000 people

Strengthening issue 
resolution 

capabilities

Progression to 
DX employees and 

improved productivity

Business 
Producers

Productivity

Reskilled

8,000
people

Operating income 
per capita

Up 60%

Contributing to 
greater stability of 

our�customers’�
business

All�inclusive,�
ecosystem-based,�

DX promotion

GDCs & JGG*

Companywide 
DX Event

System

30,000
people

Becoming our 
customers’�DX�

partner of choice

Ridgelinez

Consulting Proposals

250+
companies

Participants

30,000
people

2023

3,356

9%

2019

1,302

3.3%

Operating Profit
(0.1 ¥ billion)

Operating Profit Margin
(%)

2020

2,115

5.5%

2021

2,663

7.4%

2022

2,192

6.1%

Previous Medium-Term 
Management Plan
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Simplifying the business structure in this way will clarify 
the�investments�in�each�growth�area,�and�their�effects,�
strengthening the management of our business portfolio.

The�Service�Solutions�business�comprises�on-cloud�digi-
tal services centered on Fujitsu Uvance and conventional 
on-premises�services.�Over�the�three�years�through�to�the�
fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2026,�the�Service�Solutions�seg-
ment�overall�is�targeting�sales�growth�of�about�20%�over�the�
current�¥2,000.0�billion�and�an�increase�in�its�adjusted�oper-
ating profit margin*1�from�the�current�8%�to�15%.

In�on-cloud�digital�services,�we�will�expand�the�sales�of�
this highly profitable business to grow both sales and profits. 
Our main approaches for achieving this are further expand-
ing�our�consulting�capabilities,�enhancing�strategic�partner�
alliances,�developing�our�leading-edge�technologies�for�
business�implementation,�and�developing�our�people�to�
provide digital services.

For�on-premises�services,�we�will�increase�profits�by�
improving productivity through delivery standardization and 
expanding modernization that will lead to a shift to the cloud.

*1  An indicator that represents actual profit from the core business 
calculated�by�deducting�profits�from�business�restructuring,�M&A,�
etc.,�and�one-off�profits�from�changes�in�regulations�from�operat-
ing profit. (Previously presented as operating profit excluding 
special items).

For�our�internal�transformation,�we�have�been�working�on�
digital transformation (DX) across all areas. The results of 
these�efforts�are�reflected�in�the�DX�Promotion�Indices,�and�
these have now reached the level of a global company. We 
have�also�been�engaged�in�One�Fujitsu,�the�core�of�data-
driven�management,�as�well�as�promoting�the�Work�Life�
Shift�initiative�for�transforming�workstyles�and�human�
resource management.

As�a�result�of�these�measures,�productivity�increased,�
with�operating�profit�per�employee�up�60%�compared�with�
the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2020.

2. Initiatives to Build a Business Model 
 for Sustainable Growth and Earning 
 Capacity Increase

To�better�align�with�recent�business�conditions,�the�Group�
will change its business segments from the fiscal year ending 
March�31,�2024.�The�previous�Technology�Solutions�segment�
will be divided into the Service Solutions segment and the 
Hardware Solutions segment. The Service Solutions segment 
comprises global solutions centered on Fujitsu Uvance and 
the�services�business�delivered�in�each�region,�while�the�
Hardware Solutions segment comprises a hardware provi-
sion and hardware maintenance business.

Consolidated Service Solutions

Business growth and 
improved profitability

2023 2026 2023 2026

Revenue ¥3.7 trillion ¥4.2 trillion ¥2.0 trillion ¥2.4 trillion

Adjusted operating profit* ¥320 billion ¥500 billion ¥160 billion ¥360 billion

(%)� 9%  12% 8% 15%

*   Adjusted operating profit: Indicator which represents an actual profit from core 
business�calculated�by�deducting�profits�from�business�restructuring,�M&A,�etc.,�
and�one-off�profits�from�changes�in�regulations�from�operating�profit. 
(Previously presented as operating profit excluding special items).

Fujitsu Uvance Revenue

¥200 billion  ¥700 billion

Strengthen cash  
generation capabilities

2023 2026

Core FCF* (companywide) ¥150 billion ¥300 billion

*  Core free cash flow (FCF): Current FCF after deducting temporary income and 
expenses��associated�with�business�restructuring,�M&A,�etc.

Increase efficiency of  
corporate capital

2020 – 2023 2023 – 2026

EPS CAGR 12% 14% – 16%

Targets for 2026 Fiscal year ended/ending March 31

 

Increase company profitability and drive growth in Service Solutions through 
Fujitsu Uvance

Financial

MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING RESULTS, AND STATUS OF CASH FLOWS
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(1) Financial targets
The�Group’s�financial�targets�for�the�fiscal�year�ending�March�
31,�2026,�are�revenue�of�¥4.2�trillion,�adjusted�operating�
profit�of�¥500.0�billion,�and�adjusted�operating�profit�margin�
of�12%.

With�Fujitsu�Uvance�as�a�growth�driver,�we�aim�to�expand�
overall�profitability,�mainly�in�the�Service�Solutions�segment.�
In�terms�of�cash�generation�capabilities,�we�are�aiming�for�
core�free�cash�flow�of�over�¥300.0�billion,�while�in�Company-
wide�capital�efficiency,�we�are�targeting�a�compound�annual�
growth�rate�(CAGR)�in�earnings�per�share�of�14%�to�16%�from�
the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2023,�to�the�fiscal�year�
ending�March�31,�2026.

(2) Non-financial targets
We�have�set�key�performance�indicators�(KPIs)�in�four�non-
financial�areas:�the�environment,�customers,�productivity,�and�
people;�and�we�are�working�to�achieve�targets�in�each�area�
up�to�the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2026.

Our�KPI�for�the�environment�is�the�reduction�of�green-
house�gas�(GHG)�emissions,�where�we�are�currently�in�the�
process of reducing Scope 1 and 2 emissions across the 
Fujitsu�Group�by�50%�from�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�
2021,�and�to�reduce�Scope�3�supply�chain�emissions�by�
12.5%.

For�customers,�we�have�retained�our�previous�KPI�of�
Customer Net Promoter ScoreSM (NPS®),*2 and we are aiming 
for a 20 point increase compared with the fiscal year ended 
March�31,�2023.

Our�productivity�KPI�is�operating�profit�per�employee,�
with�a�target�of�a�40%�increase�compared�with�the�fiscal�
year�ended�March�31,�2023.

For�people,�we�have�retained�our�previous�KPI�of�
employee�engagement,�aiming�to�achieve�a�global�score�of�
75,�which�we�were�unable�to�achieve�last�time.�We�have�
taken�the�ratio�of�female�managers�at�the�global�level�as�our�
KPI�for�diverse�leadership,�and�we�are�targeting�an�increase�
in�the�ratio�from�14%�in�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�
to�20%�in�the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2026.�This�target�
was�determined�by�backcasting�from�a�goal�of�30%�by�the�
fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2031.

The Group is committed to achieving both its financial 
and�non-financial�targets.

*2  NPS® is an indicator that enables objective evaluation of the relation-
ship�of�trust�with�customers,�or�customer�loyalty.�Unlike�customer�
satisfaction,�which�indicates�the�degree�of�satisfaction�or�dissatisfac-
tion�with�a�purchased�product�or�service,�customer�loyalty�is�charac-
terized by the ability to determine the degree of customer 
attachment�and�the�likelihood�of�repeat�purchases.

Environment
GHG emissions

Fujitsu Group
– Scope 1, 2 –

Supply chain
– Scope3* –

50%
Reduction

(Compared to 2021)

12.5%
Reduction

(Compared to 2021)
*  Category 11: CO2 emissions due to product 

power consumption only

Customers

Customer NPS

Productivity

Operating profit per employee

+20
(Compared to 2023)

+40%
(Compared to 2023)

People

Employee engagement Diverse leadership  
(e.g. ratio of female managers)

75 20%

Targets for 2026 Fiscal year ended/ending March 31

 

Business model and portfolio transformation is complete and 2025+ growth plans 
are on track

Non-financial

69
(2023)

 14%
(2023)

MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING RESULTS, AND STATUS OF CASH FLOWS
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(3) Financial strategy and capital allocation
The�Group’s�financial�strategy�and�capital�allocation�plan�
aims to increase corporate value by strengthening cash flow 
generation capability and optimizing its allocation.

We will dramatically increase base cash flow (free cash 
flow before growth investments plus lease obligation pay-
ments),�which�is�the�source�of�capital�to�be�allocated.�Under�
our�previous�capital�allocation�policy,�we�planned�to�gener-
ate�over�¥1,000.0�billion�in�cash�flow�over�the�five�years�from�
the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2021,�through�to�the�fiscal�
year�ending�March�31,�2025.�Under�the�new�plan,�we�intend�
to�generate�¥1,300.0�billion�in�base�cash�flow�over�three�
years�from�the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2024,�a�significant�
increase from the previous plan. This is expected to include 
higher�cash�flow�due�to�business�growth,�improved�working�
capital�efficiency,�and�revenue�from�the�sale�of�non-core�
assets.

The plan is to allocate approximately ¥700.0 billion to 
investment for business growth and ¥600.0 billion to share-
holder returns. Vigorously investing in business growth will 
lead�to�further�sustainable�growth�of�our�business,�and�we�
also plan to include investments for inorganic growth as well 
as�funds�for�dealing�with�business�risks,�such�as�future�busi-
ness transformation.

On�the�other�hand,�shareholder�returns�are�also�an�
important allocation for promoting an increase in corporate 
value,�and�we�will�expand�these�markedly�while�assessing�our�
financial�base�and�capital�efficiency.�We�plan�to�continue�
stable and steadily increasing dividends while addressing the 
need for profit growth. We will also flexibly conduct pur-
chases�of�treasury�stock,�giving�careful�consideration�to�our�
financial position and capital performance. We have already 
made�an�advance�purchase�of�¥150.0�billion�in�treasury�stock�
during�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2023�in�light�of�the�
potential for future cash flow expansion. During the fiscal 
year�ended�March�31,�2023�of�the�current�Medium-Term�
Management�Plan,�from�the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�
2024,�and�onward,�we�plan�to�make�treasury�stock�purchases�
on a similar scale by achieving a solid cash flow increase.

In�this�way,�our�plan�is�to�significantly�increase�the�
amount�of�shareholder�returns,�from�approximately�¥350.0�
billion over the three years from the fiscal year ended March 
31,�2021,�to�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�to�approxi-
mately ¥600.0 billion in total over the three years starting in 
the�fiscal�year�ending�March�31,�2024.�Against�the�backdrop�
of expanding earnings and the ability to generate cash flow 
through�sustainable�business�growth,�we�will�work�to�secure�
a�solid�financial�base�and�improve�capital�efficiency.

Financial Results Highlights for the Year Ended 
March 31, 2023
Revenue�was�¥3,713.7�billion,�operating�profit�was�¥335.6�
billion,�and�profit�for�the�year�attributable�to�owners�of�the�
parent was ¥215.1 billion.

In�Technology�Solutions,�there�was�an�expansion�in�DX-
related�demand,�such�as�digitization�and�modernization�
projects. The impact of component supply delays continued 
through�the�first�half�of�the�fiscal�year,�but�the�situation�hit�
bottom�in�the�third�quarter�and�progressively�recovered,�
with both revenue and profitability showing gradual 
improvement.

Excluding�one-time�profit�of�¥14.7�billion�associated�with�
business�restructuring�and�business�transfers,�operating�
profit�on�an�actual�business�basis�was�¥320.8�billion,�with�an�
operating�profit�margin�on�an�actual�business�basis�of�8.6%,�
improving�0.9�point�year�on�year.�As�a�special�items,�the�
result for the fiscal year included profit from business trans-
fers,�while�the�previous�fiscal�year’s�result�included�expenses�
from conducting measures to accelerate our transition into a 
DX company.

(1) Status of progress on cost and expense streamlining
Gross�profit�increased�by�¥25.4�billion,�improving�2.3%�year�
on�year.�As�a�result,�Gross�profit�was�¥1,144.0�billion�and�
Gross�profit�margin�was�30.8%.

Excluding�the�impact�of�business�restructuring,�gross�
profit�improved�significantly�in�Solutions/Services,�but�dete-
riorated in International Regions Excluding Japan and Device 
Solutions. We continued to drive profitability improvements 
through continued global standardization of development 
and operations using GDCs.

Operating expenses increased by ¥0.1 billion year on 
year. Excluding the impact of business restructuring and 
business�growth�investments,�operating�expenses�and�other�
profit and loss improved by ¥30.6 billion. The improvement 
mainly�reflected�the�emergent�effects�of�workstyle�reforms�
and the sale of idle assets.

(2) Growth investments
Growth�investments�increased�by�¥46.0�billion�year�on�year,�to�
¥131.0�billion.�Investments�for�value�creation�were�¥56.5�billion,�
and investments for organic growth came to ¥74.5 billion.

Investments for value creation included development of 
global�offerings�such�as�Fujitsu�Uvance�and�the�further�
strengthening of JGG to establish a service delivery model. 
Investments were centered on promoting standardization 
and internalization of development and maintenance ser-
vices,�and�service�delivery�transformation,�such�as�enhancing�
development at our GDCs.
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Investments for our own transformation included con-
tinuous�investments�to�promote�internal�DX,�including�One�
Fujitsu�as�a�data-driven�management�platform,�as�well�as�
Work�Life�Shift�for�realizing�employee�wellbeing�and�for�
human�resource�development.�Increasing�the�level�of�data-
driven�management�enables�a�faster,�more�detailed�grasp�of�
financial�information�for�more�efficient�and�effective�man-
agement�decision-making.

3. Analysis of Results for the Year Ended
 March 31, 2023

Summarized Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change 
Change 

(%)

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,586.8 3,713.7 126.9 3.5

Cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,468.1) (2,569.6) (101.4) 4.1

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,118.6 1,144.0 25.4 2.3

Selling,�general�and� 
administrative expenses . . . . . . . . (852.7) (852.9) (0.1) 0.0

Other income (expenses) . . . . . . . . . (46.6) 44.5 91.1 –

Operating profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219.2 335.6 116.4 53.1

Core base operating profit  
(Note)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . [275.6] [320.8] [45.2] [16.4]

Financial income (expenses) . . . . . . 6.9 8.2 1.2 18.7

Income from investments 
accounted for using  
the�equity�method,�net. . . . . . . . . . 13.8 28.0 14.1 102.4

Profit before income taxes . . . . . . . 239.9 371.8 131.8 55.0

Income tax expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26.8) (127.0) (100.1) 373.1

Profit for the year attributable to 
non-controlling�interests . . . . . . . . 30.4 29.6 (0.7) (2.5)

Profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the parent . . . . . . . . . . . . 182.6 215.1 32.4 17.8

Note: Operating profit excluding temporary gains and losses such as 
business�restructuring�expenses,�profit�or�loss�on�business�transfer,�and�
purchase�price�allocation�related�to�M&A.

Reference: Financial Indicators

(Yen)

2022 2023 YoY change

Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31.2% 30.8% (0.4) pp.

Operating profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . 6.1% 9.0% 2.9 pp.

Return on equity attributable to 
owners of the parent (ROE)*1 . . . . 12.0% 13.5% 1.5 pp.

EPS*2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥924.21 ¥1,107.63 19.8%

*1  ROE = Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent ÷ 
([Beginning balance of total equity attributable to owners of the 
parent�(Owners’�equity)�+�Ending�balance�of�total�equity�attributable�
to�owners�of�the�parent�(Owners’�equity)]�÷�2).

*2 EPS = Basic earnings per share.

(1) Revenue
Consolidated�revenue�for�the�fiscal�year�was�¥3,713.7�billion,�
an increase of ¥126.9 billion year on year. On an actual busi-
ness�basis�excluding�the�impacts�of�reorganization,�such�as�
business�restructuring,�revenue�increased�by�¥192.1�billion.�
System�Platforms�grew�by�10%,�overcoming�a�heavy�impact�
from the delayed supply of components in system products 
during�the�first�half�to�recover�from�the�third�quarter�onward,�
surpassing the previous fiscal year by a wide margin. The 
Network�Products�business�grew�15%�atop�an�increase�in�
demand for 5G base stations and photonics systems in 
North�America.�In�Device�Solutions,�revenue�grew�just�2%,�as�
demand expanded rapidly through the first half but then 
dropped sharply in the second half.

(2) Cost of sales, selling, general and administrative 
expenses, other income (expenses), and operating 
profit
For�the�fiscal�year,�cost�of�sales�totaled�¥2,569.6�billion�and�
gross�profit�was�¥1,144.0�billion,�up�¥25.4�billion�year�on�year.

Selling,�general�and�administrative�(SG&A)�expenses�
were�¥852.9�billion,�an�increase�of�¥0.1�billion�year�on�year.�
Other income and expenses came to a net income of ¥44.5 
billion,�a�change�of�¥91.1�billion�from�a�net�expense�in�the�
previous fiscal year.

Operating�profit�for�the�fiscal�year�was�¥335.6�billion,�
compared with ¥219.2 billion in the previous fiscal year. Spe-
cial items and business restructuring impacts had a positive 
effect�of�¥65.3�billion.�The�previous�fiscal�year’s�results�
included�expenses�for�DX�human�resource�strategies,�while�
the�fiscal�year’s�results�included�the�positive�turnaround�
factor of business restructuring.

Three main factors contributed to the change in actual 
business-based�operating�profit,�compared�with�the�previous�
fiscal year. The first factor was an increase in profit of ¥39.6 
billion�reflecting�the�impact�of�higher�revenue,�driven�by�the�
Technology�Solutions�segment,�in�which�each�subsegment�
also�achieved�year-on-year�growth.�The�second�was�steady�
progress on streamlining maintenance and operational sup-
port�in�infrastructure�services,�in�addition�to�utilizing�GDCs.�
This enhanced profitability and improved cost and expense 
efficiencies,�lifting�profits�by�¥37.5�billion.�The�third�was�a�
decrease in earnings of ¥26.0 billion due to expanded busi-
ness�growth�investments.�We�also�continued�to�make�invest-
ments�in�our�value�creation�initiatives,�including�the�
development�of�Fujitsu�Uvance�offerings,�as�well�as�internal�
DX investments for promoting internal transformation.
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(3) Financial income (expenses), income from 
 investments accounted for using the equity method, 
net, and profit before income taxes
Net�financial�income�amounted�to�¥8.2�billion,�up�¥1.2�billion�
from the previous fiscal year. Income from investments 
accounted�for�using�the�equity�method,�net,�was�¥28.0�bil-
lion,�an�increase�of�¥14.1�billion�year�on�year.

Profit�before�income�taxes�was�¥371.8�billion,�an�increase�
of�¥131.8�billion�year�on�year.

(4) Income tax expenses, profit for the year, and 
profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
parent
Profit�for�the�year�came�to�¥244.8�billion,�an�increase�of�¥31.7�
billion�year�on�year.�Of�profit�for�the�year,�profit�for�the�year�
attributable�to�owners�of�the�parent�came�to�¥215.1�billion,�
up�¥32.4�billion�year�on�year.�Profit�attributable�to�non-con-
trolling�interests�was�¥29.6�billion,�a�decrease�of�¥0.7�billion�
year on year.

Income�tax�expenses�were�¥127.0�billion,�an�increase�of�
¥100.1 billion year on year. The tax burden on profit before 
income�taxes�changed�from�11.2%�in�the�previous�fiscal�year�
to�34.2%�in�the�fiscal�year.�There�was�also�a�tax�effect�of�
¥28.0�billion�due�to�liquidation�of�certain�subsidiaries�follow-
ing a reorganization of subsidiaries in North America.

ROE,�calculated�by�dividing�profit�for�the�year�attribut-
able to owners of the parent by total equity attributable to 
owners�of�the�parent�(owners’�equity),�was�13.5%,�compared�
with�12.0%�in�the�previous�fiscal�year.�EPS�was�¥1,107.63�for�
the�fiscal�year,�an�advancement�from�¥924.21�in�the�previous�
fiscal�year.�The�CAGR�from�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�
2020�to�the�fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2023�was�12%,�in�line�
with the financial target.

Under�a�policy�of�stably�expanding�shareholder�returns,�
the�annual�dividend�for�the�fiscal�year�was�¥240�per�share,�
an�increase�of�¥20�from�the�previous�fiscal�year,�for�the�sev-
enth�consecutive�year�of�dividend�increases.�Moreover,�in�the�
fiscal�year,�the�Company�conducted�a�purchase�of�treasury�
stock�of�¥150.0�billion,�completing�the�entire�amount�of�the�
acquisition limit of ¥150.0 billion set in April 2022.

(5) Total other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of taxes, and total comprehensive income for 
the year
Total�other�comprehensive�income�for�the�year,�net�of�taxes,�
was negative ¥25.5 billion. The impact of remeasurements of 
defined�benefit�plans�was�negative�¥41.7�billion,�and�the�
impact of financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income was positive ¥17.7 billion.

Factors behind Change in Operating Profit Fiscal year ended March 31

(Billion of yen)

2022 2023

[6.1%]
219.2

Special items for 2022 –56.4
Special items for 2023 14.7
Impact�of�restructuring� –5.8

Special items and
restructuring

+65.3

Business Growth 
Investment

–26.0

Increase in profit due to
increased revenue

+39.6

(Excluding business restructuring)
• Revenue +192.1
• Profit/loss +51.1

Actual business

[9.0%]
335.6

Costs/Expense
Efficiency

+37.5
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Total�comprehensive�income�for�the�year,�which�com-
bines profit for the year and other comprehensive income 
after�taxes,�came�to�¥219.3�billion.�Of�total�comprehensive�
income,�total�comprehensive�income�attributable�to�owners�
of�the�parent�came�to�¥188.3�billion,�and�total�comprehen-
sive�income�attributable�to�non-controlling�interests�was�
¥31.0 billion.

(6) Segment information
The reportable segments were consolidated into the three 
segments�of�“Technology�Solutions,”�“Ubiquitous�Solutions,”�
and�“Device�Solutions,”�based�on�organizational�structure�
and the characteristics of products and services. Technology 
Solutions�consists�of�Solutions/Services,�which�includes�Solu-
tions/SI such as construction of information and communica-
tion�systems,�cloud�services,�outsourcing,�and�maintenance�
services;�System�Platforms,�comprising�system�products,�
which�mainly�cover�the�servers�and�storage�systems,�and�
network�products,�which�offer�communications�infrastruc-
ture,�such�as�mobile�phone�base�stations�and�optical�trans-
mission�systems;�International�Regions�Excluding�Japan,�
which carry out solutions/services delivery in regions outside 
Japan;�and�Common,�which�includes�investments�in�the�
entire Technology Solutions segment. Ubiquitous Solutions 
consists of client computing devices such as PCs. Device 
Solutions comprises electronic components such as semi-
conductor�packages�and�batteries.

Revenues (including revenue from internal sales between 
segments) and operating profit by segment for the fiscal 
year are as follows.

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change
Change 

(%)

Technology 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . .3,056.3 3,176.5 120.1 3.9

Operating profit . . 135.0 263.1 128.1 94.9

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [4.4%] [8.3%] [3.9 pp.]

Solutions/
Services

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 1,840.5 1,819.3 (21.1) (1.1)

Operating profit . . . 188.7 233.7 44.9 23.8

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [10.3%] [12.8%] [2.5 pp.]

System 
Platforms

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 617.5 678.1 60.6 9.8

Operating profit . . . 56.6 68.9 12.2 21.7

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [9.2%] [10.2%] [1.0 pp.]

International 
Regions 
Excluding 
Japan

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 729.3 812.4 83.0 11.4

Operating profit . . . 23.9 5.9 (18.0) (75.1)

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [3.3%] [0.7%] [(2.6 pp.)]

Common
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . (131.0) (133.4) (2.3) –

Operating profit . . . (134.4) (45.4) 88.9 –

Ubiquitous 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 237.1 232.9 (4.1) (1.7)

Operating profit . . . 5.8 (6.5) (12.4) –

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [2.5%] [(2.8%)] [(5.3 pp.)]

Device 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 375.9 382.6 6.6 1.8

Operating profit . . . 78.3 79.0 0.7 0.9

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [20.8%] [20.7%] [(0.1 pp.)]

Intersegment 
Elimination Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . (82.6) (78.4) 4.1 –

Consolidated

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . .3,586.8 3,713.7 126.9 3.5

Operating profit . . . 219.2 335.6 116.4 53.1

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . . [6.1%] [9.0%] [2.9 pp.]
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(a) Technology Solutions
Revenue�in�the�Technology�Solutions�segment�was�¥3,176.5�
billion,�up�¥120.1�billion,�or�3.9%,�year�on�year.�Operating�profit�
was�¥263.1�billion,�an�increase�of�¥128.1�billion�year�on�year�
due to the inclusion of expenses related to human resource 
initiatives�in�the�previous�fiscal�year,�along�with�improve-
ments in profitability.

In�Solutions/Services,�revenue�came�to�¥1,819.3�billion,�a�
decrease�of�¥21.1�billion,�or�1.1%,�year�on�year.�Operating�
profit�was�¥233.7�billion,�an�increase�of�¥44.9�billion�year�on�
year. The increase reflected improved profits due to the 
effect�of�higher�sales�in�SI/Services�in�Japan�as�well�as�the�
clear�results�of�initiatives�undertaken�to�date,�such�as�stan-
dardization�of�development�and�increased�efficiency�in�
expenses.

System�Platforms�posted�revenue�of�¥678.1�billion,�up�
¥60.6�billion,�or�9.8%,�year�on�year.�Operating�profit�was�¥68.9�
billion,�an�increase�of�¥12.2�billion�year�on�year.�The�increase�
in profit reflected a recovery from the delayed supply of 
components as well as growth in demand for 5G base sta-
tions and higher sales of photonics systems for North 
America.

In�International�Regions�Excluding�Japan,�revenue�came�
to�¥812.4�billion,�up�¥83.0�billion,�or�11.4%,�year�on�year.�The�
increase in revenue was because of an expansion of service 
business with an enhanced capability of digital related due 
to�M&A,�as�well�as�foreign�exchange�effects.�Operating�
profit�was�¥5.9�billion,�down�¥18.0�billion�year�on�year.�The�
decrease�reflects�one-time�costs�related�to�an�M&A�and�
foreign�exchange�effects.

Technology Solutions (Common) recorded a revenue of 
negative�of�¥133.4�billion,�a�deterioration�of�¥2.3�billion�year�
on year.

The Technology Solutions segment has been divided into 
two�business�areas�for�value�creation:�“For�Growth”�and�“For�
Stability.”�Here,�we�look�at�revenue�in�each.

Revenue�in�the�“For�Growth”�business�area�was�¥1,122.1�
billion,�an�increase�of�¥71.3�billion,�or��7%,�year�on�year.�Solu-
tions/Services�recorded�a�5%�increase�in�sales.�Revenues�
expanded�in�areas�such�as�consulting�and�modernization,�DX�
projects,�applications,�and�the�cloud�services�business.�
System�Platforms�sales�expanded�by�7%,�led�by�5G�base�
stations�and�the�North�American�network�business.�Interna-
tional�Regions�Excluding�Japan�sales�climbed�by�39%.�Hybrid�
IT�and�security-related�services�also�rose,�and�growth�was�
also assisted by improved capabilities due to an acquisition 
conducted in Oceania.

Revenue�in�the�“For�Stability”�business�area�was�¥2,054.4�
billion,�up�2%,�or�about�level�year�on�year.

(b) Ubiquitous Solutions
Revenue in the Ubiquitous Solutions segment came to 
¥232.9�billion,�a�decrease�of�1.7%�year�on�year.�Operating�loss�
was�¥6.5�billion,�a�decrease�of�¥12.4�billion�year�on�year.�
Costs increased due to foreign exchange fluctuations and 
could�not�be�completely�absorbed�by�additional�efforts�to�
reduce costs and pass them on to customers.

(c) Device Solutions
Revenue in the Device Solutions segment amounted to 
¥382.6�billion,�up�1.8%�year�on�year.�Strong�demand�contin-
ued�through�the�first�half,�but�was�dampened�by�rapid�
changes�in�market�conditions�from�the�second�half,�causing�
sales volumes to fall sharply. Together with an accompanying 
decline�in�operations,�the�full-year�result�was�basically�level�
with the previous fiscal year.

(7) Business segment information  
(Revenue in Japan and outside Japan)

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change
Change 

(%)

Technology 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 3,056.3 3,176.5 120.1 3.9

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,131.2 2,130.7 (0.4) 0.0

Outside Japan. . . . . . 925.1 1,045.8 120.6 13.0

Solutions/
Services

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 1,840.5 1,819.3 (21.1) (1.1)

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,795.1 1,800.1 5.0 0.3

Outside Japan. . . . . . 45.3 19.1 (26.2) (57.8)

System 
Platforms

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 617.5 678.1 60.6 9.8

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 416.5 396.1 (20.4) (4.9)

Outside Japan. . . . . . 200.9 281.9 81.0 40.3

International 
Regions 
Excluding 
Japan

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 729.3 812.4 83.0 11.4

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.6 0.5 0.0 (13.5)

Outside Japan. . . . . . 728.7 811.9 83.1 11.4

Common Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . (131.0) (133.4) (2.3) –

Ubiquitous 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 237.1 232.9 (4.1) (1.7)

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 129.6 143.4 13.7 10.6

Outside Japan. . . . . . 107.4 89.5 (17.8) (16.6)

Device 
Solutions

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . 375.9 382.6 6.6 1.8

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87.0 89.6 2.6 3.0

Outside Japan. . . . . . 288.9 293.0 4.0 1.4

Intersegment 
Elimination Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . (82.6) (78.4) 4.1 –

Consolidated

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . .3,586.8 3,713.7 126.9 3.5

Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,269.8 2,290.2 20.3 0.9

Outside Japan. . . . . . 1,316.9 1,423.4 106.5 8.1

Overseas  
revenue ratio . . . . . 36.7% 38.3% 1.6 pp.
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(8) Financial information for International Regions 
Excluding Japan
One�of�the�Group’s�management�priorities�is�to�increase�
revenue�and�raise�profitability�on�a�global�basis.�Accordingly,�
financial information for International Regions Excluding 
Japan,�which�is�included�in�the�Technology�Solutions�seg-
ment,�is�important�to�the�Group’s�business�management�and�
is useful for shareholders and investors in understanding the 
Group’s�financial�overview.

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change
Change 

(%)

Europe

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . 542.2 578.1 35.8 6.6

Operating profit . . 14.4 4.1 (10.2) (70.8)

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . [2.7%] [0.7%] [(2.0 pp.)]

Americas

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . 41.5 52.6 11.1 26.7

Operating profit . . 1.4 2.6 1.1 78.6

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . [3.4%] [4.9%] [1.5 pp.]

Asia Pacific

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . 128.9 161.8 32.8 25.4

Operating profit . . 4.5 (2.4) (7.0) –

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . [3.5%] [(1.5%)] [(5.0 pp.)]

East Asia

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . 34.2 44.8 10.5 30.7

Operating profit . . 0.4 1.5 1.1 275.0

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . [1.2%] [3.3%] [2.1 pp.]

Others
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . (17.6) (25.0) (7.4) –

Operating profit . . 3.0 0.0 (3.0) –

International 
Regions 
 Excluding 
Japan

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . 729.3 812.4 83.0 11.4

Operating profit . . 23.9 5.9 (18.0) (75.1)

[Operating profit 
margin] . . . . . . . . . . [3.3%] [0.7%] [(2.6 pp.)]

Revenues�were�¥812.4�billion,�increasing�by�¥83.0�billion,�
or�11.4%,�year�on�year,�as�the�service�business�expanded�
following�the�strengthening�of�digital-related�capabilities�
through�an�acquisition,�as�well�as�foreign�exchange�effects.�
Operating�profit�was�¥5.9�billion,�a�decrease�of�¥18.0�billion�
year�on�year,�due�to�the�recording�of�one-time�costs�in�con-
nection�with�the�acquisition�and�foreign�exchange�effects.

Furthermore,�the�Group�has�revised�its�regional�classifi-
cation from the current fiscal year. Regarding the details of 
revision,�please�refer�to�Note�“6.�Segment�Information.”

4. Assets, Liabilities, and Equity
Summarized Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position

(Billions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change

Assets

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,941.8 1,917.8 (24.0)

Non-current�assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,389.9 1,347.7 (42.2)

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,331.8 3,265.5 (66.2)

Liabilities

Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,320.7 1,276.4 (44.2)

Non-current�liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 295.3 252.3 (43.0)

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,616.0 1,528.7 (87.3)

Equity

Total equity attributable to 
owners of the parent  
(Owners’�equity) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,590.7 1,586.8 (3.8)

Equity attributable to  
non-controlling�interests . . . . . . . . . 125.0 149.9 24.9

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,715.7 1,736.8 21.0

Total liabilities and equity . . . . . . . . . . 3,331.8 3,265.5 (66.2)

Cash and cash equivalents 484.0 355.9 (128.1)

Interest-bearing�loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 285.3 211.1 (74.1)

Net cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 198.7 144.7 (53.9)

Notes:�1.��Owners’�equity�=�Total�equity�attributable�to�owners�of� 
the parent.

� 2.��Interest-bearing�loans�include�corporate�bonds,�borrowings,�
and lease liabilities.

� 3.��Net�cash�=�Cash�and�cash�equivalents�–�Interest-bearing�loans.

Reference: Financial Indicators

At March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change

Equity attributable to owners of  
the parent ratio 
(Owners’�equity�ratio). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47.7% 48.6% 0.9 pp.

D/E ratio (Times) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.18 0.13 (0.05)

Notes:�1.��Owners’�equity�ratio�=�Total�equity�attributable�to�owners�of�
the�parent�(Owners’�equity)�÷�Total�assets.

� 2.��D/E�ratio�=�Interest-bearing�loans�÷�Total�equity�attributable�to�
owners�of�the�parent�(Owners’�equity).

Consolidated�total�assets�as�of�March�31,�2023,�stood�at�
¥3,265.5�billion,�a�decrease�of�¥66.2�billion�compared�with�
March�31,�2022.�Current�assets�decreased�¥24.0�billion�com-
pared�with�the�previous�year-end,�to�¥1,917.8�billion.�Although�
trade�receivables�and�inventories�increased,�cash�and�cash�
equivalents�decreased�by�¥128.1�billion�compared�with�the�
previous�year-end,�to�¥355.9�billion.�Non-current�assets�
decreased by ¥42.2 billion compared with the previous 
year-end,�to�¥1,347.7�billion.�Retirement�benefit�assets�
decreased,�among�others.
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Total�liabilities�amounted�to�¥1,528.7�billion,�a�decrease�of�
¥87.3�billion�from�March�31,�2022.�Interest-bearing�loans,�
which�consist�of�current�liabilities�and�non-current�liabilities,�
corporate�bonds,�borrowings,�and�lease�liabilities,�totaled�
¥211.1�billion,�down�¥74.1�billion�compared�with�the�previous�
year-end.�As�a�result,�the�D/E�ratio�was�0.13�times,�a�decrease�
of�0.05�of�a�point�compared�with�the�previous�year-end.�Net�
cash,�which�is�cash�and�cash�equivalents�minus�interest-
bearing�loans,�was�¥144.7�billion,�down�¥53.9�billion�com-
pared�with�the�previous�year-end.

Total�equity�was�¥1,736.8�billion,�an�increase�of�¥21.0�
billion�compared�with�March�31,�2022.�Retained�earnings�
were�¥1,226.5�billion,�an�increase�of�¥138.1�billion,�mainly�due�
to the recording of profit for the year attributable to owners 
of the parent. Other components of equity increased ¥7.2 
billion�compared�with�the�previous�year-end,�to�¥70.8�billion.�
Meanwhile,�treasury�stock�was�negative�¥277.7�billion.�The�
Company repurchased ¥150.0 billion of shares during the 
year�ended�March�31,�2023,�as�a�shareholder�return�measure.�
As�a�result,�total�equity�attributable�to�owners�of�the�parent�
(owners’�equity)�was�¥1,586.8�billion,�and�the�owners’�equity�
ratio�was�48.6%,�an�increase�of�0.9�of�a�percentage�point�
compared�with�March�31,�2022.

Status of Retirement Benefit Plans

(Billions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change

a. Defined benefit obligation . . . . . . . 1,577.6 1,320.2 (257.4)

b. Plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,601.2 1,306.7 (294.4)

c.  Defined benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets (b)–(a) . . . . 23.5 (13.5) (37.0)

The defined benefit obligation of the employee defined 
benefit�plans�in�Japan�and�outside�Japan�was�¥1,320.2�billion,�
down�¥257.4�billion�compared�with�March�31,�2022.�Plan�
assets�stood�at�¥1,306.7�billion,�a�decrease�of�¥294.4�billion�
compared�with�the�previous�year-end.�As�a�result,�the�funded�
status of employee defined benefit plans (defined benefit 
obligation in excess of plan assets) amounted to a shortfall 
of�¥13.5�billion,�representing�a�deterioration�of�¥37.0�billion�
compared�with�the�previous�year-end.�The�decline�mainly�
reflected a decrease in plan obligations due to a rise in the 
discount�rate�and�a�decrease�in�plan�assets�that�are�linked�to�
changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations 
due to fluctuations in interest rates.

5. Cash Flows
Summarized Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change

I  Cash flows from operating activities  . . 248.3 220.3 (28.0)

II  Cash flows from investing activities . . . (59.2) (42.8) 16.4

I+II Free cash flow . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 189.0 177.5 (11.5)

III Cash flows from financing activities . . . (193.6) (313.5) (119.9)

IV Cash and cash equivalents  
�  at�end�of�year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 484.0 355.9 (128.1)

(Reference)

(Billions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023
YoY 

change

Base cash flow (Note) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 211.8 250.0 38.2

Note:  Free cash flow before growth investments plus lease obligation 
payments.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the fiscal year 
was�¥220.3�billion,�a�decrease�in�cash�inflows�of�¥28.0�billion�
compared�with�the�previous�fiscal�year,�mainly�due�to�expan-
sion of cash outlays related to DX human resource strategies 
carried out in the previous fiscal year and increased invest-
ments for business growth.

Net�cash�used�in�investing�activities�was�¥42.8�billion,�a�
decrease in cash outflows of ¥16.4 billion compared with the 
previous fiscal year.

Free�cash�flow,�the�sum�of�cash�flows�from�operating�and�
investing�activities,�was�¥177.5�billion,�representing�a�
decrease in net cash inflows of ¥11.5 billion compared with 
the previous fiscal year.

Base�cash�flow,�which�is�free�cash�flow�before�growth�
investments�plus�lease�obligation�payments,�was�positive�
¥250.0�billion,�an�increase�in�cash�inflows�of�¥38.2�billion�
compared with the previous fiscal year. Base cash flow is 
cash flow generated from business and optimization of asset 
holdings,�and�is�the�source�of�cash�for�funding�growth�
investments and the distribution of shareholder returns.

Net�cash�used�in�financing�activities�was�¥313.5�billion,�an�
increase in cash outflows of ¥119.9 billion compared with the 
previous fiscal year. The Company used ¥45.2 billion for pay-
ment of dividends and ¥150.1 billion for purchase of treasury 
stock,�the�amount�of�treasury�stock�purchases�increasing�by�
¥99.9 billion compared with the previous fiscal year.

As�of�March�31,�2023,�the�Group�had�cash�and�cash�
equivalents of ¥355.9 billion.

In�order�to�address�urgent�demands�for�funds,�the�Group�
maintains liquidity at a level equivalent to approximately 
several�months’�worth�of�sales.

MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING RESULTS, AND STATUS OF CASH FLOWS
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In�addition,�to�raise�funds�from�global�capital�markets,�
the�Group�has�acquired�bond�ratings�from�Moody’s�Investors�
Service�(Moody’s),�Standard�&�Poor’s�(S&P),�and�Rating�and�
Investment�Information,�Inc.�(R&I).�As�of�the�submission�date�
of�this�report,�the�Company�had�bond�ratings�of�A3�(long-
term)�from�Moody’s,�A-�(long-term)�from�S&P,�and�A+�(long-
term)�and�a-1�(short-term)�from�R&I.

Taking�into�account�the�characteristics�and�risks�of�each�
business,�country,�and�region,�the�Group�calculates�the�cost�
of raising funds as the weighted average of the cost of 
shareholders’�equity�and�the�cost�of�borrowing.�The�Group�
uses�this�approach�as�a�guideline�when�making�investment�
decisions and assessing the recoverability of investments in 
each business. The Group will concentrate management 
resources�in�the�DX�business,�where�demand�will�continue�to�
rise,�and�achieve�stable,�high�levels�of�profitability�over�the�
medium�to�long�term.�Through�these�efforts,�we�believe�that�
we will be able to realize returns that are higher than the 
cost of raising funds.

6. Status of Production, Orders Received,
 and Sales

Orders�inside�Japan�for�Fujitsu�Limited�non-consolidated�and�
Fujitsu�Japan�increased�by�3%�year�on�year�atop�strong�
demand�for�renewal�of�core�systems�and�modernization,�in�
addition�to�value�propositions�for�customers’�DX�steadily�
leading to business deals.

Orders in Solutions/Services by business were as follows. 
First,�in�the�private�enterprise�sector�(manufacturing�and�
distribution),�strong�demand�continued�throughout�the�fiscal�
year,�increasing�8%�year�on�year.�In�the�fourth�quarter,�espe-
cially,�the�Company�secured�multiple�business�deals�for�
renewal of core systems and modernization for customers in 
the manufacturing and logistics industries. The number of 
DX�projects�also�increased,�helping�to�maintain�brisk�orders.�
In�the�finance�and�retail�sector,�orders�also�increased�by�3%�
year�on�year,�with�major�business�deals�secured,�also�in�the�
fourth�quarter,�including�renewal�of�core�systems�for�cus-
tomers�in�the�Internet�banking�and�insurance�industries.�In�
the�Japan�region�sector�(government,�social�infrastructure,�
and�others)�orders�increased�by�8%�year�on�year�due�to�
multiple�large-scale�business�deals�for�government�projects�
secured in the fourth quarter. In the Fujitsu Japan sector 
(local�government,�healthcare�and�educational�institutions,�
and�small�and�medium-sized�enterprises,�among�others),�
orders�increased�by�3%�year�on�year.

On�the�other�hand,�Network�Products�experienced�an�
18%�decrease�in�orders,�reflecting�a�fallback�after�a�major�
order for North America received in the previous fiscal year.

Overseas�orders�were�as�follows.�In�Europe,�product�
orders�decreased�by�2%,�while�services�orders�increased�by�
7%.�The�Company�won�a�large-scale�renewal�project�in�the�
first�half�of�the�fiscal�year.�In�the�Americas,�orders�fell�by�10%,�
a�fallback�from�multiple-year�large-scale�business�deals�for�
the Canadian government in the previous fiscal year. In Asia 
Pacific,�product�orders�were�down�2%,�while�services�orders�
grew�20%,�the�year-on-year�growth�reflecting�multiple�
large-scale�government�projects�secured�in�the�second�half�
of the fiscal year. The rise in orders was also aided by an 
increase�in�digital-related�capabilities�due�to�an�acquisition.

7. Significant Accounting Policies
 and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS�requires�management�to�make�judgments,�estimates,�
and�assumptions�that�affect�the�application�of�policies�and�
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income and 
expenses. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed by 
management on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the esti-
mates�are�revised�and�in�any�future�periods�affected.�With�
regard�to�key�estimates�and�judgments�that�have�a�signifi-
cant�effect�on�the�amounts�recognized�in�the�consolidated�
financial�statements,�please�refer�to�Note�“4.�Use�of�
Accounting�Estimates�and�Judgments.”

MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING RESULTS, AND STATUS OF CASH FLOWS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 Notes 2022 2023

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16 ¥� 484,020 ¥� 355,901
Trade receivables 15 878,473 927,849
Other receivables 15 62,327 84,766
Contract assets 25 116,357 125,442
Inventories 14 309,829 337,008

Others 90,823 86,858

Total current assets 1,941,829 1,917,824
Non-current�assets

Property,�plant�and�equipment,�net�of� 
accumulated depreciation 8,�27 571,168 572,172

Goodwill 9,�27 47,487 55,132
Intangible assets 9,�27 133,856 146,264
Investments accounted for using the equity method 11 166,126 155,594
Other investments 12 170,105 195,463
Retirement benefit assets 21 139,543 81,883
Deferred tax assets 13 99,838 73,310

Others 61,857 67,937

Total�non-current�assets 1,389,980 1,347,755

Total Assets ¥3,331,809 ¥3,265,579
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(Millions of yen)

At March 31 Notes 2022 2023

Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 ¥� 470,237 ¥� 463,730
Other payables 24 403,873 367,399
Contract liabilities 25 166,926 194,455
Short-term�borrowings,�current�portion�of� 
long-term�debt�and�lease�liabilities 20,�22 168,766 103,577

Accrued income taxes 34,610 85,079
Provisions 23 42,851 35,015

Others 33,472 27,201

Total current liabilities 1,320,735 1,276,456
Non-current�liabilities

Long-term�debt�and�lease�liabilities 20,�22 116,553 107,598
Retirement benefit liabilities 21 115,972 95,388
Provisions 23 21,416 20,654
Deferred tax liabilities 13 15,305 5,612

Others 26,079 23,048

Total�non-current�liabilities 295,325 252,300

Total Liabilities 1,616,060 1,528,756

Equity
Share capital 18 324,625 324,625
Capital surplus 18 243,048 242,512
Treasury�stock,�at�cost 18 (128,897) (277,702)
Retained earnings 18 1,088,429 1,226,595

Other components of equity 18 63,508 70,805

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 1,590,713 1,586,835

Non-controlling�interests 10 125,036 149,988

Total Equity 1,715,749 1,736,823

Total Liabilities and Equity ¥3,331,809 ¥3,265,579
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(Millions�of�yen,�except�per�share�data)

Years ended March 31 Notes 2022 2023

Revenue 6,�25 ¥ 3,586,839 ¥ 3,713,767
Cost of sales 14 (2,468,188) (2,569,685)
Gross profit 1,118,651 1,144,082
Selling,�general�and�administrative�expenses (852,775) (852,974)
Other income 7,�26,�27 39,807 85,411
Other expenses 26,�27 (86,482) (40,905)
Operating Profit 6 219,201 335,614
Financial income 29 11,475 15,087
Financial expenses 29 (4,543) (6,862)
Income from investments accounted for using the  
equity�method,�net 7,�11,�26 13,853 28,037

Profit before Income Taxes 239,986 371,876
Income tax expense 13 (26,845) (127,011)
Profit for the Year 213,141 244,865

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 182,691 215,182
Non-controlling�interests 30,450 29,683
Total ¥� 213,141 ¥� 244,865

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (Yen) 31 ¥924.21 ¥1,107.63
Diluted earnings per share  (Yen) 31 922.97 1,105.41

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 Notes 2022 2023

Profit for the Year ¥213,141 ¥244,865
Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 18 (294) 17,770

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 18,�21 33,001 (41,784)
Share of other comprehensive income of investments 
accounted for using the equity method 18 (51) 122

32,656 (23,892)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation adjustments 18 14,721 (2,771)
Cash flow hedges 18 (173) 412
Share of other comprehensive income of investments 
accounted for using the equity method 18 2,749 730

17,297 (1,629)

Total Other Comprehensive Income for the Year, Net of Taxes 49,953 (25,521)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year ¥263,094 ¥219,344

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 231,311 188,329
Non-controlling�interests 31,783 31,015

Total ¥263,094 ¥219,344
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(Millions of yen)

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Notes
Share 

capital
Capital 
surplus

Treasury 
stock,�at�

cost
Retained 
earnings

Other 
components 

of equity Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity

Balance at April 1, 2021 ¥324,625 ¥241,254 ¥ (79,495) ¥   909,139 ¥ 54,616 ¥1,450,139 ¥ 96,766 ¥1,546,905

Profit for the year 182,691 182,691 30,450 213,141

Other comprehensive income 18 48,620 48,620 1,333 49,953

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 182,691 48,620 231,311 31,783 263,094

Purchase�of�treasury�stock 18 (50,164) (50,164) (50,164)

Disposal�of�treasury�stock 18 0 0 0 0

Share-based�payment�
transactions 18,�33 683 762 1,445 1,445

Dividends paid 19 (41,680) (41,680) (3,303) (44,983)

Transfer to retained earnings 39,724 (39,724) – –

Others 1,111 (1,445) (4) (338) (210) (548)

Balance at March 31, 2022 ¥324,625 ¥243,048 ¥(128,897) ¥1,088,429 ¥ 63,508 ¥1,590,713 ¥125,036 ¥1,715,749

Profit for the year 215,182 215,182 29,683 244,865

Other comprehensive income 18 (26,853) (26,853) 1,332 (25,521)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 215,182 (26,853) 188,329 31,015 219,344

Purchase�of�treasury�stock 18 (150,103) (150,103) (150,103)

Disposal�of�treasury�stock 18 1 2 3 3

Share-based�payment�
transactions 18,�33 1,858 1,296 3,154 3,154

Dividends paid 19 (45,210) (45,210) (4,571) (49,781)

Transfer to retained earnings (34,077) 34,077 – –

Others (2,395) 2,271 73 (51) (1,492) (1,543)

Balance at March 31, 2023 ¥324,625 ¥242,512 ¥(277,702) ¥1,226,595 ¥ 70,805 ¥1,586,835 ¥149,988 ¥1,736,823

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 Notes 2022 2023

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit before income taxes ¥ 239,986 ¥ 371,876
Depreciation,�amortization�and�impairment�loss 186,376 179,228
Increase (decrease) in provisions (21,207) (8,852)
Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liability (26,156) (19,034)
Interest and dividend income (3,580) (6,037)
Interest charges 2,955 3,958
Income from investments accounted for using the  
equity�method,�net (13,853) (28,037)

Gain�on�sales�of�subsidiaries’�stocks (9,747) (39,158)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (8,694) (65,320)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets (12,621) (8,690)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (69,201) (51,939)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables (7,261) 5,659
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 831 32,798
Other,�net 22 41,245 (92,972)
Cash generated from operations 299,073 273,480
Interest received 1,049 2,658
Dividends received 7,402 7,081
Interest paid (2,994) (3,984)
Income taxes paid (56,183) (58,906)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 248,347 220,329

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases�of�property,�plant,�equipment,�and�intangible�assets (143,251) (168,098)
Proceeds�from�sales�of�property,�plant�and�equipment 11,661 15,580
Proceeds from sales and redemption of investment securities 21,343 46,244
Purchases of investment securities (10,102) (27,624)
Net�proceeds�from�sale�of�subsidiaries,�equity�method�
 associates and businesses 22 16,322 88,049

Decrease�(increase)�in�short-term�investment 42,826 8,804
Purchases of shares of subsidiaries resulting in change in scope 
of consolidation (5,858) (9,824)

Other,�net 7,792 4,060
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (59,267) (42,809)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase�(decrease)�in�short-term�borrowings 22 15,668 (25,502)
Proceeds�from�long-term�debt�and�issuance�of�bonds 22 135 2,268
Repayment�of�long-term�debt�and�bonds 22 (53,423) (35,298)
Payment of lease liabilities 22 (62,328) (58,566)
Purchase�of�treasury�stock 18 (50,164) (150,103)
Dividends paid to owners of the parent (41,680) (45,210)
Other,�net (1,893) (1,174)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (193,685) (313,585)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (4,605) (136,065)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 481,833 484,020
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,792 7,946

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year ¥ 484,020 ¥ 355,901
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fujitsu Limited and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. Reporting Entity

Fujitsu�Limited�(the�“Company”)�is�a�company�domiciled�in�Japan.�The�Company’s�consolidated�financial�statements�

consist�of�financial�information�of�the�Company,�its�consolidated�subsidiaries�(together,�the�“Group”),�and�the�equity�

interests�held�by�the�Group.�In�the�field�of�ICT,�while�delivering�a�wide�variety�of�services,�the�Group�offers�comprehen-

sive�solutions,�from�the�development,�manufacturing,�and�sales�to�the�maintenance�and�operations�of�cutting-edge,�

high-performance,�high-quality�products�and�electronic�devices�that�support�services.

2. Basis of Preparation

(a) Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
The�Company’s�consolidated�financial�statements�are�prepared�in�accordance�with�International�Financial�Reporting�

Standards�(“IFRS”),�based�on�Article�93�of�the�“Ordinance�on�Terminology,�Forms�and�Preparation�Methods�of�

�Consolidated�Financial�Statements”�(Ministry�of�Finance�Ordinance�No.�28,�1976,�the�“Ordinance�on�Consolidated�

�Financial�Statements”),�and�the�requirements�for�“Specified�Company�Applying�Designated�IFRS”�set�forth�in�Article�1-2,�

items 1 and 2.

The�consolidated�financial�statements�were�approved�on�June�26,�2023�by�Takahito�Tokita,�President�and�

�Representative�Director,�and�Takeshi�Isobe,�Chief�Financial�Officer.

(b) Basis of measurement
The�consolidated�financial�statements,�except�for�the�following�material�items�on�the�consolidated�statement�of�

�financial�position,�have�been�prepared�based�on�acquisition�cost:

•  Financial instruments measured at fair value;

•  Net defined benefit liability or asset measured at present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value 

of plan assets.

(c) Functional currency and presentation currency
The�consolidated�financial�statements�are�presented�in�Japanese�yen,�which�is�the�functional�currency�of�the�Company.�

The financial information presented in Japanese yen is rounded to the nearest million yen.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below are applied to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation
(i) Business combinations

Acquisitions�of�subsidiaries,�accounted�for�using�the�acquisition�method,�are�included�in�the�consolidated�financial�state-

ments from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The Group controls an investee when 

it�is�exposed,�or�has�rights,�to�variable�returns�from�its�involvement�with�the�investee�and�has�the�ability�to�affect�those�

returns�through�its�power�over�the�investee.�In�assessing�control,�potential�voting�rights�that�are�currently�exercisable�or�

convertible�are�taken�into�account.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as follows:

•��fair�value�of�consideration�transferred,�plus;

•�the�recognized�amount�of�any�non-controlling�interests�in�the�acquiree,�plus;

•��if�the�business�combination�is�achieved�in�stages,�the�acquisition-date�fair�value�of�the�acquirer’s�previously�held�

equity�interest�in�the�acquiree,�less;�and

•  the net recognized amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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A gain from a bargain purchase in a business combination is recognized in profit or loss.

Any�transaction�costs�that�are�incurred�in�connection�to�a�business�acquisition,�such�as�legal�fees,�due�diligence�fees,�

and�other�professional�or�consulting�fees,�are�expensed�as�incurred�and�not�included�within�the�fair�value�of�consider-

ation transferred.

(ii) Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions�of�non-controlling�interests�are�accounted�for�as�transactions�with�owners�and�therefore�no�goodwill�is�

recognized�as�a�result�of�such�transactions.�A�change�in�the�ownership�interest,�without�changing�control,�is�accounted�

for as an equity transaction.

(iii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities that the Group controls. Financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date that control commences to the date that control ceases.

Comprehensive�income�of�a�subsidiary�is�attributed�to�the�owners�of�the�parent�and�non-controlling�interests�even�if�

this�results�in�the�non-controlling�interests�having�a�deficit�balance.

(iv) Loss of control

If�the�Group�loses�control�over�a�subsidiary,�it�derecognizes�the�assets�and�liabilities�of�the�subsidiary,�any�non-control-

ling�interests,�and�other�components�of�equity�related�to�the�subsidiary.�Any�gain�or�loss�arising�from�loss�of�control�is�

recognized�in�profit�or�loss.�If�the�Group�retains�any�interest�in�the�subsidiary,�that�investment�is�remeasured�at�fair�value�

on�the�day�that�control�ceases.�Subsequently,�it�is�accounted�for�as�an�equity�method�associate�or�as�a�financial�asset�

measured at fair value depending on the level of influence retained.

(v) Investments in associates and joint ventures (equity-accounted investments)

Associates�are�those�entities�in�which�the�Group�has�significant�influence,�but�not�control,�over�the�financial�and�operat-

ing�policies.�If�the�Group�holds�20%�or�more�of�the�voting�power�of�the�investee,�it�is�presumed�that�the�Group�has�sig-

nificant�influence�over�the�investee,�unless�it�can�be�clearly�demonstrated�that�this�is�not�the�case.�In�addition,�the�Group�

assumes�that�it�has�significant�influence�over�the�investee,�if�the�Group�has�rights�for�involvements�in�deciding�financial�

and operating policies of the investee through the Board meeting. Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities 

the�Group�has�joint�control,�established�by�contractual�agreement,�requiring�unanimous�consent�of�the�parties�sharing�

control�for�important�financial�and�operating�decisions�and�the�parties,�including�the�Group,�have�rights�to�the�net�

assets of the arrangement. Investments in associates and joint ventures are initially accounted for at cost and subse-

quently under the equity method. Any acquisition costs are included in the cost of the investment. The consolidated 

financial�statements�include�the�Group’s�share�of�profit�or�loss�and�other�comprehensive�income�of�associates�on�an�

equity-accounted�basis,�from�the�date�that�significant�influence�commences�until�the�date�that�significant�influence�

ceases.�When�the�Group’s�share�of�losses�exceeds�its�investment�in�an�associate�or�joint�venture,�the�Group’s�carrying�

amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has 

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.

(vi) Consolidation adjustments

All�inter-Group�balances,�transactions,�and�unrealized�gains�and�losses�resulting�from�inter-Group�transactions�are�elimi-

nated�in�preparing�the�consolidated�financial�statements.�Unrealized�gains�arising�from�transactions�with�equity-

accounted�investees�are�eliminated�against�the�investment�to�the�extent�of�the�Group’s�interest�in�the�investee.�

Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains only if there is no evidence of impairment.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(b) Foreign currencies
(i) Transactions denominated in foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of each Group company at 

the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in for-

eign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate prevailing 

at�the�reporting�date.�Non-monetary�assets�and�liabilities�measured�at�historical�cost�denominated�in�foreign�currencies�

are translated at the foreign exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange differences arising on 

translation�are�recognized�in�profit�or�loss.�However,�foreign�exchange�translation�differences�upon�conversion�of�equity�

securities classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and effective cash 

flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations

The�assets�and�liabilities�of�foreign�operations,�including�any�goodwill�arising�on�the�acquisition�and�any�fair�value�

�adjustments�to�the�carrying�amounts�of�assets�and�liabilities�arising�on�the�acquisition,�are�translated�into�Japanese�yen�

at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their revenue and expenses are translated at the average 

monthly exchange rate. The foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive 

income and included in foreign currency translation adjustments within other components of equity. Upon disposal of a 

foreign�operation,�if�controlled,�significant�influence�or�joint�control�is�lost�and�the�accumulated�amount�of�other�com-

prehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of gains and losses 

on the disposal.

(c) Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes trade receivables and other receivables on the date that they originate. All other financial 

assets�are�recognized�initially�on�the�trade�date,�the�date�on�which�the�Group�becomes�party�to�the�contractual�

provisions.

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets measured at amortized cost or as financial assets measured 

at fair value through either profit or loss or other comprehensive income. They are classified upon initial recognition.

Financial assets are measured at fair value plus transaction costs unless these are classified as financial assets mea-

sured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies financial assets and subsequently measures them as follows.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

•  The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows;

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and inter-

est on the principal amount outstanding.

The financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any 

impairment�losses,�and�the�amortization�charge�for�each�period�is�recognized�as�financial�income�in�profit�or�loss.

Financial assets measured at fair value

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at fair value unless these are measured at amortized cost. 

Equity instruments measured at fair value are individually designated as being measured either through profit or loss or 

through�other�comprehensive�income,�except�for�those�that�are�held�for�sale,�which�are�measured�through�profit�or�loss,�

and this designation must be applied continuously. Debt instruments that do not meet the conditions of the financial 

assets measured at amortized cost are classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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The�financial�assets�are�subsequently�measured�at�fair�value�at�the�end�of�the�reporting�period,�and�the�gain�or�loss�

is recognized in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income according to their classification. When a financial asset 

measured�at�fair�value�through�other�comprehensive�income�is�derecognized,�the�cumulative�gain�or�loss�previously�

recognized through other comprehensive income is reclassified to retained earnings. Dividends from equity instruments 

are recognized as part of financial income in profit or loss.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when all 

the�risks�and�financial�value�of�ownership�of�the�financial�asset�are�substantially�transferred.�The�Group�will�recognize�

another asset or liability to the extent that the Group retains any rights or obligations after the transfer.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost

For�financial�assets�measured�at�amortized�cost,�a�loss�allowance�is�recognized�for�expected�credit�losses�at�the�end�of�

the reporting period.

The�Group�assesses�at�each�reporting�date�whether�the�credit�risk�on�each�financial�asset�has�increased�significantly�

since�initial�recognition.�If�the�credit�risk�has�not�increased�significantly�since�initial�recognition,�then�expected�credit�

losses for 12 months based on historical experience and credit ratings are recognized as the loss allowance. If the credit 

risk�has�increased�significantly�since�initial�recognition,�lifetime�expected�losses�are�recognized�as�the�loss�allowance.

However,�for�trade�receivables�and�contract�assets�that�do�not�contain�a�significant�financing�component,�regard-

less�of�whether�or�not�the�credit�risk�has�increased�significantly�since�initial�recognition,�the�loss�allowance�is�always�

measured based on lifetime expected losses.

Expected credit loss is measured as the present value of the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all cash flows that the Group expects to receive.

The Group measures the expected credit losses of financial assets in a way that reflects;

•��An�unbiased�and�probability-weighted�amount�that�is�determined�by�evaluating�a�range�of�possible�outcomes;

•  Time value of money; and

•  Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about 

past�events,�current�conditions,�and�forecasts�of�future�economic�conditions.

A�significant�financial�difficulty�of�the�debtor,�a�breach�of�contract�due�to�a�default,�or�other�event�having�a�detri-

mental impact on the estimated future cash flows is recognized as the occurrence of credit impairment.

When�recovery�of�all�or�part�of�a�financial�asset�is�deemed�impossible�or�extremely�difficult,�it�is�treated�as�a�default.�

If�the�Group�has�no�reasonable�prospects�of�recovering�cash�flows�from�the�financial�asset,�all�or�part�of�the�carrying�

amount is written off.

Expected credit losses of financial assets are recognized in profit or loss. When an event occurs that reduces the 

loss�allowance,�the�reversal�of�loss�allowance�is�recognized�in�profit�or�loss.

(iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group recognizes debt securities on the day that they are issued. All other financial liabilities are initially recognized 

on�the�trade�date,�the�date�on�which�the�Group�becomes�party�to�contractual�provisions.�Other�financial�liabilities�

include loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

These financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost and are measured initially at 

fair�value,�less�any�directly�attributable�transaction�costs.�They�are�subsequently�measured�at�amortized�cost�using�the�

effective interest method. The amortization charge for each period is recognized as financial expense in profit or loss.

The�Group�derecognizes�a�financial�liability�when�its�contractual�obligations�are�discharged,�canceled,�or�expire.

(iv) Presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented net only when the Group has a legally enforceable right 

to offset the recognized amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.
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(v) Derivative financial instruments

The�Group�holds�derivative�financial�instruments�to�hedge�its�foreign�currency�and�interest�rate�risk�exposures.�Deriva-

tives are initially and subsequently measured at fair value.

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied

When�a�derivative�is�not�designated�as�a�hedging�instrument�in�accordance�with�the�criteria�for�hedge�accounting,�any�

changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is applied

Upon�initial�qualification�of�a�derivative�as�a�hedging�instrument,�the�Group�formally�documents�the�relationship�

between�the�hedging�instrument�and�hedged�item,�including�risk�management�objectives�and�strategy�in�undertaking�

the�hedge�transaction�and�the�hedged�risk.�The�Group�continually�assesses�the�efficacy�of�hedging�instruments,�deter-

mining them to be effective if all of the following criteria are met: there is an economic relationship between the 

hedged�item�and�the�hedging�instrument;�the�effect�of�credit�risk�does�not�dominate�the�value�that�results�from�that�

economic relationship; and the hedge ratio is the same as the ratio resulting from the quantity of the hedged item and 

the hedging instrument.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in fair value of a derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income and pre-

sented as cash flow hedges in other components of equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value is recog-

nized in profit or loss.

When�the�hedged�item�is�a�non-financial�asset,�the�amount�accumulated�in�other�components�of�equity�is�included�

in�the�carrying�amount�when�the�asset�is�recognized.�When�the�hedged�item�is�a�financial�asset,�the�amount�accumu-

lated in other components of equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects 

profit or loss. Discontinuation of hedge accounting applies prospectively from the date on which a derivative no longer 

meets�the�criteria�for�hedge�accounting,�expires,�or�is�sold,�terminated,�or�exercised.

(d) Property, plant and equipment (excluding right-of-use assets)
(i) Recognition and measurement

Items�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�are�measured�at�cost�less�accumulated�depreciation�and�impairment�losses.

Cost includes the following expenses that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset:

•  Costs of employee benefits arising directly from the construction of the asset and costs of installation and 

assembly;

•  Estimate of costs of dismantling or restoring the asset if such obligation exists; and

•  Capitalized borrowing costs.

When�different�parts�of�an�asset�have�different�useful�lives,�they�are�accounted�for�as�separate�items�(by�major�parts).

Any�gain�or�loss�on�disposal�of�an�item�of�property,�plant�and�equipment,�calculated�as�the�difference�between�net�

proceeds�received�and�the�carrying�amount�of�the�item,�is�recognized�in�profit�or�loss.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits from the expenditure 

will flow to the Group. Ongoing maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
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(iii) Depreciation

The�depreciable�amount�(cost�less�residual�value)�for�items�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�is�allocated�on�a�system-

atic�basis�over�its�useful�life.�The�Group,�in�principle,�adopts�the�straight-line�method�of�depreciation�reflecting�the�pat-

tern of consumption (matching of costs with revenue) of the future economic benefits from the asset.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is 

either classified as held for sale or is derecognized.

The�estimated�useful�lives�for�significant�categories�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�are:

•  Buildings 7 to 50 years

•  Machinery and equipment 3 to 7 years

•��Tools,�fixtures�and�fittings�2�to�10�years

Depreciation�methods,�useful�lives,�and�residual�values�are�reviewed�and�adjusted�if�necessary.

(e) Goodwill
For�the�measurement�of�goodwill�at�the�acquisition�date,�please�refer�to�Note�“3.�(a)�(i)�Business�combinations.”

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill�in�relation�to�equity-accounted�investments�is�included�in�the�carrying�amount�of�the�investment�and,�

therefore,�the�entire�carrying�amount�of�the�investment�as�a�single�asset�is�compared�with�the�recoverable�amount�for�

the�purpose�of�impairment�test.�An�impairment�loss�is�not�allocated�to�any�asset,�including�goodwill,�that�forms�part�of�

the carrying amount of the investment.

(f) Intangible assets (excluding right-of-use assets)
(i) Research and development

Research�is�basic�and�planned�investigation�undertaken�with�the�prospect�of�gaining�new�scientific�or�technical�knowl-

edge and understanding. Expenditures on research activities are expensed as incurred in profit or loss.

Development�is�the�application�of�research�findings�or�other�knowledge�to�a�plan�or�design�for�the�production�of�

new�or�substantially�improved�materials,�devices,�products,�processes,�systems,�etc.

Development activities include a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products or 

processes.

Development�expenditures�are�capitalized�only�if�they�can�be�reliably�measured,�the�product�or�process�is�techni-

cally�and�commercially�feasible,�it�is�probable�that�the�future�economic�benefits�will�flow�to�the�Group,�and�the�Group�

intends to and has the ability as well as sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Capi-

talized expenditures include directly attributable cost of generation and manufacture of the asset as well as bringing 

the�asset�to�its�working�condition,�such�as�cost�of�materials�and�cost�of�employee�benefits.�Other�development�expen-

ditures are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized development expenditures are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

(ii) Software and other intangibles

The Group develops software for sale and for its own use. An intangible asset is recognized if it meets the criteria for 

capitalization of development expenditures as described in the preceding section. The cost of software includes costs 

of employee benefits as well as costs of materials and services used or consumed in generating the software. The cost 

of a separately acquired intangible asset is capitalized because normally the price the Group pays to acquire the asset 

reflects expectations about the probability that the expected future economic benefits embodied in the asset will 

flow to the Group. Other intangible assets are measured at historical cost less accumulated amortization and 

 impairment losses.
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(iii) Amortization

Software held for sale is amortized based on the expected sales volumes and allocated equally based on the remaining 

useful life. Software for internal use and other intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respec-

tive�useful�lives�using,�in�principle,�the�straight-line�method�to�reflect�the�pattern�of�consumption�of�the�expected�future�

benefits from the assets. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is not amortized.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

•  Software held for sale 3 years

•  Software for internal use Within 5 years

Amortization�methods,�useful�lives,�and�residual�values�are�reviewed�and�adjusted�if�necessary.

(g) Leases
(i) Recognition and measurement

At�inception�of�a�contract,�the�Group�determines�whether�the�contract�is�a�lease�or�contains�a�lease.�The�contract�is�

determined�to�be�a�lease�or�contain�a�lease�if,�over�the�entire�period�of�use,�the�Group�has�the�right�to�receive�substan-

tially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified assets and has the right to control the use of the identi-

fied assets.

The�lease�term�represents�the�non-cancellable�period�for�which�the�lessee�has�the�right�to�use�the�underlying�asset�

together�with�periods�covered�by�extension�or�termination�options.�The�option�period�is�added�to�the�non-cancellable�

lease term only if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option or reasonably certain not to exercise 

the termination option.

The�Group�recognizes�right-of-use�assets�and�lease�liabilities�from�lease�contracts�as�of�the�commencement�date�of�

the�lease.�The�right-of-use�assets�are�assets�that�represent�the�Group’s�right�to�use�an�underlying�asset�for�the�lease�

term.�The�initial�measurement�of�the�cost�of�right-of-use�assets�is�calculated�by�starting�with�the�amount�of�the�initial�

measurement of the lease liability; adding any lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the 

lease,�less�any�lease�incentives�received;�adding�any�initial�direct�costs�incurred;�and�adding�an�estimate�of�costs�to�be�

incurred�in�dismantling�and�removing�the�underlying�asset,�restoring�the�site�on�which�it�is�located,�or�restoring�the�

underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease. A lease liability is measured as the 

present value of the lease payments that are not paid as of the commencement date of the lease. In measuring the 

present�value,�the�Group’s�incremental�borrowing�rate�is�typically�used�for�the�discount�rate.

(ii) Depreciation

Right-of-use�assets�are�generally�depreciated�on�a�straight-line�basis�over�the�lease�term.�If�ownership�of�the�asset�is�

transferred�to�the�Group�by�the�end�of�the�lease�term,�or�if�the�cost�of�the�right-of-use�asset�reflects�that�the�Group�will�

exercise�a�purchase�option,�the�right-of-use�asset�is�depreciated�on�a�straight-line�basis�over�its�useful�life.

(iii) Reassessment of lease liabilities

If�there�is�a�change�in�the�term�of�the�lease�because�of,�for�example,�a�revision�to�the�lease�contract,�the�lease�liabilities�

are�remeasured�based�on�the�new�lease�term,�and�the�difference�in�value�stemming�from�the�remeasurement�is�recog-

nized�with�a�corresponding�adjustment�to�right-of-use�assets.

(h) Inventories
Inventories�are�measured�at�cost.�However,�should�the�net�realizable�value�(NRV)�at�the�reporting�date�fall�below�the�

cost,�inventories�are�measured�at�the�NRV,�with�the�difference�in�value�between�the�cost�and�the�NRV,�in�principle,�

booked�as�cost�of�sales.

The�cost�of�inventories�comprises�costs�of�purchase,�costs�of�conversion,�and�other�costs�incurred�in�bringing�the�

inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of inventories of items that are interchangeable is deter-

mined�by�the�moving-average�cost�method�or�the�periodic�average�method,�whereas�the�cost�of�inventories�of�items�

that are not interchangeable is determined by the specific identification method.
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NRV�is�the�estimated�selling�price�in�the�ordinary�course�of�business,�less�estimated�costs�of�completion�and�esti-

mated�direct�selling�expenses.�Inventories�that�are�slow�moving�and�inventories�held�for�long-term�maintenance�con-

tracts�are�measured�at�the�NRV�that�reflects�future�demand�and�market�trends.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash�and�cash�equivalents�comprise�cash�on�hand,�demand�deposits,�and�short-term�highly�liquid�investments�with�a�

maturity�of�three�months�or�less�from�the�date�of�acquisition�and�an�insignificant�risk�of�changes�in�value.�The�ending�

balance of cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows excludes overdrafts that are included 

and�presented�in�short-term�borrowings,�current�portion�of�long-term�debt,�and�lease�liabilities�on�the�consolidated�

statement of financial position.

( j) Impairment of non-financial assets
If�there�is�an�indication�of�impairment�for�non-financial�assets�other�than�inventories�and�deferred�tax�assets,�the�assets’�

recoverable amount is estimated and the assets are tested for impairment. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefi-

nite useful lives are tested for impairment both annually and when there is an indication of impairment. An impairment 

loss�is�recognized�if�the�recoverable�amount�of�an�asset�or�cash-generating�unit�(CGU)�is�less�than�its�carrying�amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing�value�in�use,�the�estimated�future�cash�flows�associated�with�the�asset�or�CGU�are�discounted�to�present�

value�using�a�pre-tax�discount�rate�that�reflects�current�market�assessments�of�the�time�value�of�money�and�any�risks�

specific�to�the�asset�or�CGU.�For�impairment�testing�purposes,�assets�are�grouped�together�into�the�smallest�group�of�

assets that generate cash inflows independently of cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill is grouped together 

so that the impairment is tested for the smallest group of units used for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired 

in a business combination is allocated to the groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of a CGU are allocated 

first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that CGU (or CGU group) and then to reduce the carry-

ing�amounts�of�other�assets�in�the�CGU�(or�CGU�group)�on�a�pro-rata�basis.

Impairment�losses�on�goodwill�are�not�reversed.�For�all�other�assets,�impairment�losses�are�only�reversed�to�the�

extent�that�the�assets’�carrying�amount�does�not�exceed�the�carrying�amount�that�would�have�been�determined,�net�of�

depreciation�or�amortization,�if�no�impairment�loss�had�been�recognized.

(k) Assets classified as held for sale
Non-current�assets�(or�disposal�group)�are�classified�as�held�for�sale�if�the�carrying�amount�of�the�assets�will�be�princi-

pally�recovered�through�sale�rather�than�through�continuing�use.�Furthermore,�non-current�assets�(or�disposal�group)�

are classified as held for sale if the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition subject only to 

terms�that�are�usual�and�customary�for�sales�of�such�assets�(or�disposal�group),�their�sale�is�highly�probable,�the�appro-

priate�level�of�management�is�committed�to�a�plan�to�sell�the�assets�(or�disposal�group),�and�the�sale�is�expected�to�be�

completed�within�one�year�from�the�date�of�classification.�Non-current�assets�(or�disposal�group)�classified�as�held�for�

sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and they are no longer depreci-

ated�or�amortized.�An�impairment�loss�is�recognized�in�profit�or�loss�for�any�initial�or�subsequent�write-down�of�the�

noncurrent assets (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. Equally a gain is recognized for any subsequent 

increase�in�the�fair�value,�but�not�in�excess�of�the�accumulated�impairment�losses�previously�recognized
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(l) Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefit plans

Defined benefit plans

The�Group’s�net�defined�benefit�liability�(asset)�is�measured�at�the�present�value�of�the�defined�benefit�obligation�less�

the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit liability in respect of each defined benefit plan is calculated separately 

by estimating the amount of future benefits employees have earned in return for services rendered and discounted to 

present value. The calculation is performed in each reporting period by qualified actuaries using the projected unit 

credit�method.�The�discount�rate�used�is�the�yield�at�the�reporting�date�on�high-quality�corporate�bonds�that�have�

maturity�dates�approximate�to�the�terms�of�the�Group’s�obligations�that�are�denominated�in�the�currency�in�which�the�

benefits are expected to be paid.

The Group recognizes in profit or loss the current service cost that is calculated by the projected unit credit method 

using�an�actuarial�technique.�Net�interest�on�the�net�defined�benefit�liability�(asset),�which�is�determined�by�multiplying�

the�net�defined�benefit�liability�(asset)�by�the�appropriate�discount�rate,�is�recognized�in�profit�or�loss.�The�Group�recog-

nizes any past service cost in profit or loss when a plan is amended or curtailed. A gain or loss on a settlement of a 

pension plan is also recognized in profit or loss when the settlement actually occurs.

Remeasurements�of�the�net�defined�benefit�liability�(asset)�(actuarial�gains�and�losses,�etc.)�are�recognized,�after�

adjusting�for�tax�effects,�under�other�comprehensive�income,�and�immediately�reflected�in�retained�earnings.

Defined contribution plans

A�defined�contribution�plan�is�a�post-employment�benefit�plan�under�which�the�Group�pays�fixed�contributions�to�a�

separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further amounts. Contributions to defined contribu-

tion plans are recognized as employee costs in profit or loss in the period when the service is provided by the 

employee.�The�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan�is�classified�as�a�defined�contribution�plan�because�the�Group�effec-

tively has no further obligation for additional contributions.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as employee expenses in profit or loss when the Group announces a detailed 

formal plan to terminate employment or to provide termination benefits as part of a restructuring program in the form 

of redundancy. Such termination benefits are recognized in profit or loss only when withdrawal of the plan is not 

practicable.

(iii) Short-term employee benefits

The�cost�of�short-term�employee�benefits�is�measured�on�an�undiscounted�basis�and�recognized�in�profit�or�loss�as�the�

service is provided by the employee. A liability is recognized for any bonus expected to be paid in accordance with the 

Group policy as the service is provided by the employee.

(m) Provisions
A�provision�is�recognized�if,�as�the�result�of�a�past�event,�the�Group�has�a�present�legal�or�constructive�obligation�that�

can�be�estimated�reliably,�and�it�is�probable�that�an�outflow�of�resources�embodying�economic�benefits�will�be�required�

to�settle�the�obligation.�Provisions�are�discounted�to�present�value�using�a�pre-tax�rate�that�reflects�the�time�value�of�

money�and�risks�specific�to�the�liability.

(i) Provision for restructuring

A provision is recognized for the estimated costs of restructuring such as personnel rationalization and disposal of busi-

ness,�only�when�the�Group�starts�to�implement�the�plan�or�announces�its�main�features�to�those�affected�by�the�plan.

(ii) Provision for product warranties

A provision for product warranties is recognized at the time of sale of the products at an amount that represents the 

estimated�cost,�based�on�past�experience,�to�repair�or�exchange�certain�products�within�the�warranty�period.
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(iii) Provision for loss on orders received

Provision�for�contract�losses�shown�for�the�previous�fiscal�year�is�changed�in�account�name�to�“Provision�for�loss�on�

orders�received”�from�this�fiscal�year�in�order�to�present�the�nature�of�the�account�more�appropriately.

A provision is recognized for losses on service contracts in which the Company has an obligation to provide 

�deliverables,�such�as�turnkey�contracts�if�it�is�probable�that�the�total�estimated�project�costs�exceed�the�total�estimated�

project revenues.

(iv) Asset retirement obligation

A�provision�is�made�mainly�for�the�estimated�cost�of�restoring�the�leased�site�at�the�agreement�of�the�lease,�in�accor-

dance with the laws or contracts.

(n) Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a 

deduction�from�capital�surplus,�net�of�any�tax�effects.

Treasury shares

When�treasury�shares�are�repurchased,�the�amount�of�consideration�paid,�net�of�any�tax�effects,�including�directly�

attributable�costs,�is�recognized�as�a�deduction�from�equity.�When�treasury�shares�are�subsequently�sold�or�reissued,�

the amounts received are recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting gains and losses on the transactions are 

presented within capital surplus.

(o) Share-based payment
Under�the�equity-settled�share-based�payment�plan,�the�amount�of�services�received�is�measured�with�reference�to�the�

fair�value�of�the�Company’s�shares�at�the�grant�date,�and�is�recognized�as�an�expense�over�the�vesting�period.�The�same�

amount is recognized as an increase in capital surplus.

(p) Revenue
(i) Service revenue

Supply of service usually corresponds to any of the following criteria: a) the customer simultaneously receives and con-

sumes�all�of�the�benefits�provided�by�the�Group�as�the�Group�performs;�b)�the�Group’s�performance�creates�or�

enhances�an�asset�that�the�customer�controls�as�the�asset�is�created�or�enhanced;�or�c)�the�Group’s�performance�does�

not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for perfor-

mance�completed�to�date�and,�therefore,�is�a�performance�obligation�that�is�satisfied�over�time.

If�the�progress�toward�complete�satisfaction�of�the�performance�obligation�can�be�reasonably�measured,�service�

revenue�is�recognized�by�measuring�the�progress.�If�the�progress�cannot�be�reasonably�measured,�service�revenue�is�

recognized only to the extent of the costs incurred until such time that the outcome of the performance obligation can 

be reasonably measured.

Service�contract�revenue,�in�which�the�Company�has�an�obligation�to�provide�deliverables,�such�as�turnkey�contracts�

(system�integration,�etc.),�is,�in�principle,�recognized�by�the�method�of�measuring�the�progress�based�on�the�costs�

incurred�to�date�as�a�percentage�of�the�total�estimated�project�costs.�This�is�because,�in�accordance�with�such�service�

contracts,�costs�are�incurred�by�the�Group�during�the�performance�of�the�contracts,�and�as�work�progresses,�services�

tailored�for�the�customer�will�be�near�completion,�toward�a�state�in�which�the�services�are�available�for�the�customer.

When�milestones�for�the�obligations�to�be�performed�by�the�Group�are�defined�at�contract�inception,�revenue�is�

recognized based on completion of the contractual milestones.

Regarding�ongoing�service�contracts�(outsourcing�service,�maintenance�service,�etc.),�services�requested�by�the�

customer�are�provided�over�the�contractual�period.�To�promptly�respond�to�customers’�requests,�the�Group�is�required�

to�continually�be�prepared,�and�thus,�such�services�are�provided�over�a�period�including�standby�time.�For�this�reason,�

revenue is recognized by measuring the progress based on the period ratio of services already provided over the whole 
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service�period.�When�services�among�outsourcing�and�maintenance�services,�etc.,�are�charged�on�a�per�unit�basis,�rev-

enue is recognized when the service is rendered and is billed or billable.

Where�changes�occur�in�the�initial�estimates�of�revenues,�measure�of�progress,�and�costs�incurred�for�a�contract,�the�

accumulated impact arising from a change of estimates is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes 

become obvious and possible to be estimated.

(ii) Hardware product revenue

Supply�of�stand-alone�hardware�products�is�a�performance�obligation�satisfied�at�a�point�in�time�because�it�is�usually�

not�a�performance�obligation�satisfied�over�time.�In�such�a�case,�at�the�point�when�the�control�of�the�asset�is�transferred�

to�the�customer,�the�amount�of�the�transaction�price�allocated�in�proportion�to�the�performance�obligation�is�recog-

nized�as�revenue.�To�determine�the�point�in�time�at�which�the�control�is�transferred�to�the�customer,�the�Group�consid-

ers whether or not a) the Group has a present right to payment for the asset; b) the customer has legal title to the asset; 

c)�the�Group�has�transferred�physical�possession�of�the�asset;�d)�the�customer�has�the�significant�risks�and�rewards�

related to the ownership of the asset; and e) the customer has accepted the asset.

Revenue�on�hardware�requiring�significant�services�including�installation,�such�as�servers�and�network�products,�is�

recognized,�in�principle,�upon�the�customer’s�acceptance.

Revenue�on�standard�hardware,�such�as�personal�computers�and�electronic�devices,�is�recognized�in�principle�upon�

delivery,�where�the�control�of�the�hardware�is�transferred�to�the�customer.

On�the�other�hand,�for�commissioned�manufacturing�and�manufacturing�contracting,�in�cases�where�the�Group’s�

performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 

payment�for�performance�completed�to�date,�the�Group�recognizes�revenue�in�accordance�with�the�progress�as�mea-

sured using a method that faithfully depicts the completion of the performance obligation.

The�Group�provides�various�marketing�programs�to�customers�in�various�sales�channels,�such�as�volume�discounts�

and�sales�incentives.�When�there�is�a�possibility�of�subsequent�variability�in�the�consideration�paid�to�these�customers,�

the variable consideration is estimated and included in revenue to the extent that it is highly probable that its inclusion 

will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty has been subsequently resolved. To 

estimate�the�variable�consideration,�the�Group�uses�either�the�expected�value�method�or�the�most�likely�amount�

method,�selecting�the�method�that�enables�the�most�appropriate�estimate�of�the�amount�of�the�consideration�for�these�

rights to be obtained.

(iii) Licensing revenue

For�supply�of�licenses,�revenue�is�recognized�over�time�as�a�right�to�access�the�Group’s�intellectual�property�(a�right�to�

access)�when�all�of�the�following�criteria�are�met.�If�any�of�the�criteria�is�not�met,�revenue�is�recognized�at�a�point�in�time�

for�a�right�to�use�the�Group’s�intellectual�property�(a�right�to�use).�The�criteria�are�(a)�the�contract�requires,�or�the�cus-

tomer�reasonably�expects,�that�the�Group�will�undertake�activities�that�significantly�affect�the�intellectual�property�to�

which the customer has rights; (b) the rights granted by the license directly expose the customer to any positive or 

negative�effects�of�the�Group’s�activities;�and�(c)�those�activities�do�not�result�in�the�transfer�of�a�good�or�service�to�the�

customer as those activities occur.

For�software,�the�license�of�which�constitutes�the�principal�license�of�the�Group,�usually�after�supply�of�a�license,�the�

Group�is�not�obligated�to�undertake�any�activities�to�change�the�form�or�functionality�of�the�intellectual�property�or�

activities to maintain the value of the intellectual property over the license period. Since none of the above criteria is 

met,�the�revenue�is�recognized�at�a�point�in�time�as�right�to�use.

When�software�is�provided�over�a�cloud�service,�revenue�is�usually�recognized�at�the�same�time�as�the�cloud�service�

revenue as a single performance obligation.

When�software�is�sold�bundled�with�software�support,�revenue�for�the�software�and�revenue�for�the�software�sup-

port�are�usually�recognized�separately�as�distinct�performance�obligations.�However,�when�the�customer�is�unable�to�

receive�the�benefit�of�the�software�without�the�supply�of�the�software�support�service,�the�revenue�is�recognized�at�the�

same time as the software support revenue as a single performance obligation.
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For�software�version-up�rights�that�are�sold�separately�from�a�license,�revenue�is�usually�recognized�at�the�time�

when�the�version-up�rights�are�provided,�treating�the�software�and�version-up�rights�as�distinct�performance�obliga-

tions.�On�the�other�hand,�if�the�software�version-up�rights�as�a�part�of�software�support�are�provided,�the�revenue�is�

recognized at the same time as a single performance obligation.

(iv) Contracts with multiple deliverables

Contracts�with�multiple�deliverables�represent�one�contract�that�consists�of�several�kinds�of�goods�or�services,�such�as�

supply of hardware and related services or supply of software sales and support services.

Goods or services promised to a customer are identified as a distinct performance obligation if the customer can 

benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the 

customer�(i.e.,�the�good�or�service�is�capable�of�being�distinct);�and�the�Group’s�promise�to�transfer�the�good�or�service�

to�the�customer�is�separately�identifiable�from�other�promises�in�the�contract�(i.e.,�the�promise�to�transfer�the�good�or�

service is distinct within the context of the contract).

To allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation in a contract with multiple deliverables on a rela-

tive�stand-alone�selling�price�basis,�the�Group�determines�the�stand-alone�selling�price�at�contract�inception�of�the�

distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation in the contract and allocates the transaction price in 

proportion�to�that�stand-alone�selling�price.�If�a�stand-alone�selling�price�is�not�directly�observable,�it�is�estimated�

based�on�method,�such�as�estimated�costs�plus�a�margin�approach�for�the�respective�performance�obligations�in�the�

contract�with�multiple�deliverables,�and�the�transaction�price�is�allocated.

(v) Agent transactions

For�procurement�and�sales�of�goods�and�services�by�the�Group,�revenue�is�recognized�as�commission�fees�for�transac-

tions�where�the�Group�does�not�have�control�of�the�goods�and�services�before�their�transfer�to�the�customer,�in�other�

words,�transactions�where�the�Group�has�arranged�the�procurement�as�the�customer’s�agent.�To�determine�whether�or�

not�the�Group�has�control�over�goods�and�services�before�their�transfer�to�the�customer,�the�following�aspects�are�

considered: a) whether the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or 

service;�b)�whether�the�Group�has�inventory�risk�before�the�specified�good�or�service�is�transferred�to�a�customer,�or�

after transfer of control to the customer; and c) whether the Group has discretion in establishing the price for the good 

or service.

(vi) Contract costs

The Group recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer as an asset if the Group expects 

to recover those costs. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are costs incurred to obtain a contract with a 

customer that would not have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The costs of fulfilling a contract are recognized as assets when the costs are not within the scope of another 

accounting policy; relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the Group can specifically identify; 

generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying (or continuing to satisfy) performance obli-

gations in the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Assets recognized as incremental costs for obtaining a contract or costs of fulfilling a contract are amortized evenly 

over the contract period.

(vii) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract assets are rights to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a cus-

tomer when those rights are conditioned on something other than the passage of time. Contract liabilities are the 

Group’s�obligations�to�transfer�goods�or�services�to�a�customer�for�which�the�Group�has�received�consideration�(or�the�

amount is due) from the customer.
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(viii) Significant financing components in the contract

When there is substantially a significant financing component in a transaction (such that a significant benefit of financ-

ing�is�provided),�for�example,�long-term�prepayment�or�delayed�payment,�revenue�is�measured�at�present�value�using�

the�effective�interest�rate.�However,�if�the�period�between�the�time�of�transfer�of�the�good�or�service�to�the�customer�

and�the�time�of�the�customer’s�payment�is�expected�to�be�less�than�one�year�at�the�contract�inception,�the�consider-

ation is not adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

(ix) Operating leases

Revenue�arising�from�customers’�use�of�products�under�operating�leases�is�recognized�evenly�over�the�lease�term.

(q) Financial income and expenses
Financial�income�includes�dividend�income,�interest�income,�gains�on�foreign�exchange,�changes�in�fair�value�of�financial�

assets�measured�at�fair�value�through�profit�or�loss,�gains�on�hedging�instruments�recognized�in�profit�or�loss,�and�

reclassifications of amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income. Interest income is recognized as 

incurred using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is 

established.

Financial�expenses�include�interest�expenses�on�bonds,�borrowings,�and�lease�liabilities;�losses�on�foreign�exchange;�

changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; losses on hedging instruments 

recognized in profit or loss; and reclassifications of amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Borrowing�costs�that�are�not�directly�attributable�to�the�acquisition,�construction,�or�production�of�a�qualifying�asset�are�

recognized as incurred using the effective interest method. Total minimum lease payments are allocated to the portion 

of�financial�expenses,�and�the�unpaid�balance�of�liabilities�and�financial�expenses�are�allocated�over�the�lease�term�on�a�

pro rata basis against the unpaid balance of liabilities.

(r) Income tax expenses
Income�tax�expenses�comprise�current�and�deferred�tax,�both�of�which�are�recognized�in�profit�or�loss�except�to�the�

extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current�tax�is�the�expected�tax�payable�or�receivable�on�taxable�income�or�loss�for�the�year,�using�tax�rates�and�tax�

laws�enacted�or�substantially�enacted�at�the�reporting�date,�with�any�tax�adjustment�to�tax�payable�in�respect�of�previ-

ous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amount 

of�assets�and�liabilities�and�the�amounts�used�for�tax�purposes,�the�carryforward�of�unused�tax�losses,�and�unused�tax�

credits. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following:

•  Temporary differences on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combi-

nation and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•  Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the parent is able to 

control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

•  Taxable temporary differences arising on initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to be applied in the period 

when�the�assets�are�realized�or�the�liabilities�are�settled,�based�on�the�tax�laws�enacted�or�substantially�enacted�by�the�

reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

and there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

A�deferred�tax�asset�is�recognized�for�the�carryforward�of�unused�tax�losses,�unused�tax�credits,�and�deductible�

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are impaired if it is no longer probable that future taxable income would be suf-

ficient to allow part or all of the benefit of the deferred tax asset to be realized. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in 

principle for all taxable temporary differences.
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(s) Discontinued operations
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs on the date of disposal or the date at which a separate operating 

segment�meets�the�definition�of�being�held�for�sale,�whichever�is�earlier.�When�an�operating�segment�is�classified�as�a�

discontinued�operation,�the�comparative�profit�or�loss�statement�is�adjusted�as�if�the�operating�segment�had�been�dis-

continued from the beginning of the comparative year.

4. Use of Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The�preparation�of�financial�statements�in�conformity�with�IFRS�requires�management�to�make�judgments,�estimates,�

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income and 

expenses. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed by management on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. The Com-

pany�has�formulated�a�business�plan�that�reflects�future�uncertainties,�including�revenue,�for�determining�impairment�of�

goodwill,�property,�plant�and�equipment,�and�intangible�assets,�and�the�recoverability�of�deferred�tax�assets.

The�key�estimates�and�judgments�that�have�a�significant�effect�on�the�amounts�recognized�in�the�consolidated�

financial statements are as follows.

(a) Revenue recognition
Revenue�and�cost�of�sales�under�service�contracts�in�which�the�Company�undertakes�an�obligation�to�provide�deliver-

ables,�such�as�turnkey�contracts,�are�recognized�by�reference�to�the�stage�of�completion�when�the�outcome�of�the�

contract can be reliably estimated. Contract assets are primarily unbilled trade receivables related to the revenue and 

are transferred to trade receivables when the customer accepts the deliverables.

The�Group,�in�principle,�calculates�the�progress�toward�completion�with�costs�incurred�to�date�as�a�percentage�of�

total�estimated�project�costs.�Total�estimated�project�costs�are�estimated�based�on�the�specifications�and�working�

hours,�risks�inherent�in�the�contracts,�etc.,�of�each�project.�Revenue�and�costs�can�be�revised�due�to�reasons�such�as�

additional�costs�incurred,�because�revenue�and�costs�depend�on�the�estimates�of�total�project�revenue�and�costs�as�

well as the measurement of the progress.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�of�contract�assets,�please�refer�to�the�consolidated�statement�of�financial�position.

(b) Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation�for�an�item�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�is�calculated�primarily�using�the�straight-line�method,�based�

on�the�estimated�useful�life�that�reflects�the�period�in�which�the�asset’s�future�economic�benefits�are�expected�to�be�

consumed. An impairment loss could be recognized if there is a decrease in the expected future cash flows from the 

asset as a result of underutilization of production facilities or a decrease in the capacity utilization rate associated with 

rapid changes in the business environment as well as business realignment.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�and�impairment�loss�of�property,�plant�and�equipment,�please�refer�to�Note�“8.�

Property,�Plant�and�Equipment”�and�Note�“27.�Impairment�of�Non-Financial�Assets.”

(c) Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment both annually and when there is an indication of impairment. An impairment loss is 

recognized�if�the�recoverable�amount�of�the�cash-generating�unit�(CGU)�to�which�goodwill�is�allocated�is�less�than�its�

carrying amount.

The recoverable amounts of a CGU are in most cases measured at value in use. Significant assumptions in estimat-

ing�value�in�use�are�future�cash�flows�based�on�the�Company’s�medium-term�management�plan�(generally�covering�

three�years)�approved�by�management,�the�long-term�average�growth�rate�for�subsequent�periods�incorporating�future�

uncertainties,�and�the�discount�rate�based�on�the�weighted�average�cost�of�capital.�These�assumptions�represent�man-

agement’s�best�estimates�and�judgment.�Impairment�losses�could�be�recognized�when�the�assumptions�are�revised�as�a�

result of a change in the business environment or other changes in the circumstances.
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Regarding�the�carrying�amount�and�impairment�test�of�goodwill,�please�refer�to�Note�“9.�Goodwill�and�Intangible�

Assets”�and�Note�“27.�Impairment�of�Non-Financial�Assets.”

(d) Intangible assets
Computer software held for sale is amortized by a method based on projected sales volume over the estimated useful 

life.�Software�for�internal�use�is�amortized�on�a�straight-line�basis,�in�principle,�to�reflect�the�pattern�in�which�the�asset’s�

future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group. Impairment losses could be recognized if there 

is a decrease in the expected future cash flows from the asset such as actual sales volumes that fail to meet initial pro-

jected�volumes�due�to�changes�in�the�business�environment,�and�there�is�a�risk�that�amortization�expenses�for�the�

reporting period may increase if the actual useful life is less than the original estimate.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�and�impairment�loss�of�intangible�assets,�please�refer�to�Note�“9.�Goodwill�and�

Intangible�Assets”�and�Note�“27.�Impairment�of�Non-Financial�Assets.”

(e) Deferred tax assets
Decisions on the recoverability of a deferred tax asset are based on the taxable profit calculated using future business 

plans,�and�a�deferred�tax�asset�is�recognized�for�carryforward�unused�tax�losses,�unused�tax�credits,�and�deductible�

temporary differences to the extent that is probable that they can be utilized. If no sufficient taxable profit is consid-

ered to be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset due to changes in the business environ-

ment,�the�amount�of�deferred�tax�assets�may�be�reduced�and�additional�expenses�may�incur.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�of�deferred�tax�assets,�please�refer�to�Note�“13.�Income�Taxes.”

(f) Provisions
Provision for restructuring

A provision is recognized for the estimated costs of restructuring such as personnel rationalization and disposal of busi-

ness. The costs are estimated based on the announced plan and the additional expenses may be incurred or a reversal 

of expenses may be recorded when the plan is reviewed as a result of a sudden change in the business environment.

Provision for loss on orders received

Provision�for�contract�losses�shown�for�the�previous�fiscal�year�is�changed�in�account�name�to�“Provision�for�loss�on�

orders�received”�from�this�fiscal�year,�please�refer�to�Note�“3.�Significant�Accounting�Policies.”�The�Group�records�provi-

sions�for�losses�on�service�contracts�in�which�the�Company�undertakes�an�obligation�to�provide�deliverables,�such�as�

turnkey�contracts,�if�it�is�probable�that�the�total�estimated�project�costs�exceed�the�total�estimated�project�revenues�

and the amount of losses can be reliably measured. Total estimated project costs are estimated based on the specifica-

tions�and�service�period,�risks�inherent�in�the�contracts,�etc.,�of�each�project�and�the�Group�may�revise�the�originally�

estimated�total�project�costs�due�to�the�incurrence�of�additional�costs,�etc.,�as�well�as�the�possibility�of�incurring�addi-

tional expenses or the recording of a reversal of expenses.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�of�provisions,�please�refer�to�Note�“23.�Provisions.”

(g) Defined benefit plan
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution retirement benefit plans. Net defined benefit liability 

could be worsened if the fair value of plan assets decreases as a result of deterioration of return on plan assets or if a 

defined�benefit�liability�increases�as�a�result�of�a�change�in�assumptions�(such�as�discount�rate,�turnover�ratio,�and�mor-

tality�ratio)�for�determining�the�defined�benefit�liability,�which�could�lead�to�a�reduction�in�equity.�If�changes�are�made�

to�retirement�benefit�plans,�there�could�be�a�significant�impact�on�profit�or�loss.

Regarding�the�carrying�amount�of�both�retirement�benefit�assets�and�liabilities,�assumptions,�and�sensitivity,�please�

refer�to�Note�“21.�Post-Employment�Benefits.”
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5. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

There were no newly issued or amended accounting standards and interpretations as of the approval date of the con-

solidated financial statements that would have a significant impact on the Group.

6. Segment Information

(1) Segment overview
The�Company’s�reportable�segments�consist�of�components�of�the�Group�for�which�discrete�financial�information�is�

available�and�whose�operating�results�are�regularly�reviewed�by�the�Group’s�chief�operating�decision-maker�to�make�

decisions about resource allocation to the segments and assess their performance.

The�Group’s�business�is�organized�into�three�reportable�segments—Technology�Solutions,�Ubiquitous�Solutions,�and�

Device�Solutions—based�on�the�Group’s�managerial�structure,�characteristics�of�the�products�and�services,�and�the�

similarities�of�the�sales�market�within�each�operating�segment.�Product�and�service�classification�in�each�reportable�

segment are as follows.

(a) Technology Solutions
Technology�Solutions�consists�of�Solutions/Services,�which�includes�Solutions/SI�such�as�construction�of�information�and�

communication�systems,�cloud�services,�and�outsourcing�and�maintenance�services;�System�Platforms,�comprising�

System�Products,�which�cover�mainly�the�servers�and�storage�systems,�and�Network�Products,�which�offer�communica-

tions�infrastructure,�such�as�mobile�phone�base�stations�and�optical�transmission�systems;�and�International�Regions�

Excluding�Japan,�which�carry�out�Solutions/Services�delivery�in�regions�outside�Japan.

(b) Ubiquitous Solutions
This segment consists of client computing devices such as PCs.

(c) Device Solutions
This�segment�comprises�electronic�components�such�as�semiconductor�packages�and�batteries.

The�accounting�treatment�applied�to�operating�segments�is�mostly�the�same�as�in�Note�“3.�Significant�Accounting�

Policies.”

The�Group’s�finances�(including�financial�income�and�expenses)�and�income�from�investments�accounted�for�using�

the equity method are managed on the basis of the entire Group and are not allocated to the operating segments.

Intersegment�transactions�are�based�on�an�arm’s�length�price.
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(2) Amounts of revenue, operating profit, and other items by reportable segment

(Millions of yen)

Reportable segments

Corporate 
Elimination ConsolidatedYears ended March 31

Technology 
Solutions

Ubiquitous 
Solutions

Device 
Solutions Subtotal

2022
Revenue

External customers ¥3,035,438 ¥186,950 ¥364,451 ¥3,586,839 ¥� – ¥3,586,839
Intersegment 20,940 50,165 11,532 82,637 (82,637) –
Total revenue 3,056,378 237,115 375,983 3,669,476 (82,637) 3,586,839

Operating Profit 135,001 5,881 78,319 219,201 – 219,201
Financial income 11,475
Financial expenses (4,543)
Income from investments 
accounted for using the equity 
method,�net 13,853

Profit before income taxes 239,986

(Other items)
Depreciation and amortization (147,186) (486) (34,799) (182,471) – (182,471)
Impairment loss (2,889) – (1,465) (4,354) – (4,354)
Reversal of impairment loss 429 – – 429 – 429
Capital expenditure (including 
intangible assets and goodwill) 159,996 413 44,001 204,410 – 204,410

2023
Revenue

External customers ¥3,156,810 ¥188,612 ¥368,345 ¥3,713,767 ¥� – ¥3,713,767
Intersegment 19,735 44,386 14,336 78,457 (78,457) –
Total revenue 3,176,545 232,998 382,681 3,792,224 (78,457) 3,713,767

Operating Profit 263,164 (6,585) 79,035 335,614 – 335,614
Financial income 15,087
Financial expenses (6,862)
Income from investments 
accounted for using the equity 
method,�net 28,037

Profit before income taxes 371,876

(Other items)
Depreciation and amortization (139,451) (241) (39,020) (178,712) – (178,712)
Impairment loss (767) – (146) (913) – (913)
Reversal of impairment loss 397 – – 397 – 397
Capital expenditure (including 
intangible assets and goodwill) 150,546 – 73,501 224,047 – 224,047

Note:��Revenue�under�“Corporate�Elimination”�represents�the�elimination�of�intersegment�transactions.
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(3) Information about products and services
Revenue from external customers

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Technology Solutions
Services ¥2,569,893 ¥2,631,814
System platforms* 432,751 489,521
Other 32,794 35,475

Ubiquitous Solutions
Client computing devices 186,950 188,612

Device Solutions
Electronic components 364,451 368,345

Total ¥3,586,839 ¥3,713,767

*�Full�range�of�servers,�optical�transmission�systems,�and�mobile�phone�base�stations,�etc.

(4) Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Japan ¥2,269,892 ¥2,290,285
Outside Japan

Europe 661,673 666,464
Americas 238,903 296,217
APAC 246,502 282,730

East Asia 163,663 170,629

Others 6,206 7,442

Total ¥3,586,839 ¥3,713,767

Notes: 1.  Revenue from external customers is classified by countries or regions based on locations of customers.
 2.  There is no significant country for which a separate individual disclosure is required.
� 3.��The�Group�has�revised�its�regional�classification�from�the�current�fiscal�year.�Under�the�new�presentation,�regions�previously�classified�as�

NWE�(Northern�&�Western�Europe),�CEE�(Central�&�Eastern�Europe),�and�European�regions�outside�of�NWE�and�CEE�that�were�included�
in�Others�are�now�combined�as�“Europe”;�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�Korea,�previously�included�in�Asia,�are�now�combined�as�“East�Asia";�
and�countries�and�regions�previously�included�in�Asia�other�than�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�Korea�are�now�combined�with�Oceania�as�“Asia�
Pacific.”�Comparative�information�for�the�previous�fiscal�year�reflects�the�revised�classification.�The�main�countries�belonging�to�the�
Americas�are�the�United�States�and�Canada,�as�before.

� 4.��Others�includes�the�Middle�East,�and�Africa.

(b) Non-current assets (property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and intangible assets)

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Japan ¥572,400 ¥593,298
Outside Japan

Europe 100,816 99,805
Americas 19,127 14,896
APAC 48,299 54,542

East Asia 11,869 11,027

Total ¥752,511 ¥773,568

Notes: 1.  Revenue from external customers is classified by countries or regions based on locations of customers.
 2.  There is no significant country for which a separate individual disclosure is required.
� 3.��The�Group�has�revised�its�regional�classification�for�the�current�fiscal�year.�Under�the�new�presentation,�regions�previously�classified�as�

NWE�(Northern�&�Western�Europe),�CEE�(Central�&�Eastern�Europe),�and�European�regions�outside�of�NWE�and�CEE�that�were�included�
in�Others�are�now�combined�as�“Europe”;�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�Korea,�previously�included�in�Asia,�are�now�combined�as�“East�Asia";�
and�countries�and�regions�previously�included�in�Asia�other�than�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�Korea�are�now�combined�with�Oceania�as�“Asia�
Pacific.”�The�previous�fiscal�year’s�data�has�been�presented�according�to�the�revised�classification.�The�main�countries�belonging�to�the�
Americas�are�the�United�States�and�Canada,�as�before.
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(5) Information about major customers
Information�is�not�disclosed�because�no�specific�customers�reached�10%�of�revenue�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�

profit or loss.

7. Business Combinations, etc.

1. Business Divestitures
The�Company�transferred�80%�of�its�shares�of�PFU�Limited�(hereinafter�“PFU”)�to�Ricoh�Company,�Ltd.,�on�September�1,�

2022,�in�accordance�with�a�resolution�of�the�Board�of�Directors�meeting�held�on�April�28,�2022.�As�a�result,�PFU�changed�

from a consolidated subsidiary to an equity method associate.

(1) Reason for the share transfer
PFU�operates�businesses�centered�upon�the�manufacture,�sale,�and�maintenance�of�hardware,�such�as�image�scanners,�

for�which�it�holds�a�high�market�share.�Meanwhile,�the�Company�continues�its�shift�to�become�a�Digital�Transformation�

(DX)�company�that�contributes�to�the�resolution�of�issues�confronting�society.�To�this�end,�the�Company�will�focus�on�

digital�domains�that�integrate�DX�businesses�founded�in�AI,�data�use,�and�other�technologies�with�modernization�neces-

sary�for�digital�transformation�such�as�migrating�to�cloud-based�systems.

The�Company�approved�the�management�decision�for�the�transfer�of�PFU�shares�with�the�expectation�that�Ricoh’s�

many�different�synergies�could�be�successfully�leveraged�to�further�grow�and�enhance�PFU’s�corporate�value.�The�

Company believes participation in the Ricoh Group will enable the expansion of business by maximizing the value of the 

products�and�services�that�PFU�has�cultivated,�including�the�fi-Series�and�ScanSnap�brands,�as�well�as�image�scanners�

and�sales�and�maintenance�channels�of�self-service�terminals,�and�the�technologies�and�know-how�that�support�these�

products and services.

In�addition�to�the�transfer�of�shares,�the�Company�will�continue�to�explore�an�alliance�with�Ricoh�to�continuously�com-

plement�and�further�bolster�the�businesses�of�both�companies�by�taking�full�advantage�of�their�respective�strengths.

(2) Name of company to which shares are transferred
Ricoh�Company,�Ltd.

(3) Share transfer date
September�1,�2022

(4) Name of subsidiary and nature of business
(a) Name of subsidiary
PFU Ltd.

(b) Description of the business
Document�scanners,�industrial�computing�products�and�other�hardware;�security,�document�management�and�other�

software�and�services;�configuration�of�IT�Infrastructure;�and�multivendor�services�provided�in�cooperation�with�third-

party companies.

(5) Overview of the divestiture including legal form
Share transfer for cash.

(6) Overview of the accounting treatment implemented
(a) Gain or loss on transfer

Gain�of�¥30,821�million�from�the�transfer�of�the�shares

Gain�of�¥7,705�million�on�fair�value�valuation�as�PFU�became�an�equity-method�associate�of�the�Company�

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
37FUJITSU GROUP INTEGRATED REPORT 2023



(b) Appropriate carrying amount of assets and liabilities related to the transferred business and the main breakdown

(Millions of yen)

Current assets ¥ 89,906

Non-current�assets 24,603

Total assets ¥114,509

Current liabilities ¥ 34,667

Non-current�liabilities 5,063

Total liabilities ¥ 39,730

(c) Accounting treatment
The difference between consolidated carrying amount of the shares transferred and their sale value was recorded 

under�“Other�income.”�Gain�on�revaluation�of�remaining�shares�of�PFU�due�to�the�transfer�was�recorded�under�“Income�

from�investments�accounted�for�using�the�equity�method,�net.”

(7) Category in segment information disclosure
Technology Solutions

(8) Approximate income for the separated business recorded on the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023.

(Millions of yen)

Fiscal�year�ended�March�31,�2023

Revenue ¥47,291
Operating profit 1,121

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Carrying amount

(Millions of yen)

Land Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment,�

tools,�fixtures�
and fittings

Construction in 
progress Total

Balance�at�April�1,�2021 ¥60,414 ¥303,465 ¥156,765 ¥ 48,949 ¥569,593
Additions 338 76,364 89,938 (17,980) 148,660
Depreciation (102) (70,374) (73,516) – (143,992)
Impairment losses (268) (691) (695) (73) (1,727)
Reversal of impairment losses – 427 2 – 429
Disposals or reclassifications to assets held for sale (1,394) (7,084) (2,225) (1,277) (11,980)
Exchange differences on translation 217 5,215 2,667 100 8,199

Others (2) 813 2,051 (876) 1,986

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 ¥59,203 ¥308,135 ¥174,987 ¥ 28,843 ¥571,168

Additions 503 50,349 59,130 48,905 158,887
Depreciation (100) (59,696) (75,188) – (134,984)
Impairment losses (28) (31) (113) (30) (202)
Reversal of impairment losses 340 57 – – 397
Disposals or reclassifications to assets held for sale (5,638) (17,139) (5,484) (449) (28,710)

Exchange differences on translation 203 3,025 1,368 82 4,678

Others (209) (591) 2,102 (363) 939

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥54,274 ¥284,109 ¥156,801 ¥ 76,988 ¥572,172
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Cost

(Millions of yen)

Land Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment,�

tools,�fixtures�
and fittings

Construction in 
progress Total

April�1,�2021 ¥79,384 ¥864,635 ¥925,485 ¥49,047 ¥1,918,551
March�31,�2022 78,452 886,379 917,106 29,106 1,911,043
March�31,�2023 72,748 832,809 897,644 77,297 1,880,498

Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

(Millions of yen)

Land Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment,�

tools,�fixtures�
and fittings

Construction in 
progress Total

April�1,�2021 ¥18,970 ¥561,170 ¥768,720 ¥ 98 ¥1,348,958
March�31,�2022 19,249 578,244 742,119 263 1,339,875
March�31,�2023 18,474 548,700 740,843 309 1,308,326
Notes:� 1.� �Additions�under�“Construction�in�progress”�are�shown�on�a�net�basis�that�includes�an�increase�in�the�amount�of�new�additions�and�

amounts�transferred�to�each�item�in�property,�plant�and�equipment.
� 2.��Impairment�losses�of�¥1,727�million�and�¥202�million�recorded�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�respectively,�are�included�in�

other expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
� 3.��The�amount�of�expenditures�recognized�in�the�carrying�amount�of�an�item�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�in�the�course�of�its�con-

struction�is�included�in�construction�in�progress�and�totaled�¥22,580�million�and�¥63,346�million�at�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�respectively.

IFRS 16 Leases

Depreciation�of�right-of-use�assets

The�depreciation�of�right-of-use�assets�included�in�property,�plant�and�equipment�is�as�follows.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Land ¥   102 ¥   100
Buildings 47,227 39,405

Machinery�and�equipment,�tools,�fixtures�and�fittings 13,397 11,780

Total ¥60,726 ¥51,285

Carrying�amount�of�right-of-use�assets

The�carrying�amount�of�right-of-use�assets�included�in�property,�plant�and�equipment�is�as�follows.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Land ¥  1,074 ¥  1,083
Buildings 124,756 112,271

Machinery�and�equipment,�tools,�fixtures�and�fittings 26,672 23,770

Total ¥152,502 ¥137,124
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9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Carrying amount

(Millions of yen)

Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Others Total

Balance�at�April�1,�2021 ¥41,239 ¥109,451 ¥11,008 ¥120,459
Additions – 54,695 1,055 55,750
Acquisitions through business combinations 5,408 – 1,048 1,048
Amortization – (36,399) (2,080) (38,479)
Impairment losses (425) (1,970) (232) (2,202)
Disposals or reclassifications to assets held for sale – (3,356) (182) (3,538)
Exchange differences on translation 2,434 1,222 375 1,597

Others (1,169) (848) 69 (779)

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 47,487 122,795 11,061 133,856

Additions – 59,107 6,053 65,160
Acquisitions through business combinations 8,331 10 4,498 4,508
Amortization – (41,068) (2,660) (43,728)
Impairment losses (393) (22) (296) (318)
Disposals or reclassifications to assets held for sale – (13,864) (54) (13,918)
Exchange differences on translation 1,511 728 76 804

Others (1,804) (100) – (100)

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥55,132 ¥127,586 ¥18,678 ¥146,264

Cost

(Millions of yen)

Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Others Total

April�1,�2021 ¥43,424 ¥221,070 ¥35,003 ¥256,073
March�31,�2022 49,426 236,052 31,576 267,628
March�31,�2023 55,538 244,640 48,258 292,898

Accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses

(Millions of yen)

Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Others Total

April�1,�2021 ¥2,185 ¥111,619 ¥23,995 ¥135,614
March�31,�2022 1,939 113,257 20,515 133,772
March�31,�2023 406 117,054 29,580 146,634
Notes: 1.  Intangible assets that fall under the category of internally generated are mainly software. 

The�carrying�amounts�of�internally�generated�software�included�in�intangible�assets�totaled�¥112,059�million�at�March�31,�2022�and�
¥117,117�million�at�March�31,�2023.�Additions�from�internal�development�included�in�the�above�“Additions”�totaled�¥50,326�million�and�
¥53,838�million�during�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�March�31,�2023,�respectively.

� 2.��Amortization�is�included�in�cost�of�sales�and�selling,�general�and�administrative�expenses�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�profit�or�loss.
� 3.��Impairment�losses�on�goodwill�and�intangible�assets�of�¥425�million�and�¥2,202�million,�respectively,�recorded�for�the�year�ended�March�

31,�2022,�and�on�goodwill�and�intangible�assets�of�¥393�million�and�¥318�million,�respectively,�recorded�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�
2023 are mainly included in other expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Research�and�development�expenses�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023�are�as�follows.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Research and development expenses ¥105,354 ¥109,571
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10. Subsidiaries

(1) Major subsidiaries
The�Group’s�consolidated�financial�statements�are�prepared�with�the�consolidation�of�291�subsidiaries.�Major�changes�

for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023�are�as�follows.

Newly consolidated as a result of acquisitions or formations of new companies: 11 companies

Excluded�due�to�liquidation,�sale,�or�other:�26�companies*1

Excluded due to mergers: 11 companies

The�major�subsidiaries�at�March�31,�2023�are�as�follows.

Segment Name Country
Ratio of total  

voting�rights�(%)

Technology Solutions Fujitsu Frontech Limited Japan 100.00
Fujitsu Japan Limited Japan 100.00
Fujitsu Isotec Limited Japan 100.00
Fujitsu�Network�Solutions�Limited Japan 100.00
Fujitsu FSAS Inc. Japan 100.00
Transtron Inc. Japan 51.00
Fujitsu�Telecom�Networks�Limited Japan 100.00
Ridgelinez Limited Japan 100.00
Fujitsu Services Holdings PLC UK 100.00
Fujitsu Technology Solutions (Holding) B.V.*2 Netherlands 100.00
Fujitsu�North�America,�Inc. US 100.00
Fujitsu�Network�Communications,�Inc. US 100.00
Fujitsu Australia Limited Australia 100.00

Fujitsu Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100.00

Ubiquitous Solutions Fujitsu Personal System Limited Japan 100.00
Device Solutions Shinko�Electric�Industries�Co.,�LTD. Japan 50.04

FDK�Corporation Japan 58.90

*1 �The�number�of�companies�excluded�due�to�liquidation,�sale,�or�other�includes�PFU�Ltd.,�which�completed�the�transfer�to�Ricoh�Company,�Ltd.,�and�
Fujitsu�Semiconductor�Memory�Solution�Limited,�which�completed�the�transfer�to�a�new�company�established�by�T�Capital��Partners�Co.,�Ltd.,�in�
September 2022.

*2 The PC business of Fujitsu Technology Solutions (Holding) B.V. falls under Ubiquitous Solutions.

(2) Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control
The�impact�on�capital�surplus�arising�from�changes�in�the�Company’s�ownership�interest�in�subsidiaries�that�do�not�result�

in loss of control is as follows.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Impact�on�capital�surplus�from�equity�transactions�with�non-controlling�interests ¥(339) ¥(32)

(3) Subsidiaries in which the Company holds material non-controlling interests
The�Company�recognizes�material�non-controlling�interests�in�the�following�subsidiaries.�Information�of�companies�for�

which�material�non-controlling�interests�are�recognized�is�as�follows.�Summarized�financial�information�is�based�on�

amounts�before�elimination�of�inter-Group�transactions.

Shinko�Electric�Industries�Co.,�LTD.

(a) Profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interests of the subsidiary during the reporting period

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Profit�or�loss�allocated�to�non-controlling�interests ¥26,353 ¥27,258
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(b) Proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests and accumulated non-controlling interests

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Proportion�of�ownership�interests�held�by�non-controlling�interests 49.95% 49.97%
Accumulated�non-controlling�interests ¥101,115 ¥125,624

(c) Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Dividends�paid�to�non-controlling�interests ¥(2,362) ¥(3,544)

(d) Summarized financial information
(i) Summarized consolidated statement of financial position

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Current assets ¥192,828 ¥226,076

Non-current�assets 125,776 160,295

Total assets ¥318,604 ¥386,371

Current liabilities ¥115,042 ¥133,809

Non-current�liabilities 1,558 1,534

Total liabilities 116,600 135,343

Total equity 202,004 251,028

Total liabilities and equity ¥318,604 ¥386,371

(ii) Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Revenue ¥271,950 ¥286,358

Profit for the year 52,735 54,559

Other comprehensive income 967 1,799

Comprehensive income for the year ¥ 53,702 ¥ 56,358

(iii) Summarized consolidated statement of cash flows

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥ 67,802 ¥117,918

Net cash used in investing activities (41,731) (63,954)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 178 (7,130)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 26,249 46,834

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 68,758 ¥115,592

Note:��The�summarized�financial�information�above�includes�IFRS�adjustments�to�the�consolidated�financial�statements�of�Shinko�Electric�Industries�
Co.,�LTD.,�which�were�prepared�under�JGAAP.
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11. Associates

(1) Major associates
The�major�associates�at�March�31,�2023�are�as�follows.

Name Country

Ratio of total 
voting rights 

(%) Business description

Fujitsu General Limited Japan 44.07 Development,�production,�and�sales�of�air�conditioners�and�infor-
mation�communications�equipment�and�electronic�devices,�as�well�
as provision of services

FLCS�Co.,�Ltd. Japan 20.00 Leasing�and�sales�of�information�processing�equipment,�communi-
cations�equipment,�etc.

Fujitsu Client 
 Computing Limited

Japan 44.00 Development,�design,�manufacturing,�and�sales�of�notebook�com-
puters,�desktop�computers,�etc.

PFU Ltd. Japan 20.00 Development,�manufacture,�and�sales�of�information�systems�and�
ICT-related�equipment,�and�provision�of�related�services

Notes: 1.  Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and the number of companies to which the method applies is 19. 
For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�two�companies�were�added�and�two�companies�were�subtracted.�The�number�of�companies�
�subtracted�includes�SOCIONEXT�INC.,�which�completed�the�transfer�in�November�2022�due�to�its�listing�on�the�Tokyo�Stock�Exchange�
Prime�Market.

� 2.��Fujitsu�Leasing�Co.,�Ltd.,�changed�its�trade�name�to�FLCS�Co.,�Ltd.,�on�April�1,�2022.
� 3.��The�Group�holds�20%�or�more�of�the�JECC�Corporation�shares�issued,�but�because�it�is�a�special�company�operated�through�the�joint�

capital�investment�of�six�companies,�including�domestic�computer�manufacturing�companies,�for�the�promotion�of�the�domestic�data�
processing�industry,�it�is�not�an�equity-method�associate.

(2) Summarized financial information of material equity method associates
Summarized financial information of material equity method associates is as follows.

Fujitsu General Limited

(a) Dividends received from Fujitsu General Limited

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Dividends received from Fujitsu General Limited ¥1,430 ¥1,522

(b) Summarized consolidated financial information
(i) Summarized consolidated statement of financial position

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Current assets ¥185,929 ¥215,981

Non-current�assets 92,076 92,441

Total assets ¥278,005 ¥308,422

Current liabilities ¥117,294 ¥140,707

Non-current�liabilities 27,189 27,962

Total liabilities 144,483 168,669

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 128,980 134,194

Non-controlling�interests 4,542 5,559

Total equity 133,522 139,753

Total liabilities and equity ¥278,005 ¥308,422
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(ii)  Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss and summarized consolidated statement of  

comprehensive income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Revenue ¥284,128 ¥371,019

Profit for the year 6,720 6,797

Other comprehensive income 4,896 1,799

Total comprehensive income for the year ¥ 11,616 ¥  8,596

Note:��The�summarized�financial�information�above�includes�IFRS�adjustments�to�the�consolidated�financial�statements�of�Fujitsu�General�Limited,�
which were prepared under JGAAP.

(c)  Reconciliation of summarized financial information and the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in the 
equity method associate

Reconciliation�of�summarized�financial�information�presented�and�the�carrying�amount�of�the�Group’s�investment�in�the�

equity method associate is as follows.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Equity attributable to owners of the parent ¥128,980 ¥134,194

Ownership interest 44.06% 44.05%

Equity attributable to the Group ¥� 56,829 ¥� 59,109

Unrealized gains and losses ¥(455) ¥� (455)

Carrying�amount�of�the�Group’s�investment�in�the�equity�method�associate ¥� 56,374 ¥� 58,654

Fair�value�of�the�Group’s�investment�in�the�equity�method�associate ¥110,229 ¥172,262

12. Other Investments

Other investments comprise primarily financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity�securities�held�for�strategic�purposes,�i.e.,�for�the�purpose�of�the�maintenance�and�enhancement�of�business�

relationships,�are�designated�as�financial�assets�measured�at�fair�value�through�other�comprehensive�income.

The major equity securities held by the Group and their fair values are as follows.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Socionext Inc. ¥� – ¥49,135
JECC Corporation 37,827 38,367
Palantir Technologies Inc. 18,068 12,132
Fuji�Electric�Co.,�Ltd. 11,251 9,498
DENSO TEN Limited 8,273 9,384

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are derecognized when they are sold. 

Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized through other comprehensive income is reclassified to retained earnings 

when they are derecognized.

The Group conducts sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income in accor-

dance with its policy for strategic shareholdings.

The�fair�value,�cumulative�gain�or�loss�recognized�through�other�comprehensive�income�at�the�selling�date,�and�

dividends,�are�as�follows.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Fair value ¥18,023 ¥16,057
Cumulative gain or loss 8,915 11,265
Dividend income 127 217
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13. Income Taxes

(1) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
(a) Major components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Deferred tax assets
Accrued bonuses ¥ 34,723 ¥ 35,570
Lease liabilities 35,185 30,740
Investments in affiliates and other companies 30,891 28,884
Excess�of�depreciation�and�amortization,�impairment�losses,�etc. 30,608 19,198
Inventories 12,077 12,498
Carryforward of unused tax losses 12,686 5,204

Others 17,960 23,087

Total deferred tax assets 174,130 155,181

Deferred tax liabilities
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (29,450) (37,830)
Right-of-use�assets (39,382) (33,345)
Undistributed�profits�primarily�of�subsidiaries�outside�Japan,�etc. (4,827) (6,776)
Net defined benefit asset (12,622) (6,678)

Others (3,316) (2,854)

Total deferred tax liabilities (89,597) (87,483)

Net deferred tax assets ¥ 84,533 ¥ 67,698

 Net deferred tax assets are included in the following line items on the consolidated statement of financial position.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Deferred tax assets ¥ 99,838 ¥73,310
Deferred tax liabilities (15,305) (5,612)

(b) Changes in net deferred tax assets

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Opening balance ¥68,210 ¥ 84,533
Amounts recognized through profit or loss 19,624 (20,570)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustments (947) 758
Cash flow hedges 74 (187)
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 5,326 (7,788)

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (8,561) 15,931

Total (4,108) 8,714

Exchange differences on translation and others 807 (4,979)

Closing balance ¥84,533 ¥ 67,698
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(c)  Deductible temporary differences and the amount of carryforward of unused tax losses for which deferred 
tax assets are not recognized multiplied by the applicable tax rate

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Deductible temporary differences ¥ 43,538 ¥ 59,698

Carryforward of unused tax losses 136,971 115,736

Total ¥180,509 ¥175,434

Note:��Deductible�temporary�differences�arising�from�investments�in�subsidiaries�and�associates,�when�the�Company�intends�to�hold�the�invest-
ments�continuously,�are�not�included.�The�amount�of�deductible�temporary�differences�arising�from�investments�in�subsidiaries�for�which�
deferred�tax�assets�are�not�recognized�(income�basis)�was�¥538,333�million�at�March�31,�2022,�and�¥663,119�million�at�March�31,�2023.�Also,�
the amounts presented above are calculated by multiplying the amounts of deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused 
tax losses by the applicable tax rate.

 The expiration dates of carryforward of unused tax losses for which deferred tax assets are not recognized are as 

follows.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

1st year ¥  4,245 ¥    579
2nd year 3,754 1,372
3rd year 1,477 2,011
4th year 1,614 2,189

5th year and thereafter 125,881 109,585

Total ¥136,971 ¥115,736

(2) Income tax recognized through profit or loss

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Current tax expense ¥ 46,469 ¥106,441
Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 13,884 8,388
Others* (33,508) 12,182

Total deferred tax expense (19,624) 20,570

Total income tax expense ¥ 26,845 ¥127,011

*��Following�the�decision�to�liquidate�a�North�American�subsidiary,�a�decrease�in�tax�expense�of�¥29,110�million�resulting�from�the�recognition�of�
deductible�temporary�differences�not�previously�recognized�was�recorded�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2022.�In�December�2021,�the�
�Company�decided�to�restructure�its�North�American�subsidiaries,�liquidating�a�portion�of�those�subsidiaries�in�conjunction�with�the�restructur-
ing. The purpose of the restructuring was to pursue synergies by integrating management resources that had been dispersed among multiple 
subsidiaries�in�North�America.�Fujitsu�America,�Inc.�(hereinafter�“FAI”)�transferred�its�service�business�in�the�United�States�and�the�shares�of�
FAI’s�subsidiaries�to�Fujitsu�North�America,�Inc.�(renamed�on�April�1,�2022�and�hereinafter�referred�to�as�“FNAI”),�allowing�the�Company�to�
consolidate its service business in North America. FNAI made a fresh start as a specialized service company for North America upon the 
completion�of�business�integration.�The�Company�will�liquidate�FAI�and�its�subsidiaries,�which�have�completed�their�roles.� 
Also,�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�others�is�mainly�composed�of�a�write-down�of�deferred�tax�assets.

(3) Income tax recognized through other comprehensive income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥� 947 ¥� (758)
Cash flow hedges (74) 187
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income* (854) 11,388

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 8,561 (15,931)

Total income tax expense ¥8,580 ¥� (5,114)

*  The amounts presented above include current tax expense.
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(4) Difference between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate

(%)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Applicable tax rate 30.6% 30.6%
Increase and decrease in income tax rate

Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets (15.5)% 4.7%
Tax credit (2.2)% (1.6)%
Income�(Loss)�from�investments�accounted�for�using�the�equity�method,�net (1.8)% (2.3)%

Others 0.1% 2.8%

Average effective tax rate 11.2% 34.2%

The�Company�and�its�consolidated�subsidiaries�in�Japan�are�primarily�affected�by�corporation,�residents,�and�busi-

ness�taxes.�The�applicable�tax�rate�calculated�based�on�these�rates�was�30.6%.�The�Company’s�consolidated�subsidiar-

ies outside Japan are affected by corporation and other taxes at the domicile of each subsidiary.

14. Inventories

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Finished goods ¥117,518 ¥127,714
Work�in�progress 83,959 84,989 

Raw materials and supplies 108,352 124,305 

Total ¥309,829 ¥337,008

The�amounts�of�write-downs�of�inventories�recognized�as�an�expense�due�to�a�decline�in�profitability�for�the�years�

ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023�were�¥14,907�million�and�¥21,200�million,�respectively.

15. Trade Receivables and Other Receivables

(1) Trade receivables

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Accounts receivable ¥874,923 ¥924,872
Others 7,048 6,102 

Allowance for doubtful  accounts* (3,498) (3,125)

Total ¥878,473 ¥927,849

*��A�reconciliation�of�changes�in�allowance�for�doubtful�accounts�is�disclosed�in�changes�in�allowance�for�doubtful�accounts�(current)�in�Note�“34.�
Financial�Instruments.”

(2) Other receivables

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Accounts�receivable-other ¥60,216 ¥82,468

Others 2,111 2,298 

Total ¥62,327 ¥84,766
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16. Cash and Cash Equivalents

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Cash and deposits ¥341,020 ¥325,901

Short-term�investments 143,000 30,000 

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statement of financial position ¥484,020 ¥355,901

17. Assets Held for Sale

Not applicable.

18. Equity and Other Components of Equity

(1) Share capital
(a) Number of shares authorized
Ordinary shares (no par value)

(Thousands  
of shares)

At March 31
Number of 

shares

2022 500,000
2023 500,000
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(b) Number of shares issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares

(Units:�Thousands�of�shares,� 
Millions of yen)

At March 31
Number of 

shares Share capital

2022 207,001 ¥324,625

Changes during the year – –

2023 207,001 ¥324,625

(c) Treasury stock
Ordinary shares

(Units:�Thousands�of�shares,� 
Millions of yen)

At March 31
Number of 

shares Amount

2022 10,488 ¥128,897
Acquisitions* 8,278 150,103
Disposals (0) (2)

Share-based�payment�transactions (105) (1,296)

2023 18,661 ¥277,702

*�Primarily,�the�acquisitions�were�conducted�pursuant�to�a�resolution�of�the�Board�of�Directors’�meeting�held�on�April�28,�2022.

(2) Capital surplus and retained earnings
Under�the�Japanese�Companies�Act,�the�entire�amount�paid�for�new�shares�is�required�to�be�designated�as�common�

stock,�in�principle.�However,�a�company�may�designate�a�maximum�of�50%�of�the�amount�of�the�new�shares�as�capital�

reserve,�which�is�included�in�capital�surplus.�The�Companies�Act�also�requires�that�an�amount�equal�to�10%�of�dividends�

paid�must�be�appropriated�as�a�legal�reserve,�which�is�included�in�retained�earnings,�or�as�a�capital�reserve,�which�is�

included�in�capital�surplus,�until�the�total�amounts�of�legal�reserve�and�capital�reserve�reach�25%�of�share�capital.�The�

Companies�Act�allows�legal�reserve,�capital�reserve,�other�capital�surplus,�and�other�retained�earnings�to�be�transferred�

among�the�accounts�under�certain�conditions�upon�resolution�of�the�shareholders’�meeting.

Capital surplus in the consolidated financial statements includes capital reserve and other capital surplus in the 

Company’s�stand-alone�financial�statements.�Also,�retained�earnings�in�the�consolidated�financial�statements�include�

legal�reserve�and�other�retained�earnings�in�the�Company’s�stand-alone�financial�statements.�The�distributable�amount�

as�dividends�is�to�be�calculated�in�compliance�with�the�Companies�Act�and�based�on�the�Company’s�stand-alone�finan-

cial statements prepared in accordance with JGAAP.
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(3) Other components of equity and changes in other comprehensive income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Opening balance ¥ (6,193) ¥ 10,196
Other comprehensive income 16,389 (2,925)

Others – –

Closing balance ¥  10,196 ¥ 7,271

Cash flow hedges
Opening balance ¥� (125) ¥� (210)
Other comprehensive income (85) 206

Others – –

Closing balance ¥� (210) ¥� (4)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Opening balance ¥ 60,934 ¥ 53,522
Other comprehensive income (512) 17,767

Others (6,900) (7,751)

Closing balance ¥ 53,522 ¥ 63,538

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Opening balance ¥� – ¥� –
Other comprehensive income 32,828 (41,901)

Others* (32,828) 41,901

Closing balance ¥� – ¥� –

Total other components of equity
Opening balance ¥ 54,616 ¥ 63,508
Other comprehensive income 48,620 (26,853)

Others (39,728) 34,150

Closing balance ¥ 63,508 ¥ 70,805

*��Remeasurements�of�the�net�defined�benefit�liability�or�asset�(actuarial�gains�and�losses)�are�recognized,�after�adjusting�for�tax�effects,�under�
other comprehensive income and immediately reflected in retained earnings.

(4) Breakdown of each item of other comprehensive income included in non-controlling interests

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥1,079 ¥  875
Cash flow hedges (86) 215
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1 (3)

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 339 245

Other comprehensive income ¥1,333 ¥1,332
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(5) Income tax expense relating to each item of other comprehensive income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Gains (losses) during the year ¥15,862 ¥� 2,659

Reclassification to profit or loss (194) (6,188)

Amount before related income tax expense 15,668 (3,529)

Income tax expense (947) 758

Amount after related income tax expense ¥14,721 ¥� (2,771)

Cash flow hedges
Gains (losses) during the year ¥�(2,160) ¥� (1,999)

Reclassification to profit or loss 1,913 2,598

Amount before related income tax expense (247) 599

Income tax expense 74 (187)

Amount after related income tax expense ¥� (173) ¥� 412

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Gains (losses) during the year ¥�(1,148) ¥ 29,158

Amount before related income tax expense (1,148) 29,158

Income tax expense 854 (11,388)

Amount after related income tax expense ¥� (294) ¥ 17,770

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

Gains (losses) during the year ¥41,562 ¥(57,715)

Amount before related income tax expense 41,562 (57,715)

Income tax expense (8,561) 15,931

Amount after related income tax expense ¥33,001 ¥(41,784)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using the equity method

Gains (losses) during the year ¥ 2,685 ¥� 619

Reclassification to profit or loss 13 233

Amount after related income tax expense ¥ 2,698 ¥� 852

Total other comprehensive income

Amount after related income tax expense ¥49,953 ¥(25,521)

19. Dividends

Year�ended�March�31,�2022

(1) Dividends paid

Resolution Class of shares
Total dividends 

(Millions of yen)
Source of 
dividends

Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�May�27,�2021 Ordinary shares ¥19,899

Retained 
earnings ¥100 March�31,�2021 June�7,�2021

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�October�27,�2021 Ordinary shares ¥21,781

Retained 
earnings ¥110

September�30,�
2021

November�30,�
2021

(2)  Among the dividends whose record date falls within the year ended March 31, 2022, those whose effective 
date falls within the year ended March 31, 2023

Resolution Class of shares
Total dividends 

(Millions of yen)
Source of 
dividends

Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�May�26,�2022 Ordinary shares ¥21,616

Retained 
earnings ¥110 March�31,�2022 June�6,�2022
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Year�ended�March�31,�2023

(1) Dividends paid

Resolution Class of shares
Total dividends 

(Millions of yen)
Source of 
dividends

Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�May�26,�2022 Ordinary shares ¥21,616

Retained 
earnings ¥110 March�31,�2022 June�6,�2022

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�October�27,�2022 Ordinary shares ¥23,594

Retained 
earnings ¥120

September�30,�
2022

November�30,�
2022

(2)  Among the dividends whose record date falls within the year ended March 31, 2023, those whose effective 
date falls within the year ending March 31, 2024

Resolution Class of shares
Total dividends 

(Millions of yen)
Source of 
dividends

Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Board�of�Directors’�meeting�
on�May�25,�2023 Ordinary shares ¥22,600

Retained 
earnings ¥120 March�31,�2023 June�5,�2023

20. Bonds, Borrowings, and Lease Liabilities

Breakdown of interest-bearing loans

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023
Average interest 

rate (2022)*1
Average interest 

rate (2023)*1 Repayment due date

Current portion of bonds*2 ¥� 9,998 ¥� – – – –

Short-term�borrowings 84,925 58,461 0.70% 2.86% –

Current�portion�of�long-term�borrowings 25,004 4 0.36% 0.06% –

Long-term�borrowings 83 2,080 2.49% 5.65%
April�1,�2024– 
February�1,�2027

Lease liabilities (current) 48,839 45,112 0.93% 1.16% –

Lease�liabilities�(non-current) 116,470 105,518 1.43% 1.66%
April�4,�2024–
August�28,�2081

Total ¥285,319 ¥211,175

Short-term�borrowings,�current�portion�of�
long-term�debt�and�lease�liabilities�
(current) ¥168,766 ¥103,577

Long-term�debt�and�lease�liabilities�
(non-current) ¥116,553 ¥107,598

*1� �Average�interest�rates�are�the�weighted�average�interest�rates�for�the�balance�at�March�31,�2022�and�2023.
*2� �A�breakdown�of�the�bonds�is�presented�below.�Interest�rates�in�total�are�the�weighted�average�interest�rates�for�the�total�face�value�of�the�bonds.

At March 31

(Millions of yen)

Company name/Issue Issue date 2022 2023 Interest�rate(%) Collateral Maturity

The Company
Thirty-eighth�Series�
Unsecured Straight 
Bonds July�22,�2015 ¥9,998 ¥� – 0.533 None July�22,�2022

Total ¥9,998 ¥� – –
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21. Post-Employment Benefits

(1) Outline of the retirement benefit plan adopted
The�Group�provides�defined�benefit�plans,�as�part�of�retirement�benefit�plans,�in�countries�such�as�Japan,�the�UK,�and�

Germany.�In�Japan,�some�of�those�plans�are�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plans.�The�Group�also�provides�defined�con-

tribution�plans�in�countries�such�as�the�UK,�Japan,�and�Germany.�In�addition,�the�Company�and�some�subsidiaries�in�Japan�

have retirement benefit trusts.

The major retirement benefit plans in Japan are funded pension plans and retirement benefit plans operated by the 

Fujitsu Corporate Pension Fund that is participated by the Company and some subsidiaries in Japan. The Fujitsu Corpo-

rate�Pension�Fund�is�a�special�corporation�approved�by�the�Minister�of�Health,�Labour�and�Welfare,�and�operated�in�

accordance with the Defined Benefit Corporate Pension Plan Act. There is a board of representatives as a legislative 

arm and a board of directors as an executive arm in the Fujitsu Corporate Pension Fund. The representatives and direc-

tors are split evenly with one half selected by the Company and certain subsidiaries in Japan and the other half elected 

by the employees through mutual vote.

The Fujitsu Corporate Pension Fund provides plans contributed by the companies and a plan contributed by 

employees. The benefits are determined by the accumulated salary in the participation period and the length of par-

ticipation�in�the�plan�as�well�as�other�factors.�The�period�of�benefit�payment�is�20�years,�primarily�from�age�60�to�80,�

while some participants are guaranteed lifetime benefits. There are a retirement benefit plan for employees who joined 

the companies in or before March 1999 and a retirement benefit plan for employees who joined in or after April 1999. 

The plan for employees who joined in or after April 1999 comprises a cash balance plan and a defined contribution plan. 

The�benefits�are�determined�by�the�number�of�accumulated�points,�reflecting�the�degree�of�employee�contributions�to�

the�Company,�including�years�of�service,�and�other�factors.�In�addition,�the�benefit�amount�of�the�cash�balance�plan�is�

determined�based�also�on�the�market�interest�rate�during�the�period�of�participation�in�the�plan.

For the pension plans contributed by the companies and the retirement benefit plan for employees who had joined 

the�companies�in�or�before�March�1999,�on�June�21,�2018,�the�Company�transferred�currently�serving�employees�to�a�

risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan�(for�corporate�pension�plans�established�in�accordance�with�the�Defined�Benefit�

Corporate�Pension�Plan�Act�[2001:50],�as�stipulated�by�Article�1,�Paragraph�3�of�the�Implementation�Regulations�for�the�

Defined�Benefit�Corporate�Pension�Plan�Act�[2002,�MHLW,�No.�22]).�In�conjunction�with�this,�the�Company�revised�its�

pension�asset�portfolio�with�a�view�to�reducing�asset�management�risk,�aiming�to�achieve�a�more�sustainable�plan.�In�

addition,�the�Company�provides�a�conventional�defined�benefit�plan�(a�non-risk-sharing,�defined�benefit�corporate�pen-

sion plan) for the pension plan contributed by employees and the beneficiaries.

The�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan�introduced�by�the�Company�shares�the�risk�between�the�company�and�plan�

participants.�The�company�accepts�a�certain�level�of�risk�by�making�a�fixed�contribution,�including�a�portion�to�supple-

ment the shortfall in plan assets at the time of the transfer to the plan (special contributions) and a portion for a 

reserve�for�risk�(risk�reserve�contribution)�determined�in�agreement�between�the�company�and�plan�participants.�The�

plan�participants�also�accept�a�certain�level�of�risk,�as�their�benefits�will�be�adjusted�if�the�balance�between�plan�assets�

and�plan�obligations�becomes�skewed.�Under�the�conventional�defined�benefit�plan,�the�Company�was�required�to�

make�additional�contributions�if�a�shortfall�arose�in�the�reserve.�In�a�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan,�however,�the�

potential�risks�that�could�occur�in�the�future�are�measured�in�advance,�and�a�risk�reserve�contribution�is�made�by�the�

company as a level contribution within the scope agreed by the company and plan participants. The total amount cor-

responding to special contributions stipulated by the fund terms is contributed in equal installments over three years 

from�the�date�of�the�shift�to�the�new�plan.�At�the�same�time,�an�amount�corresponding�to�the�risk�reserve�contribution�

is�contributed�at�a�constant�rate�over�four�years�from�the�date�of�the�shift�to�the�new�plan,�with�the�amount�being�

determined by the amount of potential future shortfalls assessed at the time of the shift. Once these contributions are 

completed,�there�will�be�no�additional�contributions.�In�terms�of�the�accounting�treatment�for�retirement�benefits,�for�

the�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan,�the�portion�for�which�the�company�effectively�has�no�further�obligation�for�

additional�contributions�is�classified�as�a�defined�contribution�plan.�Accordingly,�the�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan�

introduced by the Group is classified as a defined contribution plan.
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In�addition,�some�subsidiaries�in�Japan�have�provided�defined�benefit�corporate�pension�plans�managed�by�the�com-

panies�based�on�pension�terms�agreed�with�the�employees,�and�certain�subsidiaries�also�have�an�internal�reserve-type�

retirement lump sum grant pension plan.

The major employment benefit plans provided outside Japan are the defined benefit plans provided by Fujitsu Ser-

vices�Holdings�PLC�(including�its�consolidated�subsidiaries,�“FS”)�located�in�the�UK,�and�Fujitsu�Technology�Solutions�

(Holding)�B.V.�(including�its�consolidated�subsidiaries,�“FTS”)�located�in�Germany.�The�defined�benefit�plan�of�FS�is�oper-

ated by the board of trustees composed of representatives of the company and the employees and independent out-

side�specialists,�in�conformity�with�the�guideline�issued�by�the�UK�Pensions�Regulator.�Under�FS’�defined�benefit�plan,�

the�benefits�are�based�on�the�amount�of�final�salary,�the�length�of�participation�in�the�plan�and�the�price�index,�and�the�

benefits are guaranteed throughout the lifetime of the participants. FS closed new participation to the funded defined 

benefit plan in 2000 and instead provided a defined contribution plan for employees that joined the company thereaf-

ter.�In�2010,�for�the�employees�that�participated�in�the�defined�benefit�plan,�FS�started�to�transfer�the�benefits�that�

correspond�to�future�service�to�the�defined�contribution�plan,�which�was�completed�in�2011.�In�March�2013,�a�special�

contribution�of�¥114,360�million�was�made�to�the�pension�scheme�to�make�up�a�deficit�(defined�benefit�obligation�less�

plan�assets)�in�the�defined�benefit�plan.�In�addition,�the�investment�portfolio�of�plan�assets�was�shifted�primarily�toward�

bonds�to�match�the�defined�benefit�obligation.�FTS�used�to�provide�an�unfunded�defined�benefit�plan,�which�was�

closed�for�new�participation�in�1999.�Since�then,�a�defined�contribution�plan�has�been�provided�for�employees�to�partici-

pate in.

(2) Defined benefit plans
(a) Risks related to the defined benefit plans
The�Group’s�defined�benefit�plans�are�exposed�to�the�following�risks.

(i) Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to 

market�yields�at�the�end�of�the�reporting�periods�on�high-quality�corporate�bonds.�If�the�return�on�asset�is�below�this�

rate,�it�worsens�the�funded�status�and�thus�risks�reducing�equity.�Plan�assets�may�be�affected�by�the�volatility�of�return�

on�assets�in�the�short�term.�The�asset�allocation�of�plan�assets�is�regularly�reviewed�to�ensure�long-term�return�and�

future payment of pensions and retirement benefits.

(ii) Interest risk

A�decrease�in�the�interest�of�high-quality�corporate�bonds�increases�the�present�value�of�the�defined�benefit�obligation.�

This�worsens�the�funded�status�and�thus�risks�reducing�equity.

(iii) Longevity risk

An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants increases the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

This�worsens�thefunded�status�and�thus�risks�reducing�equity.

(iv) Inflation risk

Some�benefits�in�the�plans�for�the�UK�and�Germany�are�linked�to�the�price�index.�Higher�inflation�increases�the�present�

value�of�the�defined�benefit�obligation.�This�worsens�the�funded�status�and�thus�risks�reducing�equity.
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(b) Amounts in the financial statements
(i)  Reconciliation for the closing balance of the defined benefit obligation and plan assets and net defined benefit 

liability (asset) recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Present value of defined benefit obligation ¥(1,577,660) ¥(1,320,257)

Fair value of plan assets 1,601,231 1,307,010

Effect of asset ceiling – (258)

Net defined benefit liability (asset) recognized on the consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥� 23,571 ¥� (13,505)

Retirement benefit assets ¥� 139,543 ¥� 81,883

Retirement benefit liabilities (115,972) (95,388)

Net defined benefit liability (asset) recognized on the consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥� 23,571 ¥� (13,505)

At�March�31,�2022

The�present�value�of�the�defined�benefit�obligation�at�March�31,�2022�comprises�–¥663,838�million�for�plans�in�Japan�

and�–¥913,822�million�for�plans�outside�Japan,�while�the�fair�value�of�plan�assets�comprises�¥663,486�million�for�plans�in�

Japan�and�¥937,745�million�for�plans�outside�Japan.

At�March�31,�2023

The�present�value�of�the�defined�benefit�obligation�at�March�31,�2023�comprises�–¥610,010�million�for�plans�in�Japan�and�

–¥710,247�million�for�plans�outside�Japan,�while�the�fair�value�of�plan�assets�comprises�¥643,576�million�for�plans�in�Japan�

and�¥663,434�million�for�plans�outside�Japan.”

The adjustment amount due to the asset ceiling is defined as the amount adjusted due to the partial restriction of 

an�amount�of�assets�recognized�under�IAS�19�Employee�Benefits,�where�the�excess�amount�in�cases�in�which�accumu-

lated plan assets exceed the present value of defined benefit plan liabilities is recognized as an asset related to retire-

ment benefits.

(ii) Components of defined benefit costs

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Current service cost (net of contribution from plan participants) ¥12,254 ¥11,663
Net interest 211 (368)

Past service cost and gains and losses arising from settlements (2,355) (106)

Total ¥10,110 ¥11,189

Current service cost (net of contribution from plan participants) includes defined benefit costs related to 

�multi-employer�plans.
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(iii) Reconciliation for beginning and ending balances of the defined benefit obligation and plan assets

(Millions of yen)

Present value of defined benefit obligation 2022 2023

Opening balance ¥(1,604,732) ¥(1,577,660)
Current service cost (18,844) (17,829)
Interest expense (22,439) (29,460)
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset)

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 58,965 265,680
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (37,930) (29,305)

Past service cost and gains and losses arising from settlements 2,355 106
Payments from the plan

Payments from the employer 7,068 8,372
Payments from plan assets 74,584 77,007
Payments in respect of settlements 14,161 –

Effects of business combinations and disposals 270 14,445

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (51,118) (31,613)

Closing balance ¥(1,577,660) ¥(1,320,257)

(Millions of yen)

Fair value of plan assets 2022 2023

Opening balance ¥1,565,535 ¥1,601,231
Interest income 22,228 29,828
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset)

Return�on�plan�assets,�excluding�amounts�included�in�interest�income 21,737 (294,839)
Contributions to the plan

Contributions by the employer 22,199 21,984
Contributions by the plan participants 6,590 6,166

Payments from the plan
Payments from plan assets (74,584) (77,007)
Payments in respect of settlements (14,161) –

Effects of business combinations and disposals (33) (9,499)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 51,720 29,146

Closing balance ¥1,601,231 ¥1,307,010

(iv) Components of fair value of plan assets

(Millions of 
yen)

2022 2023

Market�price�in�an�active�market Market�price�in�an�active�market

At March 31 Quoted Unquoted Quoted Unquoted

Cash and cash equivalents ¥� 46,080 ¥� – ¥� 38,844 ¥� –

Equity instruments
Japan 46,738 11,270 49,945 11,747
Outside Japan 17,867 94,849 21,797 81,814

Debt instruments
Japan 4,055 138,093 4,714 136,837
Outside Japan 567,977 140,530 295,922 186,058

General accounts of life insurance companies - 263,328 – 265,372
Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 2,445 207,035 – 152,265

Others 3,964 57,000 1,861 59,834

Total ¥689,126 ¥912,105 ¥413,083 ¥893,927

LDI�represents�a�portfolio�of�investments�that�primarily�consists�of�bonds�and�swap�instruments,�designated�to�match�

the plan assets with a change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from a change in indices 

such as interest rates and inflation.
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(v) Significant actuarial assumptions used in calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2022 2023

At March 31 Plans in Japan
Plans outside 

Japan*1 Plans in Japan
Plans outside 

Japan*1

Discount rate 0.66% 2.75% 1.07% 4.90%

Life expectancy*2 23.6 years 23.0 years 23.6 years 22.9 years

Inflation rate – 3.70% – 3.30%

*1� �Assumptions�for�plans�outside�Japan�represent�the�assumptions�for�the�defined�benefit�plan�provided�by�a�UK�subsidiary.
*2  Life expectancy is based on a male currently at age 60 for plans in Japan and on a male currently at age 65 for plans outside Japan.

(c) Amount, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows
(i) Sensitivity analysis for significant actuarial assumptions

The sensitivity analysis below shows the effect on the defined benefit obligation when one of the significant actuarial 

assumptions�changes�reasonably�while�holding�all�other�assumptions�constant.�However,�the�change�in�assumptions�

would�not�necessarily�occur�in�isolation�from�one�another.�In�addition,�since�the�defined�benefit�plan�of�a�UK�subsidiary,�

because�the�investments�in�the�plan�assets�are�managed�matching�the�defined�benefit�obligation,�the�impact�on�the�

funded status arising from changes in the discount rate will be limited.A negative amount represents a decrease of the 

defined benefit obligation while a positive amount represents an increase of the defined benefit obligation.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Discount rate 0.1%�increase ¥(20,423) ¥(14,598)

0.1%�decrease 20,703 14,850

Life expectancy 1 year increase 44,044 38,893

Inflation rate 0.1%�increase 7,796 5,277

0.1%�decrease (7,474) (5,352)

(ii) Funding and performance policy of plan assets

The�Group�funds�the�defined�benefit�plans,�taking�into�consideration�various�factors�such�as�the�Company’s�financial�

condition,�funded�status�of�the�plan�assets,�and�actuarial�calculations.�The�Fujitsu�Corporate�Pension�Fund�regularly�

reviews�the�amount�of�contributions,�for�example,�by�conducting�an�actuarial�review�every�five�years�in�accordance�with�

the�Defined-�Benefit�Corporate�Pension�Plan�Act.

The�Group�aims�to�increase�the�value�of�the�plan�assets�by�taking�an�acceptable�range�of�risks�to�ensure�benefits�to�

pensioners (including deferred pensioners).

For�management�of�the�plan�assets�of�the�Fujitsu�Corporate�Pension�Fund,�asset�management�meetings�are�

�regularly�held,�participated�by�committee�members�elected�from�representatives�and�directors�of�the�fund�as�well�as�

the�Company’s�representatives�from�the�finance�and�HR�departments.�Risks�are�reduced�by�considering�returns�and�

risks�of�the�investment�assets�and�setting�out�the�basic�allocation�of�investment�assets�as�well�as�adjusting�rules�

(regarding the range of changes). The basic allocation of investment assets and the adjustment of rules are reviewed 

regularly,�corresponding�to�the�market�environment�and�any�changes�in�the�funded�status,�so�that�the�best�investment�

balance is ensured.

FS�invests�in�a�portfolio�that�primarily�consists�of�bonds�and�swap�instruments,�designated�to�match�the�plan�assets�

with a change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from a change in indices such as interest 

rates�and�inflation,�to�reduce�market�volatility�risk.

(iii) Expected contributions to defined benefit plans

The�Group�expects�contributions�by�the�employer�of�¥21,651�million�to�defined�benefit�plans�for�the�year�ending�March�

31,�2024.
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(iv) Maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation

At March 31 2022 2023

Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation 14.0 years 13.5 years

(3) Defined contribution plans and public plans

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Expenses for defined contribution plans ¥20,980 ¥21,020

Expenses�for�risk-sharing�corporate�pension�plan 27,413 20,173

Expenses for public plans 75,733 75,689

In�addition�to�the�standard�contribution,�risk�reserve�contributions�of�¥4,955�million�and�¥417�million�were�recorded�for�

the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�respectively.

22. Cash Flow Information

(1) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

(Millions of yen)

Bonds and 
Borrowings

Short-term�
borrowings Lease liabilities Total

Balance�at�April�1,�2021 ¥ 88,060 ¥ 68,248 ¥160,017 ¥ 316,325
Changes arising from cash flows (53,288) 15,668 (62,328) (99,948)
Non-cash�changes

Acquisition or loss of control 299 – (1,207) (908)
Acquisition�of�right-of-use�assets – – 70,070 70,070
Decrease�due�to�cancellation,�etc. – – (7,208) (7,208)
Exchange differences on translation 5 3,119 5,097 8,221

Others 9 (2,110) 868 (1,233)

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 ¥ 35,085 ¥ 84,925 ¥165,309 ¥285,319

Changes arising from cash flows (33,030) (25,502) (58,566) (117,098)
Non-cash�changes

Acquisition or loss of control – – (2,663) (2,663)
Acquisition�of�right-of-use�assets – – 46,380 46,380
Decrease�due�to�cancellation,�etc. – – (3,211) (3,211)
Exchange differences on translation 27 890 2,159 3,076

Others 2 (1,852) 1,222 (628)

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥� 2,084 ¥ 58,461 ¥150,630 ¥ 211,175

(2) Other
For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2022

Other�cash�flows�from�operating�activities�included�¥64,382�million�of�an�increase�in�payables�related�to�the�extra�

retirement�payments�as�part�of�expansion�of�the�“Self-Produce�Support�System.”

For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023

Other�cash�flows�from�operating�activities�included�¥64,335�million�of�a�decrease�in�payables�related�to�the�extra��retirement�

payments�as�part�of�expansion�of�the�“Self-Produce�Support�System”�recored�in�the�fical�year�ended�March�31,�2022.

“Net�proceeds�from�sale�of�subsidiaries,�equity�method�associates�and�businesses”�within�cash�flows�from�investing�

�activities�includes�¥90,584�million�as�consideration�for�the�transfer�of�80%�of�the�shares�of�the�Company’s�consolidated�

subsidiary�PFU�Limited�(hereinafter�“PFU”)�to�Ricoh�Company,�Ltd.�(hereinafter�“Ricoh”),�on�September�1,�2022,�and�

¥42,060�million�as�the�transferred�amount�of�cash�and�cash�equivalents�held�by�PFU.
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23. Provisions

(Millions of yen)

Provision for 
restructuring

Provision for 
product 

warranties

Provision for 
loss on orders 

received

Asset 
 retirement 
obligation Others Total

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 ¥ 6,880 ¥ 8,455 ¥ 18,736 ¥19,233 ¥10,963 ¥64,267
Additional provisions made during 
the year 1,279 2,585 5,760 1,671 1,157 12,452

Amounts used during the year (3,076) (3,241) (12,073) (1,800) (2,422) (22,612)

Change in scope of consolidation – – – (213) (3) (216)

Exchange differences on translation 
and others 344 214 305 225 690 1,778

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥ 5,427 ¥ 8,013 ¥ 12,728 ¥19,116 ¥10,385 ¥55,669

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Current liabilities ¥42,851 ¥35,015

Non-current�liabilities 21,416 20,654

Total ¥64,267 ¥55,669

Provision for restructuring

A provision is recognized at the estimated costs of restructuring such as personnel rationalization and disposal of busi-

ness,�only�when�the�Group�has�a�detailed�formal�plan�and�starts�to�implement�the�plan�or�announces�its�main�features�

to those affected by the plan. Most of the expenditure is expected within 1 or 2 years.

Provision for product warranties

A provision for product warranties is recognized at the time of sales of the products at an amount that represents the 

estimated�cost,�based�on�past�experience,�to�repair�or�exchange�certain�products�within�the�warranty�period.�Most�of�

the expenditure is expected within 5 years.

Provision for loss on orders received

The�account�name�"Provision�for�contract�losses"�presented�for�the�previous�fiscal�year�is�changed�to�“Provision�for�loss�

on�orders�received”�from�the�current�fiscal�year,�please�refer�to�Note�“3.�Significant�Accounting�Policies.”�A�provision�is�

recognized�for�losses�on�service�contracts�in�which�the�Company�undertakes�an�obligation�to�provide��deliverables,�such�

as�turnkey�contracts,�if�it�is�probable�that�the�total�estimated�project�costs�exceed�the�total�estimated�project�revenues.�

The timing of the expenditure is affected by future progress of the project and other factors.

Asset retirement obligation

A�provision�is�made�mainly�for�the�estimated�cost�of�restoring�the�leased�site�at�the�agreement�of�the�lease,�in�accor-

dance with the laws or contracts. The timing of the expenditure is affected by future business plans and other factors.

Provisions�for�environmental�measures�are�included�in�“Others.”
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24. Trade Payables and Other Payables

(1) Trade payables

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Accounts payable ¥464,795 ¥458,280

Others 5,442 5,450

Total ¥470,237 ¥463,730

(2) Other payables

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Accrued expenses ¥269,261 ¥286,295

Accounts�payable—other 134,612 81,104

Total ¥403,873 ¥367,399

25. Revenue

(1) Classification of revenue
The Group classifies its revenue by region based on the location of its customers. The relationship between revenue 

categorized by region and reportable segments is as follows.

Furthermore,�the�Group�has�revised�its�regional�classification�from�the�current�fiscal�year.�Under�the�new�presenta-

tion,�regions�previously�classified�as�NWE�(Northern�&�Western�Europe),�CEE�(Central�&�Eastern�Europe),�and�European�

regions�outside�of�NWE�and�CEE�that�were�included�in�Others�are�now�combined�as�“Europe”;�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�

Korea,�previously�included�in�Asia,�are�now�combined�as�“East�Asia”;�and�countries�and�regions�previously�included�in�

Asia�other�than�China,�Taiwan,�and�South�Korea�are�now�combined�with�Oceania�as�“Asia�Pacific.”�Comparative�informa-

tion for the previous fiscal year reflects the revised classification.

The�main�countries�belonging�to�the�Americas�are�the�United�States�and�Canada,�as�before.

Year�ended�March�31,�2022

(Millions of yen)

Revenue from external customers
Technology 

Solutions
Ubiquitous 

Solutions
Device 

Solutions Total

Japan ¥2,110,392 ¥ 83,502 ¥ 75,998 ¥2,269,892
Europe 546,132 102,400 13,141 661,673
Americas 188,380 – 50,523 238,903
APAC 141,546 40 104,916 246,502

East Asia 42,839 1,008 119,816 163,663

Others 6,149 – 57 6,206

Total ¥3,035,438 ¥186,950 ¥364,451 ¥3,586,839
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Year�ended�March�31,�2023

(Millions of yen)

Revenue from external customers
Technology 

Solutions
Ubiquitous 

Solutions
Device 

Solutions Total

Japan ¥2,111,048 ¥102,533 ¥76,704 ¥2,290,285
Europe 570,325 83,952 12,187 666,464
Americas 239,441 173 56,603 296,217
APAC 179,918 204 102,608 282,730

East Asia 48,697 1,750 120,182 170,629

Others 7,381 – 61 7,442

Total ¥3,156,810 ¥188,612 ¥368,345 ¥3,713,767

Notes:� 1.� �Includes�revenues�arising�from�leases�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023�because�they�are�immaterial�for�the�Group.
� 2.��Others�includes�the�Middle�East,�and�Africa.

(2) Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract assets are primarily unbilled trade receivables related to revenue recognized based on measurement of prog-

ress�toward�complete�fulfillment�of�performance�obligations�under�service�contracts�in�which�the�Company�undertakes�

an�obligation�to�provide�deliverables,�such�as�turnkey�contracts.�These�are�transferred�to�trade�receivables�when�the�

customer accepts the deliverables.

Contract liabilities primarily consist of prepayments received from customers under contracts to provide them with 

ongoing�services.�The�amounts�of�revenue�recognized�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�included�in�the�

balances�of�contract�liabilities�at�April�1,�2021�and�2022�are�¥107,445�million�and�¥114,423�million,�respectively.

(3) Performance obligations
For details of the performance obligations for products and services in each reportable segment and the measurement 

method�thereof,�please�refer�to�Note�“3.�Significant�Accounting�Policies.”

The�payment�terms�for�respective�performance�obligations�are�mainly�within�one�year,�and�there�are�no�significant�

transactions�with�long-term�prepayment�or�post-payment�terms.

Transaction�prices�allocated�to�unsatisfied�(or�partially�unsatisfied)�performance�obligations�at�March�31,�2022�

totaled�¥1,827,263�million.�Of�this�amount,�¥1,223,019�million�was�expected�to�be�recognized�as�earnings�within�one�year.

Transaction�prices�allocated�to�unsatisfied�(or�partially�unsatisfied)�performance�obligations�at�March�31,�2023�

totaled�¥1,769,824�million.�Of�this�amount,�¥1,126,491�million�is�expected�to�be�recognized�as�earnings�within�one�year.

The�Group�does�not�apply�the�practical�expedient�in�IFRS�15�“Revenue�from�Contracts�with�Customers,”�Paragraph�

121,�and�the�above�performance�obligations�amount�includes�the�performance�obligations�included�as�components�of�

contracts�that�have�an�original�expected�duration�of�one�year�or�less.�In�addition,�any�consideration�from�contracts�with�

customers that is not included in the transaction price is immaterial for the Group.
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26. Other Income, Expenses and Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net

For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2022

The�Group�has�included�gain�on�business�transfer�of�¥12,451million,�income�on�government�grants�of�¥12,210�million,�

and�gain�on�sales�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�of�¥5,749�million�under�other�income.

The�main�components�of�other�expenses�are�extra�retirement�payments�of�¥64,382�million�as�part�of�expansion�of�

the�“Self-Produce�Support�System.”�The�“Self-Produce�Support�System”�is�a�system�to�provide�a�certain�level�of�support�

to�employees�seeking�to�take�on�challenges�and�develop�a�more�active�role�in�a�new�career�outside�the�Group.�Being�

one�of�the�measures�the�Group�has�taken�in�the�current�fiscal�year�to�accelerate�transformation�toward�becoming�a�

digital�transformation�company,�the�aforesaid�initiative�has�been�expanded�for�a�limited�period�only.�The�expenses�are�

included in the Technology Solutions segment.

In�addition�to�the�above,�the�Group�has�included�impairment�losses�of�¥4,354�million,�loss�on�disposal�of�property,�

plant�and�equipment�of�¥2,480�million,�and�facility�relocation�and�disposal�expenses�of�¥2,453�million�under�other�

expenses.

For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023

The main components of other income are as follows.

The�Group�has�included�a�gain�of�¥30,821�million�related�to�the�transfer�of�80%�of�the�shares�of�PFU�Limited�(herein-

after�referred�to�as�“PFU”),�a�consolidated�subsidiary�of�the�Company,�to�Ricoh�Company,�Ltd.�on�September�1,�2022.�

The gain is included in Technology Solutions segment.

The�Group�has�also�included�income�on�government�grants�of�¥21,441�million�for�mainly�research�and�development�

of�Post-5G/Beyond-5G�as�grants�related�to�income.�The�income�is�included�in�Technology�Solutions�segment.

In�addition�to�the�above,�the�Group�has�included�gain�on�sales�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�of�¥15,903�million�

under other income.

The�Group�has�included�loss�on�disposal�of�property,�plant�and�equipment�of�¥7,113�million,�restructuring�expenses�

of�¥3,785�million�and�facility�relocation�and�disposal�expenses�of�¥2,597�million�under�other�expenses.

The�main�component�of�income�from�investments�accounted�for�using�the�equity�method,�net�is�a�gain�of�¥7,705�

million on fair value valuation as PFU become an associate of the Company by the equity method.

Details�of�the�share�transfer�of�PFU�are�described�in�the�“7.�Business�Combinations,�etc.�1.�Business�Divestitures.”

27. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

(1) Cash-generating unit (CGU)
In�principle,�a�cash-generating�unit�(CGU)�is�identified�for�business-use�assets�based�on�the�units�that�the�management�uses�to�
make�decisions.
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(2) Impairment losses
A�breakdown�of�assets�for�which�impairment�losses�were�recognized�is�as�follows.�These�impairment�losses�are�mainly�

included�in�“other�expenses”�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�profit�or�loss.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Property,�plant�and�equipment
Land ¥� 268 ¥ 28
Buildings 691 31
Machinery�and�equipment,�tools,�fixtures�and�fittings 695 113

Construction in progress 73 30

Total�property,�plant�and�equipment 1,727 202
Goodwill 425 393

Intangible assets

Software 1,970 22

Others 232 296

Total intangible assets 2,202 318

Total impairment losses ¥4,354 ¥913

For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2022

For�software,�the�carrying�amounts�of�those�relevant�CGUs�were�written�down�to�the�recoverable�amount�due�to�the�

decline in profitability and other factors.

The�breakdown�of�impairment�losses�by�segment�is�¥2,889�million�for�Technology�Solutions,�and�¥1,465�million�for�

Device Solutions.

For�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023

For�goodwill,�the�carrying�amounts�of�those�relevant�CGUs�were�written�down�to�the�recoverable�amount�due�to�busi-

ness downsizing and withdrawal and other factors.

The�breakdown�of�impairment�losses�by�segment�is�¥767�million�for�Technology�Solutions�and�¥146�million�for�

Device Solutions.

(3) Reversal of impairment losses
In�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�following�the�sale�of�business�assets�for�which�impairment�losses�had�been�recog-

nized�in�the�previous�fiscal�year,�the�carrying�amounts�were�reversed�to�the�recoverable�amount�for�the�assets.�The�

Group�recorded�reversals�of�impairment�losses�of�¥57�million�for�buildings,�and�¥340�million�for�land.�These�reversals�of�

impairment�losses�are�included�in�other�income�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�profit�or�loss.�In�segment�information,�

they are included in Technology Solutions.

(4) Goodwill impairment test
Fujitsu Technology Solutions (Holding) B.V. (FTS) recognizes goodwill that consists primarily of the goodwill related to 

the product support business acquired from Siemens Business Services GmbH in April 2006.

The target business region of FTS is Europe. Because the Group has adopted a business management structure 

based�on�country�and�region,�it�allocates�goodwill�to�CGUs�in�six�countries�or�regions.�The�six�CGUs�include�Central�

Europe,�comprising�Germany,�Switzerland�and�Austria,�along�with�five�units�that�include�the�Netherlands,�Belgium�and�

Luxembourg,�France,�Spain�and�Portugal,�and�Poland�(the�“Other�Countries�and�Regions”).
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Important goodwill allotted to each CGU was assigned to Central Europe.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

FTS
Central Europe ¥12,468 ¥13,554
Other Countries and Regions 3,454 3,522

An impairment loss on goodwill is recognized when the recoverable amount of the CGU is below its carrying 

amount. The recoverable amount is measured based on the value in use.

The�value�in�use�relating�to�the�goodwill�from�Central�Europe,�which�was�important�in�the�year�ended�March�31,�

2023,�was�calculated�by�discounting�projected�cash�flows�based�on�a�three-year�medium-term�management�plan�and�

growth rate for subsequent periods incorporating future uncertainties to the present value. The recoverable amount for 

the�year�ended�March�31,�2023,�was�well�above�the�carrying�amount�of�the�CGU.�The�medium-term�management�plan�is�

prepared�to�reflect�the�management’s�judgments�for�future�forecasts�and�past�data,�using�internal�and�external�data.

The�growth�rate�is�determined�by�considering�the�long-term�average�growth�rate�of�the�market�in�each�region�to�

which�the�CGU�belongs.�The�growth�rate�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023�was�0.5%.�The�discount�rate�is�

calculated�based�on�a�pre-tax�weighted�average�capital�cost�of�the�CGU.�The�discount�rates�before�taxes,�which�were�

used�for�the�impairment�tests�of�Central�Europe�in�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�were�8.0%�and�11.0%,�

respectively.

As far as the growth rate and the discount rate used in calculating the recoverable amount change within a reason-

able�range,�the�recoverable�amount�is�well�above�the�carrying�amount�of�the�CGU,�and�the�likelihood�is�considered�

remote that a significant impairment loss shall be recognized.

28. Employee Expenses

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Salaries and bonuses ¥� 967,955 ¥� 980,129
Retirement benefit cost 58,505 52,382

Legal welfare expenses and others 242,460 185,524

Total ¥1,268,920 ¥1,218,035

Note:��Legal�welfare�expenses�and�others�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2022�include�a�portion�of�personnel�expenses�for�the�temporary�expansion�
of�the�“Self-Produce�Support�System,”�which�amounted�to�¥64,382�million.

29. Financial Income and Financial Expenses

Financial income

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Interest income ¥ 1,029 ¥ 2,703
Dividend income 2,551 3,334
Foreign�exchange�gains,�net 3,022 3,154

Others 4,873 5,896

Total ¥11,475 ¥15,087
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Financial expenses

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Interest expense ¥2,955 ¥3,958

Others 1,588 2,904

Total ¥4,543 ¥6,862

Interest�income�principally�arose�from�financial�assets�and�liabilities�measured�at�amortized�cost,�and�dividend�

income principally arose from financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.Interest 

expense�principally�arose�from�financial�liabilities measured�at�amortized�cost�and�lease�liabilities .Interest�expense�on�

lease�liabilities�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023�was�¥1,761�million�and�¥1,837�million,�respectively.

30. Discontinued Operations

Not applicable.

31. Earnings per Share

Calculation bases for basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

(1) Basic earnings per share

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent (Millions of yen) ¥182,691 ¥  215,182
Weighted�average�number�of�ordinary�shares—basic�(Thousands�of�shares) 197,672 194,273
Basic earnings per share (Yen) ¥ 924.21 ¥1,107.63

(2) Diluted earnings per share

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent (Millions of yen) ¥182,691 ¥  215,182

Profit used to calculate diluted earnings per share (Millions of yen) ¥182,691 ¥  215,182

Weighted�average�number�of�ordinary�shares—basic�(Thousands�of�shares) 197,672 194,273

Adjustment by conditional issuable shares (Thousands of shares) 265 389

Weighted�average�number�of�ordinary�shares—diluted�(Thousands�of�shares) 197,937 194,662

Diluted earnings per share (Yen) ¥ 922.97 ¥1,105.41

32. Non-Cash Transactions

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Acquisitions�of�right-of-use�assets ¥62,182 ¥42,667
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33. Share-Based Payment

The�Company�has�introduced�a�performance-based�stock�compensation�plan�(hereinafter�“the�Plan”)�for�executive�

directors,�executive�officers�and�employees�that�are�at�certain�positions�or�higher�at�the�Company�and�certain�subsid-

iaries�(hereinafter�“Executives”).�The�Company�intends�to�grant�Executives�medium-�to�long-term�incentives�for�improv-

ing�corporate�value,�and�also�will�endeavor�to�further�management�from�a�shareholder’s�perspective.

The�Company�will�grant�to�Executives�a�base�number�of�shares�in�accordance�with�their�respective�rank,�perfor-

mance�evaluation�period�(three�years),�and�performance�targets�(revenue�and�operating�profit).�The�number�of�shares�is�

calculated by multiplying the base number of shares by a coefficient corresponding to the level of performance 

achievement�for�each�fiscal�year.�When�the�performance�evaluation�period�is�over,�the�total�number�of�shares�is�allo-

cated to each applicable person.

The�Plan�is�accounted�for�as�an�equity-settled�share-based�payment.�The�number�of�shares�granted�during�the�

period,�the�weighted�average�of�the�fair�value�at�grant�date�(weighted�average�fair�value),�and�the�expense�arising�from�

share-based�payment�included�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�profit�or�loss�are�as�follows.

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Number of shares granted during the period (Thousands of shares)*1 199 268
Weighted average fair value (Yen) ¥16,422 ¥18,207
Expense�arising�from�share-based�payment�(Millions�of�yen)*2 1,445 3,154
*1 �The�base�number�of�shares�is�presented.
*2 �Expense�arising�from�share-based�payment�is�included�in�selling,�general�and�administrative�expenses�in�the�consolidated�statement�of�profit�

or loss.

34. Financial Instruments

(1) Capital management
The�fundamental�principles�of�the�Group’s�capital�management�are�to�provide�a�stable�return�to�shareholders�while�a�

portion of retained earnings is used by the Company to strengthen its financial base and support new business devel-

opment�opportunities�that�will�result�in�improved�long-term�performance.

In�order�to�improve�profitability�and�efficiency�of�invested�capital�for�businesses,�the�Group�places�importance�on�oper-

ating profit margin and EPS (earnings per share) as management indicators.

(2) Risk management
The�Group�carries�out�its�financial�activities�in�accordance�with�the�“Fujitsu�Group�Treasury�Policy”�and�primarily�obtains�

funds�through�bank�borrowings�and�the�issuance�of�corporate�bonds�based�on�funding�requirements�of�its�business�

activities.�After�the�adequate�liquidity�for�its�business�activities�has�been�ensured,�the�Group�invests�temporary�excess�

funds�in�financial�assets�with�low�risk.�The�Group�utilizes�derivative�transactions�only�for�hedging�purposes�and�not�for�

speculative or trading purposes.

Trade�receivables�and�contract�assets�are�exposed�to�customer�credit�risk.�Additionally,�some�trade�receivables�

from�exports�of�products�are�denominated�in�foreign�currencies�and�exposed�to�exchange�rate�fluctuation�risk.�Other�

financial assets are composed primarily of the certificates of deposit held for fund management and the shares issued 

by customers or other parties for the purpose of maintaining and strengthening business relationships. Shares are 

exposed�to�market�price�fluctuation�risk�and�financial�risk�of�the�company�invested.

The Group also loans to business partners and other parties.

Trade payables and other payables are generally payable within one year. Some trade payables from imports of 

components�are�denominated�in�foreign�currencies�and�exposed�to�exchange�rate�fluctuation�risk.�Borrowings�and�

corporate�bonds�are�mainly�for�the�purpose�of�obtaining�working�capital�and�preparing�capital�expenditures.�Because�

some�of�these�have�floating�interest�rates,�they�are�exposed�to�interest�rate�fluctuation�risk.
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(a) Credit risk
The�Group�strives�to�mitigate�collection�risk�in�accordance�with�credit�management�standards�and�procedures�in�selling�

goods and services. A unit independent from the sales units assesses the credit standing of customers and manages 

collection dates and the balance outstanding for each customer to ensure smooth collection of trade receivables. 

Regarding�loan�receivables,�the�Group�periodically�assesses�a�debtor’s�financial�condition�and�reviews�the�terms�of�the�

loan if needed.

The�counterparties�to�derivative�transactions�are�selected�considering�their�credit�risk.

The�maximum�amount�of�credit�risks�at�March�31,�2023�equals�the�book�value�of�financial�assets�on�the�consolidated�

statement�of�financial�position�that�are�exposed�to�credit�risk.

Credit�risk�exposure�of�trade�accounts�receivables�is�as�follows.

(Millions of yen)

Overdue amounts

At March 31 Total
Within due 

date Total
Within 30 

days
31 to 60 

days 61 to 90 days
91�to�180�

days
Over�180�

days

2022 ¥874,923 ¥850,884 ¥24,039 ¥14,325 ¥3,980 ¥1,264 ¥1,542 ¥2,928
2023 924,872 890,693 34,179 21,285 5,665 1,761 2,094 3,374

The�balances�of�allowance�for�doubtful�accounts�corresponding�to�trade�accounts�receivables�at�March�31,�2022�

and�2023�are�¥3,498�million�and�¥3,125�million,�respectively.

Impairment�is�accounted�for�using�the�allowance�for��doubtful�accounts,�not�directly�reducing�the�carrying�amount�

of financial assets.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are presented below.

(Millions of yen)

Current assets
Non-current�

assets Total

Balance�at�April�1,�2021 ¥ 3,781 ¥ 1,136 ¥ 4,917
Additional provisions made during the year 1,822 640 2,462
Amounts used during the year (661) (10) (671)
Unused amounts reversed during the year (796) (650) (1,446)

Exchange differences on translation and others (648) (8) (656)

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 3,498 1,108 4,606
Additional provisions made during the year 1,326 559 1,885
Amounts used during the year (559) (219) (778)
Unused amounts reversed during the year (1,000) (654) (1,655)

Exchange differences on translation and others (140) (16) (156)

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥ 3,125 ¥� 778 ¥ 3,903
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(b) Liquidity risk
The Group prepares a cash flow projection and monitors its funding requirements. The Group also strives to diversify its 

sources�of�financing�in�order�to�reduce�liquidity�risk.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities is presented below.

The Group classifies financial liabilities that mature within one year as current liabilities.

(Millions of yen)

At March 31
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years Over 5 years

2022
Non-derivative�financial�
liabilities
Bonds ¥� 9,998 ¥� 10,000 ¥� 10,000 ¥� – ¥� – ¥� – ¥� – ¥� –
Borrowings 110,012 110,012 109,929 67 9 4 3 –
Lease liabilities 165,309 184,867 50,276 38,368 21,044 14,902 9,907 50,369

Derivative financial 
liabilities 2,831 2,831 2,831 – – – – –

2023
Non-derivative�financial�
liabilities
Borrowings ¥� 60,546 ¥� 60,546 ¥� 58,465 ¥� 1,865 ¥� 212 ¥� 3 ¥� – ¥� –
Lease liabilities 150,630 171,527 46,303 33,976 20,458 13,466 10,341 46,983

Derivative financial 
liabilities 1,409 1,409 1,409 – – – – –

(c) Market risk
The Group utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts in respect to trade receivables and trade payables denominated 

in�foreign�currencies�to�mitigate�the�exchange�rate�fluctuation�risk�that�is�monitored�by�each�currency�respectively,�

currency�swap�contracts�to�mitigate�the�foreign�currency�exchange�rate�fluctuation�risk�of�cash�flows�denominated�in�

foreign�currencies,�and�interest�swap�contracts�in�respect�to�borrowings�and�corporate�bonds�to�mitigate�interest�rate�

fluctuation�risk.

For�the�shares�issued�by�customers�or�other�parties,�the�Group�regularly�monitors�their�fair�values�and�financial�con-

ditions�of�the�issuers�and�reviews�its�investment�on�a�regular�basis,�taking�into�account�its�relationship�with�the�

counterparties.

The Group enters into derivative transactions based on regulations established by the Company. Based on policies 

approved�by�the�Chief�Financial�Officer�(CFO),�the�finance�division�undertakes�particular�transactions,�records�them,�

and�confirms�the�balance�of�transactions�with�counterparties.In�addition,�the�finance�division�reports�on�the�content�of�

the�transactions�undertaken�and�changes�in�the�transaction�balance�to�the�CFO�and�the�head�of�the�accounting�

department.

(i) Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The�following�table�represents�the�Group’s�sensitivity�analysis�for�foreign�currency�risk�exposures.�The�analysis�shows�the�

hypothetical impact on profit before income taxes in the consolidated statement of profit or loss that would result from 

a�1%�appreciation�of�the�Japanese�yen�against�the�US�dollar�for�the�recurring�positions�at�the�end�of�the�year.�The�analy-

sis�calculated�the�impact�on�US�dollar�denominated�assets�and�liabilities,�and�is�based�on�the�assumption�that�other�

factors such as the outstanding balance and interest rates are held constant.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Impact on profit before income taxes ¥(402) ¥(314)
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(ii) Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The�following�table�represents�the�hypothetical�impact�on�the�Group’s�profit�before�income�taxes�that�is�attributable�to�

financial�instruments�which�are�exposed�to�the�risk�of�fluctuations�in�interest�rates�in�the�case�where�the�interest�rate�

increases�by�0.1%.�The�analysis�is�based�on�the�assumption�that�all�other�variable�factors,�specifically�foreign�currency�

rates,�are�held�constant.

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Impact on profit before income taxes ¥43 ¥40

(3) Hedge accounting
(a) Objective for derivative transactions
Derivative transactions consist primarily of exchange forward contracts for the purpose of hedging exchange rate fluc-

tuation�risk�related�to�trade�receivables�and�trade�liabilities,�currency�swap�contracts�for�the�purpose�of�hedging�

exchange�rate�fluctuation�risk�related�to�foreign�currency-denominated�cash�flow,�and�interest�swap�contracts�for�the�

purpose�of�hedging�interest�rate�fluctuation�risk�related�to�borrowings�and�corporate�bonds.

(b) Policies for derivative transactions
The Group utilizes derivative transactions only for hedging purposes and not for speculative or trading purposes. Deriv-

ative�transactions�that�increase�market�risk�cannot�be�entered�into.�In�addition,�credit�risks�are�considered�in�choosing�a�

counterparty.�Therefore,�the�Group�recognizes�that�market�risk�and�credit�risk�for�derivative�transactions�are�de�minimis.

(c) Risk management structure for derivative transactions
The Group enters into derivative transactions based on regulations established by the Company. Based on policies 

approved�by�the�Chief�Financial�Officer�(CFO),�the�finance�division�undertakes�particular�transactions,�records�them,�

and�confirms�the�balance�of�transactions�with�counterparties.�In�addition,�the�finance�division�reports�on�the�content�of�

the�transactions�undertaken�and�changes�in�the�transaction�balance�to�the�CFO�and�the�head�of�the�accounting�

department.

(d) Accounting treatment for derivative transactions
Derivatives�are�measured�at�fair�value�and�any�changes�in�the�fair�value�are�recognized�in�profit�or�loss.�However,�

regarding�cash�flow�hedges,�if�they�satisfy�the�required�conditions�for�hedge�accounting,�a�gain�or�loss�arising�from�any�

changes in the fair value of hedging instruments is deferred until the gain or loss arising from the hedged item is recog-

nized in profit or loss.

(e) The fair value of derivative transactions for which hedge accounting is applied
Cash flow hedges

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Currency: Forward foreign exchange transaction

Sell (US dollar) ¥(2,158) ¥(1,999)

Total ¥(2,158) ¥(1,999)

(4) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•��Level�1�inputs�are�quoted�prices�(unadjusted)�in�active�markets�for�identical�assets�or�liabilities.

•��Level�2�inputs�are�inputs�other�than�quoted�prices�included�within�level�1�that�are�observable�for�assets�or�liabilities,�

either directly or indirectly.

•  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.
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(a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(i) Measurement method of fair value for financial assets and liabilities

Derivatives

The fair value is based on the prices provided by financial institutions and other appropriate valuation techniques based 

on information available.

Equity securities

If�a�quoted�price�in�an�active�market�is�available,�the�fair�value�is�based�on�the�quoted�price.�If�a�quoted�price�in�an�

active�market�is�not�available,�the�fair�value�is�estimated�based�on�discounted�future�cash�flow�or�other�appropriate�

valuation method.

Bonds (financial assets)

If�a�quoted�price�in�an�active�market�is�available,�the�fair�value�is�based�on�the�quoted�price.�If�a�quoted�price�in�an�

active�market�is�not�available,�the�fair�value�is�estimated�by�an�appropriate�valuation�method�based�on�prices�provided�

by transacting financial institutions.

(ii) Fair value hierarchy and comparison between carrying amount and fair value

(Millions of yen)

Fair value

At March 31 Carrying amount Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2022
Assets

Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

 Derivatives ¥� 412 ¥� 412 ¥� – ¥� 412 ¥� –
 Bonds 16,001 16,001 – – 16,001
 Equity�securities 13,324 13,324 2,548 – 10,776
Financial assets measured at fair 
value through other 
 comprehensive income

 Equity�securities 134,915 134,915 74,352 16 60,547

Total ¥164,651 ¥164,651 ¥76,900 ¥� 428 ¥87,324

Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

Derivatives ¥� 2,831 ¥� 2,831 ¥� – ¥2,831 ¥� –

Total ¥� 2,831 ¥� 2,831 ¥� – ¥2,831 ¥� –

2023
Assets

Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

 Derivatives ¥� 654 ¥� 654 ¥� – ¥� 654 ¥� –
 Bonds 13,203 13,203 – – 13,203
 Equity�securities 12,141 12,141 2,141 – 10,001
Financial assets measured at fair 
value through other 
 comprehensive income

 Equity�securities 167,573 167,573 103,893 – 63,680

Total ¥193,571 ¥193,571 ¥106,033 ¥� 654 ¥86,884

Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

 Derivatives ¥� 1,409 ¥� 1,409 ¥� – ¥1,409 ¥� –

Total ¥� 1,409 ¥� 1,409 ¥� – ¥1,409 ¥� –
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(iii)  Reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance of financial assets measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs

(Millions of yen)

Carrying amount

Balance�at�April�1,�2021 ¥ 88,348

Subtotal (Gains and losses)
Profit or loss 3,564
Other comprehensive income 1,482

Purchases 5,601
Sales (3,023)
Settlements (8,508)
Transfer from Level 3 (517)

Others 376

Balance�at�March�31,�2022 ¥ 87,324

Subtotal (Gains and losses)
Profit or loss (348)
Other comprehensive income 2,289

Purchases 27,487
Sales (5,622)
Settlements (23,155)

Others (1,091)

Balance�at�March�31,�2023 ¥ 86,884

Gains and losses recognized in profit or loss are included in financial income or financial expenses in the consoli-

dated statement of profit or loss. Gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income are included in financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost
(i) Measurement method of fair value for financial assets and liabilities

Bonds (financial assets)

If�a�quoted�price�in�an�active�market�is�available,�the�fair�value�is�based�on�the�quoted�price.�If�a�quoted�price�in�an�

active�market�is�not�available,�the�fair�value�is�estimated�by�an�appropriate�valuation�method�based�on�prices�provided�

by transacting financial institutions.

Bonds (financial liabilities)

The�fair�value�of�bonds�that�have�a�market�price�is�based�on�the�market�price.�The�fair�value�of�bonds�for�which�there�is�

no�market�price�is�calculated�by�discounting�the�sum�of�future�principal�and�interest�payments�to�the�present�value�at�a�

rate�taking�into�account�the�remaining�term�and�the�credit�risk�of�bonds.

Long-term�borrowings�(non-current�liabilities)

The�fair�value�of�long-term�borrowings�is�calculated�by�discounting�the�sum�of�future�principal�and�interest�payments�to�

the present value at the rate expected for another loan with the same conditions at the end of the year.
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(ii) Fair value hierarchy and comparison between carrying amount and fair value

(Millions of yen)

Fair value

At March 31 Carrying amount Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2022

Assets
Financial assets measured at 
amortized cost

 Bonds ¥�5,217 ¥�5,222 ¥� – ¥� – ¥�5,222

Total ¥�5,217 ¥�5,222 ¥� – ¥� – ¥�5,222

Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost

Long-term�borrowings�
(Non-current) ¥� 83 ¥� 83 ¥� – ¥� 83 ¥� –

Total ¥� 83 ¥� 83 ¥� – ¥� 83 ¥� –

2023

Assets
Financial assets measured at 
amortized cost

 Bonds ¥�2,000 ¥1,992 ¥� – ¥� – ¥�1,992

Total ¥�2,000 ¥1,992 ¥� – ¥� – ¥�1,992

Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost

Long-term�borrowings�
(Non-current) 2,080 2,081 – 2,081 –

Total ¥�2,080 ¥�2,081 ¥� – ¥�2,081 ¥� –

The disclosure for the current portion of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost is omitted in this 

note because the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of its fair value.

“Cash�and�cash�equivalents,”�“Trade�receivables,”�and�“Other�receivables”�are�classified�as�financial�assets�measured�

at�amortized�cost,�which�are�included�within�current�assets.”Trade�payables”�and�“Other�payables”�are�classified�as�

financial�liabilities�measured�at�amortized�cost,�which�are�included�within�current�liabilities.

Financial�assets�measured�at�fair�value�and�financial�assets�measured�at�amortized�cost�mainly�comprise�“Other�

investments.”

35. Leases

The�Group’s�lease�transactions�primarily�comprise�lease�agreements�for�offices.

(1) Breakdown of carrying amount of right-of-use assets included in property, plant and equipment

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Land ¥  1,074 ¥  1,083
Buildings 124,756 112,271

Machinery�and�equipment,�tools,�fixtures�and�fittings 26,672 23,770

Total ¥152,502 ¥137,124

The�total�cost�for�acquisitions�of�right-of-use�assets�was�¥62,182�million�and�¥42,667�million�for�the�years�ended�

March�31,�2022�and�2023,�respectively.
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(2) Maturity analysis of lease liabilities

(Millions of yen)

At�March�31,�2022
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years Over 5 years

Lease liabilities ¥165,309 ¥184,867 ¥50,276 ¥38,368 ¥21,044 ¥14,902 ¥9,907 ¥50,369

(Millions of yen)

At�March�31,�2023
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years Over 5 years

Lease liabilities ¥150,630 ¥171,527 ¥46,303 ¥33,976 ¥20,458 ¥13,466 ¥10,341 ¥46,983

(3) Breakdown of lease-related expenses

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Depreciation�of�right-of-use�assets�included�in�property,�plant�and�equipment
Land ¥� 102 ¥� 100
Buildings 47,227 39,405

Machinery�and�equipment,�tools,�fixtures�and�fittings 13,397 11,780

Total ¥60,726 ¥51,285

Interest expense on leases ¥� 1,761 ¥� 1,837

(4) Cash outflows

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Total cash outflows from lease transactions ¥62,328 ¥58,566

(5) Leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is committed
The amounts not included in the measurement of lease liabilities comprised lease transactions for which use has not yet 

commenced�despite�lease�contracts�already�being�concluded,�and�totaled�¥736�million�and�¥1,052�million�at�March�31,�

2022�and�2023,�respectively.

36. Related Parties

(1) Related-party transactions
Year�ended�March�31,�2022

(Millions of yen)

Class of 
company Name Relationship with related parties Details of the transaction

Transaction 
amount Balance

Associate Fujitsu Client 
 Computing 
Limited

Consigned manufacturing of 
PCs included in system 
 business sold by the Group

Purchases and 
 consignment of PC 
manufacturing ¥196,095 ¥37,119

Year�ended�March�31,�2023

(Millions of yen)

Class of 
company Name Relationship with related parties Details of the transaction

Transaction 
amount Balance

Associate Fujitsu Client 
 Computing 
Limited

Consigned manufacturing of 
PCs included in system 
 business sold by the Group

Purchases and 
 consignment of PC 
manufacturing ¥207,499 ¥40,381

Note:�Transactions�listed�above�generally�have�terms�of�business�based�on�arm’s�length.
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(2) Key management personnel compensation

(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2022 2023

Base compensation ¥426 ¥439
Bonuses 100 124

Performance-based�stock�compensation 104 277

Total ¥630 ¥840

37. Collateral

(1) Collateral assets

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 72 ¥  –

Intangible assets 592 545

Total ¥664 ¥545

(2) Secured debts

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Other obligations ¥� 17 ¥� –

Provision 1,825 1,758

Total ¥1,842 ¥1,758

38. Commitments

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Purchase�agreements�for�property,�plant�and�equipment�and�intangible�assets ¥58,856 ¥121,056

39. Contingencies

(Millions of yen)

At March 31 2022 2023

Contingent liabilities for guarantee contracts ¥23 ¥8
(Guaranteed debts)

Employees’�housing�loans 23 8
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40. Events after the Reporting Period

1. Acquisition of GK Software SE
The�Company�resolved�at�a�Board�of�Directors�meeting�held�on�February�28,�2023,�to�conduct�a�public�takeover�offer�

(hereinafter�the�“Public�Takeover�Offer”)�of�GK�Software�SE�(hereinafter�“GK�Software”)�via�the�Company’s�consolidated�

subsidiary�Fujitsu�ND�Solutions�AG�(hereinafter�“ND�Solutions”).�As�a�result�of�conducting�the�Public�Takeover�Offer�

based�on�this�resolution,�ND�Solutions�acquired�68.03%�of�the�issued�common�stock�of�GK�Software�on�May�16,�2023.

(1) Overview of the Public Takeover Offer
(a) Name and business description of the acquired company

• �Name�of�the�acquired�company:� GK�software�SE

• �Location�of�the�acquired�company:� Germany

• �Business�description:� �Development,�manufacture,�and�sales�of�cloud�solutions�for�the�retail�

industry

(b) Acquisition period
From�March�23,�2023,�to�May�10,�2023

(German�local�time:�from�March�23,�2023,�to�May�9,�2023)

(c) Acquisition date
May�16,�2023�(German�local�time:�May�16,�2023)

(d) Main reason for the acquisition
� �With�the�acquisition�of�GK�Software,�the�Company�will�acquire�the�cloud�solutions�of�GK�Software,�whose�strengths�

are�the�global�retail�industry,�which�is�complementary�to�Fujitsu’s�products�and�services�centered�on�Japan,�thereby�

expanding�Fujitsu’s�product�portfolio�and�enabling�the�provision�of�even�more�powerful�and�comprehensive�solu-

tions�to�rapidly�growing�markets.

(e) Method of acquisition of control over the acquired company
� �The�acquisition�of�GK�Software�was�conducted�in�accordance�with�conditions�set�forth�in�the�public�acquisition�

disclosure document approved by the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority of Germany.

(2) Consideration for the acquisition and breakdown

(Millions of yen)

Item Amount

Cash and cash equivalents ¥44,082 (€294 million)

Total ¥44,082 (€294 million)

The�Company�recorded�the�entire�amount�of�expenses�related�to�the�acquisition�of�¥288�million�in�selling,�general�

and administrative expenses.

In�addition,�in�order�to�acquire�the�shares�of�GK�Software,�the�Company�increased�the�capital�of�ND�Solutions�by�

¥50,005�million�(€340�million)�on�May�12,�2023.

(3) Fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, and goodwill
The�fair�value�of�the�acquired�assets�and�assumed�liabilities�on�the�acquisition�date�are�currently�being�calculated,�and�

have not been finalized at this point.
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2. Purchase of treasury shares
At�the�Board�of�Directors’�meeting�held�on�April�27,�2023,�the�Company�resolved�matters�related�to�the�purchase�of�

treasury�shares�pursuant�to�the�provisions�of�Article�459,�Paragraph�(1)�of�the�Companies�Act.

(1) Reason for purchase of treasury shares
To enhance shareholder returns and promote capital efficiency by comprehensively considering the future business 

environment�and�other�factors�based�on�improved�financial�conditions�for�the�years�ended�March�31,�2022�and�2023,�

such as increased profits and cash flows

(2) Details concerning the purchase
• �Type�of�shares�to�be�purchased:� Common�stock�of�the�Company

• �Total�number�of�shares�to�be�purchased:� �Up�to�12,000,000�shares 

(percentage of the total number of issued shares 

[excluding�treasury�shares]:�6.37%)

• �Aggregate�purchase�value:� Up�to�¥150,000�million

• �Purchase�period:� From�May�1,�2023�to�March�29,�2024

• �Purchase�method:� �Purchase�by�means�of�market�trades�on�the�Tokyo�Stock�Exchange 

(including�purchases�by�means�of�market�trades�based�on�a�discretionary�

investment contract with securities firms and through share repurchases 

outside�of�trading�hours�[ToSTNeT-3])
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OTHER INFORMATION
Quarterly�information�(accumulated�total)�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023

(Millions of yen)

Q1 First Half Nine Months Full-Year

Revenue ¥818,862 ¥1,705,311 ¥2,636,735 ¥3,713,767
Profit before income taxes 38,339 130,650 204,633 371,876
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 17,283 71,981 112,749 215,182

Basic earnings per share (Yen) 87.95 366.23 575.46 1,107.63

Quarterly�information�for�the�year�ended�March�31,�2023

(Yen)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Basic earnings per share ¥87.95 ¥278.25 ¥209.39 ¥541.10
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
Fujitsu Limited

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fujitsu Limited
and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at March 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2023,
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Japan, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have considered and addressed areas of higher assessed risk of material misstatement,
or significant risks identified, including those communicated as key audit matters in our
independent auditor’s report of the prior period, throughout the audit. We have also
communicated those matters in sufficient detail with the Corporate Auditor and the Board
of Corporate Auditors.

As a result, we determined the following areas to be key audit matters in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
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Revenue Recognition Based on Progress toward Complete Fulfillment of Performance Obligations
under Service Contracts Containing Obligations to Provide Deliverables and Provision for Loss on
Orders Received (Estimates of Total Project Costs)

Description of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response

As described in Notes 4 and 25 (2) to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue arising from service
contracts such as system integration services,
containing performance obligations to provide the
delivery of services are recognized based on the
progress toward completion when the outcome of
the contract can be reliably estimated. Revenue is
measured based on the total estimated project
revenues and the progress toward completion,
calculated based on costs incurred to date as
percentage of total estimated project costs.
As described in Note 23, a provision for loss on
orders received is recognized if it is probable that
the total estimated project costs will exceed the
total estimated project revenues. The Group
recorded a provision for loss on orders received in
the amount of ¥12,728 million, which represents
0.3% of total assets as of March 31, 2023.
Total estimated project costs are revised throughout
the project period, and as a result, the progress
toward completion may be affected.
As estimates of total project costs in the calculation
of progress toward completion involve uncertainties
and require significant management judgment
because each service contract is unique in terms of
specifications and service period, we determined
this to be a key audit matter.

We performed the following audit procedures,
among others, to assess revenue recognition of
contracts containing performance obligations to
provide the delivery of services by reference to the
progress toward completion and provisions for
loss on orders received:

- We evaluated the effectiveness of internal
controls over the estimation process of estimated
project costs and calculation of the progress
toward completion for projects in order to
evaluate the effectiveness of its design and the
operation of the corresponding process.

- We reviewed the terms and conditions of contracts,
assessed the consistency between the total
project costs and relevant project plans and
remeasured the progress toward completion for
samples of selected contracts based on
materiality in order to assess the reasonableness
of estimated project costs and calculation of the
progress toward completion.

- We assessed the feasibility of the project
forecasts approved by management by evaluating
the final outcome of projects completed in prior
periods and by discussing with management
about the latest progress of ongoing projects in
order to assess the reasonableness of uncertainty
in the estimate of total project costs being
considered and incorporated in management’s
assessment.

- We assessed the completeness of the total
estimated costs and the provision for losses on
orders received if it is probable that total
estimated project costs exceed total estimated
project revenue by discussing them with the
quality assurance department of the Group.

- With the assistance of our data analytics
specialists, we performed trend analyses and
correlation analyses of the progress toward
completion of the project. In addition, in order
to identify any deviation with regard to the
progress of ongoing projects, we monitored the
progress toward completion for ongoing projects
by comparing the number of working days to
date since the commencement date with the
trends from projects completed in prior periods.
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Other Information

The other information comprises the information included in the Fujitsu Group Integrated
Report 2023 Financial Section that contains audited consolidated financial statements but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Management is responsible for preparation and disclosure of the other information. The
Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s reporting process of the other information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management, the Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate
Auditors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and disclosing, as required
by IFRSs, matters related to going concern.

The Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
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・ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

・ Consider internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for our risk assessments, while the purpose of the
audit of the consolidated financial statements is not expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

・ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

・ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

・ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation in accordance with IFRSs.

・ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate Auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate Auditors with a
statement that we have complied with the ethical requirements regarding independence
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Japan, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Corporate Auditor and the Board of Corporate
Auditors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public
Accountants Act of Japan.

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC
Tokyo, Japan

June 26, 2023

中 谷 喜 彦
Yoshihiko Nakatani
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

花 藤 則 保
Noriyasu Hanafuji
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

田 邉 朋 子
Tomoko Tanabe
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

山 口 学
Manabu Yamaguchi
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

82 FUJITSU GROUP INTEGRATED REPORT 2023



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
83FUJITSU GROUP INTEGRATED REPORT 2023



©2023 Fujitsu Limited

FUJITSU LIMITED
Shiodome�City�Center,�1-5-2�Higashi-Shimbashi,
Minato-ku,�Tokyo�105-7123,�Japan
Telephone:�+81-3-6252-2220

http://www.fujitsu.com/global/


